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Year ended 31 March EE=B=+—-HLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 -
“E-+% ZE-\% CZE-NF C"Z-FF C-BZ-F #
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ff
THT THT T T far W

Gross profit eS| 410,233 225,667 233,261 310,785 224,304

Profit/(loss) for the year ARRILERER
attributable to ordinary FEAREEE
equity holders of the Company ~ F38 /(5#) 6,150 (135,977) (145,782) (173,172) (20,322)

Non-current assets FRBEE 24,560 69,996 144,927 345,437 239,817

Current liabilities RBERE 1,042,785 1,080,169 1,857,757 1,274,658 1,573,312

Net assets BEZE 782,598 784,600 543,751 297,910 386,189



Lzoz 11oday |enuuy

d3LINI SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVva H3AATIS

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBEERBE

REVENUE

GROSS PROFIT

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

Wik

EH

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

PN/NEIR ¥l SRR EDN

FEAEFITE /(1R )

HK$ million
H T

2,500 2,322

2,000

1,705

1,500
1,500

1,000

938

3/2017 3/2018 3/2019 3/2020

Financial year B4 BU4F B2

HK$ million
A E T

600 27.4%
400

200

3/2021

Gross Profit Ratio
ESVIES

30%

20%

10%

3/2017

3/2018 3/2019

Financial year ff E{4F &

HK$ million
ER P

150

100

50
-173

3/2020

0%
3/2021

-20

-50
-100

=

3/2019

-150

-200

3/2017 3/2018 3/2020

Financial year Bf EU4F B

3/2021



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CORPORATE INFORMATION
REEM

HITES

ul
T- 55 R

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) R FST & (EERITHAEER)
Ms. Chen Xiaoxu (Chief Financial Officer) PREEB R+ (B HAEE)

REEBEBZRER QA

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FEHITES
Mr. Wu lJie Si RER s
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BAFNTES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan 3 18 5 A

Mr. Ma Lishan ERvALIE e

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward FEmEBL
COMPANY SECRETARY RNEWE

Mr. Wong Hing Keung mER LA
AUDIT COMMITTEE BEREES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman) IR (EE)
Mr. Ma Lishan VAl e

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward FEmEBL
COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE EREES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman) Bt s S A ()
Mr. Ma Lishan RvAlIE e

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward FEmEL

Ms. Chen Xiaoxu PREE B+
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman) IR (/)
Mr. Ma Lishan VAl e

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward FEEEBL

Mr. Liang Guoxing RE W5

Ms. Chen Xiaoxu PR B2 B 2 -
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEES
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Chairman) B A (EE)
Mr. Ma Lishan AVATIE

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward FEBEBL

Mr. Liang Guoxing



1Z0Z 310day |enuuy

Qd3LINI SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVva H3AATIS

CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Mr. Wong Hing Keung
Ms. Chen Xiaoxu
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42nd Floor, Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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P.O. Box 2681
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Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
25th Floor

One Hennessy

1 Hennessy Road

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PEOPLE’S

REPUBLIC OF CHINA (THE “PRC")
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CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A

Block 3, Building D

P.O. Box 1586

Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Minsheng Banking Corporation Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch

China CITIC Bank International Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Limited

STOCK CODE
886

WEBSITE OF THE COMPANY

www.silverbasegroup.com

(Information on the website does not form part of this

annual report)
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(P8 CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the ”"Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”), | hereby present the audited annual results of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the "Financial

Year").

In 2020, the globe was engaged in a once-in-a-century public
health battle. Amid the rapid spreading of the pandemic
around the world, the governments implemented lockdown
measures, business suspension, work-from-home arrangements
and other precautionary and social distancing measures in
varying magnitudes, resulting in a significant decline in global
economic activity, in particular, under which consumption
and service sectors have been severely disrupted. China’s
liguor industry also experienced such daunting challenge. The
major consumption scenarios for baijiu products have been

affected under social distancing restrictions, which induced

BARIRR -

AANERKRBEEEZERBRAR (TAR
ADREMBEAR ((AKEDEFE(E
Fe(EFE]) ABMEEAQNFE
ET-FZA=t-HLEFE (PR
FREDzEEREFRE -

—_

—F=- EHRBLE-HBEFBORQ
HEEER REARERIZ2HER - &
BRI R E OISR ERE - BEET -
BERTEEEEMRETZIBREREE - 8
HERQERBHAERTRE HEMREE
LEZBNER > FEABETRCREERY
BRIEMER - HRNABTZRBS R
REEBEMRS] - HEETERNEEEME
ERBEKEHRE S RRMET KK
REINSRERENBELESRZIERX
BRENMTE METIIELE  SHR



knock-on effect on the output and sales channels across the
industry, resulting in immense impacts on the capital flow
of baijiu companies with its products lacking brand identity
or below high quality standard, hence industry reshuffle
and concentration were accelerated and intensified. In the
meantime, structural adjustments were triggered across the
industry due to the pandemic, with consumption channels
shifting from “offline” to “online + offline” interaction;
consumption concepts becoming “quality-driven” rather than
“price-conscious”; and “customisation” has replaced “mass
production” as the central theme for consumer behaviour.

In response to the pandemic, the governments implemented
various precautionary measures which have given rise to the
new normal, such as work-from-home, online learning, online
entertainment and online consumption. Besides, e-commerce
and new consumption patterns have facilitated the development
of electronic payment technology and accelerated the
digitisation of businesses and society. With the nearly complete
suspension of traditional consumption channels, the number of
consumers spending through digital platforms and online has
increased rapidly, under which these platforms have eventually
became a new consumption scenario for the liquor industry.
During the Financial Year, the management of Silver Base
strengthened the competitiveness of its existing e-commerce
business in response to changes in the overall economy and
market demand. We combined “WEjiu”, a platform featuring
social media sharing functions and mobile terminals, with “Wine
Kingdom”, our traditional B2B sales platform, so as to bring
further convenience and expeditiousness to our customers in

respect of their consumption experience.

In terms of consumption concepts, we believe that quality
is the foundation for the long-term development of a liquor
company, as well as the most important determinant of its
competitiveness. Whether the industry is booming or in the
doldrums, it is essential to focus on the quality control of
our liquor products, as only by gaining consumer recognition
can our brands grow. In particular, following the COVID-19
pandemic, and with consumers becoming more sophisticated in
their tasting and increasingly health-conscious, product quality
would become as important as pricing in respect of rational

consumption, as well as a key factor in business development.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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With the rapid development of society and the various changes
in the consumer market, consumer behaviour has started to
develop and move towards customisation. A large number
of consumers have become more discerning with the quality
of life and consumer tastes, instead of uncritically follow the
trends. A unique design liquor box or an exquisite liquor flavour
could convey a distinctive informational value, which is of great

interest to the consumers.

As a national liquor distributor serving China’s liquor industry
for over two decades, Silver Base would adjust its existing sales
channels and product prices as appropriate in response to
various changes in the market and uphold stringent selection of
high-quality products. Battling the storm brought about by the
pandemic last year, we have redoubled our efforts in corporate
management, tightened our control over costs and responded
to the sudden market challenges with prudent planning. In
terms of marketing operations, from shopping to service
and from production to consumption, various innovations in
the e-commerce sector during the year have highlighted the
application and development trends of information technology.
We also hope to enhance our sales results through flexible sales
channels and customised services. In the coming future, we look
forward to joining hands with major liquor companies to explore
the sales market and promote the international development of

Chinese liquor culture.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere thanks
to the shareholders of the Company, business partners and
customers for their long-standing support. We look forward
to repaying the trust that you have placed in us with a greater
performance. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to the Directors, management
team and all the employees for their efforts and hard work for

the Group’s business development.

Liang Guoxing
Chairman
28 June 2021

e FRREECBE REEEE
ETEEEERERE MEEBRER
mE - HBRIK —1I§ﬁimTI—JE’J B
B AREERRE - HEEEE—EE—
m_MEMERE - Etﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%@itﬁ% °

REMESREHEBEEBB20FMN BT

BBEHE SRETS EMSBREE
FERNARREHERENERER

WERkESmEER HAHEZEEFREE
’%WKEI’\J%% CRMECEER EMES
BERAR - WA EIEAR IR Y
Eﬁﬁﬂﬁ?&iﬁ’]ﬁt@z ETSEESE
WEMERE  REEIEE  SFEX
FREHSBERRE T EAN R ER R
ERBY - HMNFSLRBEEZENE

EREMEECHIRERRESE D - N
RITSHERE - RETTHE AR KRR X

RNBETCHEESIFRINEZHERE
PEE LB ER

RiE - AANERARRBRRE  EBBHER
EERMNAKGE THOXRREZHOH
B RMEMEUARERNRER B SN -
VREREFSHAARNEEXBEHREM T
SHNFEPHTIENAELES  EEENR
BETEARLEREH -

E
RE R

— = —

=

—FRXAZ+NH



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview
For the year ended 31 March 2021 (the

Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$938.1

“Financial Year"”), the

million (2020: approximately HK$1,631.0 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 42.5% as compared with last year.
Excluding the provision for inventories, during the Financial
Year, the Group's gross profit was approximately HK$228.1
million (2020: approximately HK$329.0 million). The gross
profit margin before provision for inventories was approximately
24.3% (2020:
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company was
approximately HK$20.3 million (2020: approximately HK$173.2

approximately 20.2%), while the loss

million). Basic loss per share was approximately HK0.90 cents
(2020: approximately HK7.66 cents).

During the Financial Year, the revenue generated from the
PRC market and the international market accounted for
approximately 75.7% (2020: approximately 78.9%) and
approximately 24.3% (2020: approximately 21.1%) of the

Group’s total revenue, respectively.

Baijiu Business

Since January 2020, the entire world fell into doldrums due
to the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, and supply chain
and industry chain were severely disrupted by the sluggish
market demand. During the Financial Year, the Group’s
revenue and profit suffered declines, which were mainly due
to the restrictions under the stringent precautionary measures.
The major consumption scenarios for baijiu products, namely
business meetings, banquets and family gatherings, together
with the major sales venues of baijiu products, namely
restaurants, supermarkets and tobacco and liquor stores, were
subject to various controls, our baijiu sales business was thus
seriously affected. However, with the pandemic has been
effectively brought under control in the PRC in the second
quarter, the major consumption venues for baijiu products have
gradually re-opened, leading to rebound in market demand.
The intrinsic value of liquor enterprises remains pristine in times

of the pandemic, while the leading liquor enterprises have

BEEEN®R DN
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’I\F/I'ANAGEMEIEIT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWN DN

maintained their growth momentum beginning from the first
quarter, and the profit declines experienced by the second high-
end, mid-end and general liquor enterprises have substantially
narrowed. In the third quarter, the satisfying sales performance
“Mid-Autumn & National Day” double
festivals foretold a recovery in the upcoming peak season.

of baijiu during the

In respect of sales channels, traditional offline retail stores
have accelerated the development of online sales channels
to adapt to the pandemic-related shift from offline to online
consumption. New retail platforms and home-delivery services
have emerged to complement each other through online and
offline multichannel marketing approaches, thus realising the
transformation and upgrade of consumption. On the other
hand, online channels have become a key information source
for baijiu consumers, with rich content, high interactivity and
speed and convenience acting as major consumption stimulus.
In the meantime, the number of consumers sharing their
experiences and product reviews through social media platforms
has been ever increasing, which has turned e-commerce into a
for the channels and

“price indicator” and “quality indicator”

terminals of the liquor market.

in the

five years from 2015 to 2019, the number of liquor enterprises

According to the China Alcoholic Drinks Association,

above designated size decreased by 427, while the production
and sales volume decreased by 16,863,000 kilolitres. In the
meantime, the five-year cumulative increase in revenue per unit
of product amounted to 31.3%", while the cumulative increase
in profit amounted to 72.6%7”, and the increase in profit per
unit of product reached as high as 132.0%". The above figures
indicate a clear trend of increasing market concentration. In
particular, the profitability of the leading enterprises continues
to improve, and as a result of consumption upgrade, consumers
have become more discerning about the quality of liquors and

began to pursue healthy and rational consumption.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS Rk

E-commerce Business

The PRC’s mobile e-commerce market in 2020 was expected
to exceed RMB8 trillion in transaction volume, representing
a growth of 19.7%* compared to 2019. Mobile and desktop
shoppers accounted for 69.3%* and 25.6%* of the total
respectively. Mobile terminal has been a major sales channel
for the development of e-commerce platforms, and benefiting
from the use of hugely popular marketing tools in recent years,
such as live streaming and video clips, the scale of mobile

e-commerce transactions has continued to grow.

Banqueting, gathering and gifting, which could be
characterised by a high degree of social interaction, are
the major consumption scenarios for Chinese baijiu. In an
era revolutionised by the Internet and social media, online
communities on WeChat, Weibo, brands’ own official websites
or APPs facilitate consumer empowerment by providing product
information and platform for sharing reviews and conducting
transactions. Silver Base has capitalised on this market
opportunity and established a more integrated online and
offline sales network through combining “WEjiu”, a platform
featuring mobile terminals and robust social functions, with
“Wine Kingdom”, our existing traditional B2B platform. In April
last year, the Group restructured the “WEjiu" platform from a
technical perspective, by which we enhanced the function of
product distribution, and fully optimised the distribution system
by focusing on B2B and complemented by B2C. Leveraging
video clips and live streaming for promotion, together with the
social media sharing functions, more social interactive attributes
are incorporated to enhance customers’ stickiness to both the

products and the platform.

+ https://www.iimedia.cn/c1061/75244 .html

*  https://finance.sina.com.cn/tech/2020-11-24/doc-iiznctke3057851.shtml
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(] MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEESN®WRIM

Wine and Other Liquor Business

The PRC market is currently one of the fastest-growing
wine and spirits markets in the world. Although most of the
restaurants and offline retail outlets in the PRC have suspended
their operations due to the COVID-19 pandemic, neither
banquet nor gathering is the major consumption scenario for
wine and spirits, and thus there is no significant decline in
consumer drinking frequency. The Group expects the wine and
spirits market in the PRC to maintain a steady development,
and the management will closely monitor the development and
changes in the market and prepare and make appropriate plans
and adjustments accordingly.

Outlook and Future Development

The Group considers that although the pandemic has affected
the results of certain liquor enterprises and distributors in
2020, consumers have now become more accustomed to online
shopping and the pandemic has in a sense become a catalyst for
the PRC’s liquor industry to embrace a new retailing landscape

featuring e-commerce, customisation and quality.

As a national baijiu distributor in the PRC, it is of vital
importance for us to fully capitalise on the industry trends,
closely monitor changes in consumer demand, and make
changes and adjustments whenever appropriate so as to
navigate the challenges in this highly competitive liquor
industry. In order to enhance its overall revenue, the Group will
continue its efforts to optimise online and offline sales channels
in the PRC and conduct in-depth integration of appropriate
marketing tools and management concepts. As for overseas
markets, Eastern European countries have been substantially
affected, the management will pay close attention to the

changes in the markets and make adjustments accordingly.

In respect of operational management, the Group will continue
to optimise its sales channels in line with market demand,
strengthen internal controls and adopt more prudent financial
management and cost control strategies in order to achieve

long-term sustainability of the Group.

BEARHMEERER

A PR R R IR — B R R
HEERIVATS - EHTIHAEET -
PSR B R AR T T B B E AR B
% EEEERNAEEHESRLTR
BE - RR AUOEREOKBEER
A TR o 7S5 78 2o L 9 L R U
THREERERE  TRERTIME
45 B R AL 1 HE #0380 38

%go

RE R KRR

AEERD  REBAE20206FE T 5
BECMEHEONKAER  BRERE
TRREANEE £ FPHEETHESE
MEBBNERE ARGFRTPEEXRER
ERt At PRENNTERR -

ERTEZEERBLER - HPHRERE
EEFEF BN REITRRE LT VAL
HIEETEBS  BUBEHEEENER
Bt UHEEBERRELRNEMAE - K
SERSEBES HELERNRKRLEETH
ERE AERMEABENEEFTAMER
B RTINS ERNEITIS T
- RBBERZRBEZERYHE €18
EETUETERMBE(CUMFLEEN

=4
fE e o

LEEETH  AKESHERRTS
FRMBARHERE - RAFINRAEE
5 - BRERE 2R A B 75 8 2 M AR A2 1) 5%
B UAERASEAIFENREERE -



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS [gE

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group generates its revenue primarily from sales of high-
end liquors. For the Financial Year, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately HK$938.1 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 42.5% compared to a total revenue
of HK$1,631.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. For
the Financial Year, approximately 75.7% of revenue was derived
from the PRC market (2020: approximately 78.9%).

The Group's revenue derived from the distribution of liquors
represented approximately 99.9% of the total revenue for
the Financial Year (2020: approximately 99.8%) while the
revenue derived from the distribution of cigarettes and others
represented approximately 0.1% of the total revenue for the
Financial Year (2020: approximately 0.2%).

The Group’s gross profit for the Financial Year was
approximately HK$224.3 million (2020: approximately HK$310.8
million). The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to the
decrease in sales volume during the Financial Year due to
the influence of COVID-19 pandemic. Excluding the factor
of provision for inventories, the Group’s gross profit for the
Financial Year was approximately HK$228.1 million (2020:
approximately HK$329.0 million), the gross profit ratio before
provision for inventories was approximately 24.3% (2020:
approximately 20.2%).

Other Income, Gains and Losses

Other income, gains and losses amounted to approximately
HK$206.8 million for the Financial Year (2020: approximately
HK$21.6 million). Such increase was mainly due to the increase
in changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) of approximately HK$194.1 million
(2020: approximately HK$17.2 million). The financial assets
at FVTPL represents the subscription of 5.56% of an unlisted
equity investment fund (”“Investment Fund”) with original
cost of approximately HK$26.3 million where the Investment
Fund has participated in a share placement exercise initiated
by Wuliangye Yibin Co., Ltd. The Investment Fund has a lock-
up period of 3 years from the commencement date of the
Investment Fund on 20 April 2018.
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BEEESN®WRIM

Selling and Distribution Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised of salaries
and welfare related to sales and marketing personnel,
advertising and promotional expenses, transportation
costs, leases related expenses, entertainment expenses and
miscellaneous expenses related to sales.

Selling and distribution expenses amounted to approximately
HK$176.0 million (2020: approximately HK$192.3 million)
accounting for approximately 18.8% (2020: approximately
11.8%) of the revenue of the Group for the Financial Year. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in salaries and wages
for sales personnel and entertainment expenses for business

purpose.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses mainly comprised of salaries and
welfare, lease of office expenses, professional fees and other

administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$83.2
million (2020: approximately HK$96.0 million) accounting
for approximately 8.9% (2020: approximately 5.9%) of the
revenue of the Group for the Financial Year. Such decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in salaries and wages and travelling

expenses for administrative personnel.

Loss From Impairment, Net

Loss recorded in this account amounted to approximately
HK$77.2 million (2020: approximately HK$104.2 million) for the
Financial Year. The change was mainly due to no further loss
from impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets was provided during the Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

Finance costs amounted to approximately HK$153.4 million
(2020:
approximately 16.4% (2020: approximately 6.7%) of the

approximately HK$110.0 million) representing
Group’s revenue for the Financial Year. The finance costs
include interest on interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
interest on bond payables and interest on lease liabilities. Such
increase was mainly due to the increase in the interest on bond
payables.

Income Tax

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax (“PRC EIT”) was made as the Group had available
tax losses brought forward from prior years to offset the
assessable profits generated for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate for
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions in

which the Group operates.

Income tax credit amounted to approximately HK$0.5 million
(2020: Nil) represented over-provision of PRC EIT in prior years
of approximately HK$4.5 million and reversal of temporary

differences of approximately HK$4.0 million.

Loss Attributable to Ordinary Equity Holders of the
Company

Taking into account of the aforementioned, the loss attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company for the Financial Year
amounted to approximately HK$20.3 million, as compared to a
loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$173.2 million in 2020.
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Dividends

The Company did not pay any interim dividend during the
Financial Year.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Financial Year.

Inventories
As at 31
approximately HK$185.7 million (2020: approximately HK$355.6
million). The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in

March 2021, the Group’s inventories was

purchase volume during the Financial Year as compared to last

year.

Other Investments

As at 31 March 2021, the unlisted investments in principal
unguaranteed funds (the “Principal Unguaranteed Funds”) were
placed with a bank in the PRC. The Principal Unguaranteed
Funds can be redeemed from time to time. The Principal
Unguaranteed Funds are unlisted investment funds which mainly
invested in bank deposit, bank debentures, standardised credit
assets and other investments in the PRC with high credit rating.
The Principal Unguaranteed Funds bear interest at floating
rate with expected return ranging from 2.59% to 3.59% per
annum during the Financial Year. The fair value of the Principal
Unguaranteed Funds is reported by a bank reference to the fair
value of the underlying instruments at the end of each reporting
period. The Principal Unguaranteed Fund were denominated in
RMB.

Trade and Bills Receivables

The Group normally allows a credit period of 3 months to 1
year to its customers except for certain major customers where
longer credit terms may be granted upon approval by the
management of the Group. The credit terms of bills receivables
are generally 6 months. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by the senior management of the Group.
Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The decrease in trade and bills receivables was mainly due to
the increase in the total loss allowance for expected credit loss

("ECL") of trade and bills receivables during the Financial Year.

All the Group’s distributors have been selected after careful
and serious consideration. They generally possess extensive
distribution networks, considerable financial strengths and
competitive market positions. After careful assessment of
the receivable balance’s recoverability by taking into account
of the current adverse operating environment under the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic, financial conditions of the
distributors and ageing of the balances, total loss allowance
for ECL in aggregate of approximately HK$317.0 million (2020:
approximately HK$229.2 million) had been made by the Group

as at 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the trade and bills receivables net of loss
allowance for ECL were approximately HK$16.9 million (2020:
approximately HK$93.4 million). Approximately 25.2% of the
net trade and bills receivables were aged within two months
as at 31 March 2021 (2020: approximately 13.6%). All bills
receivables were issued and accepted by banks.

The Group will continue to adopt stringent credit control policy
and will apply the following measures to manage and enhance

the recoverability of the Group’s trade and bills receivables:

(i) close and continuous communication and cooperation
between the distributors and our sales managers
in strengthening the sales channels and marketing
strategies of the Group, which enables clearance of their
accumulated inventories and settlements to the Group;

and

(i) actively pursue cash-transaction business such as
e-commerce platform, WeChat applet and TV shopping

and B2B business.
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Up to the date of this annual report, the Group’s subsequent
settlement of the trade and bills receivables was approximately
HK$11.3 million.

Financial Assets at FVTPL

The Investment Fund represents the subscription of 5.56%
of an investment fund with original cost of approximately
HK$26.3 million where the Investment Fund has participated
in a share placement exercise initiated by Wuliangye Yibin Co.,
Ltd. As at 31 March 2021, the fair value of the investment
represented approximately 14.0% (2020: approximately 6.1%)
of the total assets of the Group. An unrealised fair value gain
of approximately HK$194.1 million (2020: approximately
HK$17.2 million) was recognised during the Financial Year.
The Investment Fund has a lock-up period of 3 years from the

commencement date of the Investment Fund on 20 April 2018.

Subsequent to 31 March 2021, the Group filed an application to
a financial institution for the redemption of the financial assets
at FVTPL of approximately 50% of the Investment Fund.

Trade and Bills Payables

As at 31 March 2021, the trade and bills payables was
approximately HK$463.5 million (2020: approximately HK$3.8
million). Such significant increase was due to the presence of
new outstanding bills for purchase purpose during the Financial
Year.

Charges on Group's Assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had pledged deposits and
restricted bank balances as securities for interest-bearing bank
borrowings, bills payables and banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Details of charge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2021
and 2020 are set out in Note 21, 22 and 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &

Material Acquisitions, Disposals and Significant
Investment

Save as otherwise disclosed, there were neither significant
investments held as at 31 March 2021 nor material acquisitions

and disposals of subsidiaries during the Financial Year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$614.4 million (2020: approximately
HK$698.5 million), approximately 96.7% (2020: approximately
96.2%) of which was denominated in RMB, approximately 1.7%
(2020: approximately 1.4%) of which was denominated in HK$
and approximately 1.6% (2020: approximately 2.4%) of which
was denominated in other currencies. As at 31 March 2021, the
Group's net current assets were approximately HK$500.0 million
(2020: approximately HK$223.7 million).

Capital Structure of the Group

The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings under the
current liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$253.4 million (2020: approximately HK$84.3 million) which

were bank loans and other loan.

The Group’s bank loans under the current liabilities were
denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group’s other loan under the current liabilities was

denominated in RMB.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings are secured by the Group’s pledged deposits
of approximately RMB159.8 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$189.1 million) (2020: Nil) and were supported by corporate
guarantees executed by the Company, a director of the
Company, subsidiaries of the Company and a related company
of the Company.

No particular seasonality trend for the borrowing requirements

of the Group observed for the period under review.
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The Group's monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. Revenue derived
and operating expenses incurred by the Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC are mainly denominated in RMB. The Directors
consider that a reasonably possible annual change of 5% in the
exchange rate between HK$ and RMB would have no material
impact on the Group’s results and therefore hedging through

the use of derivative instruments is considered unnecessary.

The funding and treasury policies of the Group are centrally
managed and controlled by the senior management in Hong
Kong. The Group’s financing activities are managed centrally
by maintaining an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents
to finance the Group’s operations. The Group also ensures the
availability of the bank credit facilities to address any short term
funding requirements. The Group’s bank balances and cash are

placed with reputable financial institutions.

The Group monitors its capital using the gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. Net debt
includes trade and bills payables, other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities,
bond payables, amount due to a director and amount due to
a related company less bank balances and cash. Total capital
represents equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company. As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio was
approximately 70.4% (2020: approximately 61.5%).

Employment and Remuneration Policy

The Group had a total work force of 172 employees in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Poland as at 31 March 2021 (2020: 222
employees). The total salaries and related costs (including
Directors’ fee) amounted to approximately HK$94.1 million
for the Financial Year (2020: approximately HK$109.7 million).
The Group has implemented the remuneration policy, bonus
and share option scheme based on the achievements and
performance of employees. The Group has also participated
in the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong and
the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC. The
Group continues to provide training courses for its staff to
enable them to achieve self-improvement and to enhance their

skill and knowledge.
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“Plaintiff”) filed a claim to a District People’s Court in
the PRC (the “PRC District People’s Court”) against one
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC in relation to the
Group's obligation to buy back certain inventories from
the Plaintiff (the “Claim”). The Plaintiff demanded the
purchase consideration and related compensation from the
Group of approximately RMB20.1 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$23.8 million) in total.

According to a judgement dated 25 August 2015 issued
by the PRC District People’s Court, the Group was liable
to buy back certain inventories from the Plaintiff with
a total consideration of approximately RMB18.9 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$22.4 million). The
Group has filed an appeal for such judgement to the PRC
District People’s Court in September 2015. According to
a judgement dated 7 January 2016 issued by the PRC
District People’s Court, the appeal from the Group was
dismissed and the original judgement dated 25 August
2015 was sustained.

At the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has not bought back any
inventories from the Plaintiff. The Group has filed an
application for enforcement opposition dated 9 June 2020
to the PRC District People’s Court to close the case due
to the fact that the Plaintiff was found to have no more
assets in its books and therefore the Group was unable to
buy back any inventories from the Plaintiff.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
adequate provision in the sum of approximately RMB10.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$11.8 million) has
been made in the consolidated financial statements to
cover any potential liabilities arising from the Claim.

In March 2020, the Group’'s certain previous business
partners (the “Plaintiffs”) filed a claim against the Group
for compensation of profits arising from certain previous
business relationships in the sum of approximately
RMB25.3 million. As of the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the claim is still in
the early stage of legal proceedings. Based on the legal
opinions obtained by the directors of the Company and
in view of all the current facts and circumstances, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
outflow of economic benefits arising from the claim is not
probable.
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DIRECTOR PROFILES
EERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Liang Guoxing, aged 55, was appointed on 12 September
2007. He is the founder, chairman and chief executive officer
of the Group. Mr. Liang is also a member of the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee of the Company. He
is a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Liang is primarily responsible for the overall corporate strategies,
planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Liang has
24 years of experience in the sales and distribution of Chinese
liquor and cigarettes. Mr. Liang obtained Doctor of Business
Administration, honoris causa, from the Northern University in
U.S.. He obtained the 13th World Outstanding Chinese Award
co-organised by World Chinese Business Investment Foundation
and United World Chinese Association Limited in April 2013.
Mr. Liang is a standing committee member of the 11th Session
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Zhanjiang and a member of the 10th Session of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, Guangdong Province.
He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of

Directors.

Mr. Liang is the sole shareholder and a director of Keen Pearl

Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
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Ms. Chen Xiaoxu, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director and chief financial officer of the Company on
14 July 2017. She has been appointed as member of the
remuneration committee and member of the compliance
committee of the Company from 18 August 2017. She is an
authorised representative of the Company as required under
Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Ms. Chen joined
the Group in December 2009 and had served as the financial
manager and chief financial officer of Silver Base Trading and
Limited (BREEZSEE(RINE
fR27]), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and was

Development (Shenzhen) Co.,

then responsible for, among others, financial accounting, risk
management and internal control. Ms. Chen is currently a
graduate student of the Nankai University. She graduated from
the Changchun Taxation College in 2000 and qualified as a

Certified Public Accountant in China in 2004.

Prior to joining the Company, she had worked for accounting
firms, accounting consulting firms and a foreign-invested resort
in Vietnam and was then responsible for auditing and finance
related works and has accumulated 21 years of experience in

finance related works.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wu lJie Si, aged 69, was appointed on 6 March 2008. Mr.
Wu has over 20 years of experience in finance and corporate
management in the PRC. From 1984 to 1995, Mr. Wu served
in numerous positions in the Industrial and Commercial Bank
of China (“ICBC"), including the president of ICBC Shenzhen
Branch. From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Wu served as the deputy
mayor of the Shenzhen Municipal Government. From 1998
to 2000, Mr. Wu served as the assistant to the governor of
Guangdong Province. From 12 February 2000 to 8 May 2001,
Mr. Wu joined Guangdong Enterprise (Holdings) Limited
(“GDE") as a director during the process of assisting its debt
restructuring. Mr. Wu ceased to be a director of GDE shortly
after the closing of its debt restructuring on 22 December 2000.
From 2000 to 2005, Mr. Wu was appointed as the chairman of
Guangdong Yue Gang Investment Holdings Company Limited
(BREBEREERABRAAT) and GDH Limited (BRERAE
[RAA]). Mr. Wu has been appointed in various positions in
companies listed on the Stock Exchange and the New York
Stock Exchange. Mr. Wu served as the chairman of Guangdong
Investment Limited (stock code: 270) (“GDI”) from March 2000
to March 2001, as a director of GDI from March 2000 to April
2005 and as the honorary president of GDI from March 2001
to April 2005. Mr. Wu also served as a director and honorary
1058)
from February 2004 to April 2005. Both companies are listed

president of Guangdong Tannery Limited (stock code:

on the main board of the Stock Exchange. While Mr. Wu was
serving as the chairman and then an honorary president of GDI,
GDI and its subsidiaries underwent a debt restructuring, details
of which were included in GDI's announcements dated 23
December 2000 and 6 May 2003. From April 2005 to January
2008, Mr. Wu was appointed as the executive director and
from June 2005 to January 2008, Mr. Wu was appointed as the
managing director and the chief executive officer of Hopson
Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 754), which is listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange. From September
2005 to July 2011, Mr. Wu served as an independent non-
executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 3968). From May 2007 to August 2008, Mr. Wu also
served as an independent non-executive director of Yingli Green
Energy Holding Company Limited (stock code: YGE) which is
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listed on the New York Stock Exchange. From 15 July 2008 to
23 December 2009, Mr. Wu was executive director of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (stock code: 3883) (“China
From 24 December 2009 to 19 May 2013, Mr.
Wu was a non-executive director and vice chairman of China
Aoyuan. From 13 February 2006 to 27 June 2013, Mr. Wu is
a non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group Limited
(stock code: 855).

Aoyuan”).

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (stock code: 392), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wu is also an independent non-executive director of Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and China CITIC
Bank International Limited. Mr. Wu obtained a Master’s degree
in Economics in 1984 and a Doctoral degree in Economics in
1996, both from the Research Institute of Finance the People’s
Bank of China. Mr. Wu completed post-doctoral research
work in theoretical economics at Nankai University (FFAXZ)
in 1998-2000 and was qualified as a professor in theoretical

economics at Nankai University in 2001.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan, aged 51, was appointed on 6 March
2008. He is the chairman of the audit committee, the
compliance committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Hung was an
executive director and the chief executive officer of Get Nice
Holdings Limited (stock code: 64), a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from 28 April
2011 to 7 April 2016. He is an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Get Nice Financial Group Limited (stock
code: 1469), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Hung has over 24 years' experience as certified
public accountant in Hong Kong and is currently a director of
Venture Partners CPA Limited. Mr. Hung is a licensed person
under the Securities and Futures Ordinances for regulated
activity “advising on corporate finance”. Mr. Hung obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Ma Lishan, aged 69, was appointed on 6 March 2008.
He is a member of the audit committee, the remuneration
committee, the compliance committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated from Beijing
Foreign Studies University in the PRC in 1975. Mr. Ma has
served various positions such as chairman, executive director
and general manager in certain large-scale joint ventures under
China Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (COFCO), as
well as Great Wall Wine Industrial Company (KRB & BEE %
A A]). From January 1996 to June 2003, Mr. Ma served as an
executive director of China Foods Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 506). From May 1997 to
June 2003, Mr. Ma served as an executive director and the
managing director of China Foods Limited. From June 2000
to June 2003, Mr. Ma served as the vice president of China
Foods Import and Export (Group) Co., Ltd. (COFCO). From June
2008 to January 2009, Mr. Ma was an executive director of
Sino Resources Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 223). From 2 August 2009 to present,

he is an independent non-executive director of Sunac China
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Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1918). From September 2010 to August 2012, he
was the executive director, chief executive officer and chairman
of Hao Tian Resources Group Limited (now known as Hao Tian
Development Group Limited), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 474). From August 2012 to August 2016,
he was the senior consultant of Hao Tian Development Group
Limited. From 31 March 2016 to present, Mr. Ma is currently
an independent non-executive director of SRE Group (stock
code: 1207). From 28 June 2016 to present, he is currently an
independent non-executive director of China Minsheng Drawin
Technology Group Limited (stock code: 726), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange. From 19 August 2016 to present,
Mr. Ma is currently an independent non-executive director of
Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited (stock code:
993).

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward, aged 66, was appointed on 24
June 2014. He is a member of the audit committee, compliance
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
of the Company.

Dr. Lee is the founder and the chairman of Nuovo Collection
Hong Kong Limited which is the leading high end Italian
furniture retailer in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Dr. Lee was graduated at Ontario College of Art & Design,
Canada in 1977 with honor Associate of Ontario College of Art
& Design (A.O.C.A.D.).

With 42 years of experience as a professional interior designer
and furniture retailer, Dr. Lee was appointed as the chairman
of the Furniture and Decoration Industries Group by the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries and the vice-chairman for
Hong Kong Furniture and Decoration Trade Association Limited.
The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
has appointed Dr. Lee as a standing committee member of The
Public Affair Forum in 2009.
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Dr. Lee has also participated in a number of social community
service groups, such as a director of The Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce, a vice-chairman of the New Territories
District Liaison and a Vice-President of New Territories General
Chamber of Commerce, In addition, Dr. Lee is an executive
council member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors,
a district secretary of Rotary International District 3450, a
chairman of Preserve Planet & Earth of Rotary International
District 3450, a director of China Council for the Promotion of

International Trade and council member of Innovation China.

Dr. Lee was awarded as “China Top 10 Financial and Intelligent
Persons” for the year 2008, “China Famous Professional”,
“China Enterprise Award for Innovative Corporate” and “China
Enterprise Award for Creative Businessmen” in the PRC. In Hong
Kong, Dr. Lee was awarded as “The World Outstanding Chinese
Award for the year 2006”, “Honorary Doctor for Business
Administration and Management” and “2009 Capital Leader of
Excellence”.

In 2013, Dr. Lee was appointed as the “Most Promising
Entrepreneurship Award” of “Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship
Awards (APEA) by Enterprise Asia for recognising his business
profession and for his great entrepreneurship spirit in leading,
growing and contributing to his organisations, communities
and country. He was granted as the fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Director (FHKIOD) by the Hong Kong
Director Institute since 1997. He was also appointed as the
standing committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Shenzhen District and director of HeBei
Chinese Overseas Friendship Association. In 2014, Asia Brand
Development Association recognised Nuovo Collection as a
“Famous Brand Hong Kong 2013".

BRTHHEERTHEELSZGRN - =
B2 EZELE R #5FEPE
BESTERTABEEIET  FTRE
HeEeR BAEAEZZ2geWTREE -
SRR B 3450H [E T & - BIBR IK 9345040
BREMWIKZESER PREHINE FHI2
ESeBRERAFPRCEBBABES -

FERE - FETZEE2008 e FEF K
BEAY] [FRITEZERER]  [FEH
TEAFESAY]  [FEKEAF I
2| - EERE =18 120065 [t R4
A  [REBETHERBELEMN| R
[2009& AR B ] & -

FELIRN T =FETMNEEESHEE
[EMEEEWE] - ARBEARRRE
TMNERA KRR RER AR - 5SEH
BENBAETREIETENERTR ' [
FF 32 AT EL T B SR mO A5 10 R AR 21 R SR -
TERERIER - -HEEMNTEERS
EEEFERE-NNLFRAUEFREER
HER - RIMERERTEARBUAHE
SRYIHENRBHEE kBT S
SNERGHEIREE c BT —OF - BIFHK
EoMNmEERDEEE2013FEHKR
Bilmpg ] -



SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES [k

Mr. Wong Hing Keung, aged 59, the company secretary of the
Group. He joined the Group in April 2014. Mr. Wong is mainly
responsible for overseeing the Group’s corporate governance,
regulatory compliance and legal matters and advising on
corporate development, information disclosure and internal
control policies and procedures of the Group. Mr. Wong is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He obtained a master’s degree
in professional accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience
in the areas of auditing, finance and accounting. He is also
experienced in the compliance duties of company listed on
the Stock Exchange. He is an authorised representative of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Chan Sing Doris, aged 46, is the vice president of the
Company. Ms. Chan joined the Group in November 1997. She
is responsible for sales and distribution of high-ended Chinese
liquor in Hong Kong market and maintaining close relationship
with the customers. Ms. Chan performed as manager of
administration and human resources of the Group previously,
and was proficient in the Group’s business operation. Ms. Chan
holds a postgraduate diploma in international management
in The International Institute of Management and obtained a
degree of Master of Business Administration in Bulacan State

University in Philippines.

Ms. Cheung Mei Sze, aged 48, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company from 6 March 2008 to 18 August
2017. She is the head of finance of the Group and a director
of a subsidiary of the Company. Ms. Cheung joined the Group
in September 2000 and is responsible for the financial and
accounting affairs of the Group. Prior to joining the Group,
Ms. Cheung was an assistant supervisor in Ting Ho Kwan &
Chan, a CPA firm. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Arts majoring in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic

University.
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Ms. Li Yuxi, aged 38,
Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen) Co.,

is the senior vice president of Silver
Ltd.. Ms. Li
joined the Group in November 2012 to participate in market
development and the exploration, establishment, sales and
marketing of all Internet-related channels. She is responsible for
the establishment and sales of 020, B2C and B2B integrated
business models, and also the layout of various new channels
of the Group in the PRC, product planning, market operations,
team building, sales management, and other related matters.
Ms. Li obtained a Bachelor’s degree in International Economics
and Trading from Jianghan University (T/& A £2).

Ms. Zhao Xin, aged 43,
Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.. Ms. Zhao

is the senior vice president of Silver

joined the Group in February 2006 as the deputy general
manager and responsible for monitoring the daily business
operations, sales management and customers relationship
management in the PRC markets of the Group. In June 2020
to participate marketing promotion and planning, product
planning, market operations, team building, sales management,
and other related matters. Ms. Zhao obtained a degree of
Master in Senior Management of Business Administration from

Nankai University (FFIAE).
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The directors (the “Directors”) of Silver Base Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) hereby present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Financial Year"”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31
March 2021 are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the Financial Year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION
The Group’s loss for the Financial Year and the Group’s financial
position at that date are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 112 to 264.

No interim dividend was paid during the Financial Year.

To reserve the resources for the Group’s business development,
the board of Directors (the “Board”) did not recommend the

payment of a final dividend for the Financial Year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (“Annual General
Meeting”) will be held in Hong Kong on Friday, 27 August
2021. Notice of the Annual General Meeting will be issued
and despatched to the shareholders of the Company (the

“Shareholders”) together with this annual report.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 23 August 2021 to Friday, 27 August 2021, both dates
inclusive. During which period no transfer of share(s) will be
effected, for the purpose of determining Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the Annual General
Meeting, all transfers documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, must be lodged with Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong
time) on Friday, 20 August 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Financial Year are set out in note 13 to

the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Financial Year are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares of

the Company on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 23 August 2019, the Shareholders approved a share

option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”).

Details of the

Share Option Scheme are set out in the mandate circular of
the Company dated 19 July 2019. As at 31 March 2021, the

maximum number of share which may be issued upon exercise

of all outstanding options granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 182,450,000 shares. Key terms of the Share Option

Scheme are summarised below:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
an incentive for the Qualified Participants (as defined
below) to work with commitment towards enhancing the
value of the Company and its shares for the benefit of
the Shareholders and to retain and attract persons whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth and
development of the Group.

Qualified Participants of the Share Option Scheme include
any employee, any executive and non-executive director
of the Company, its subsidiaries or entity in which the
Company or its subsidiaries holds any equity interest
("Invested Entity”) and any such other persons (including
but not limited to supplier, customer, consultant, adviser,
contractor, business partner or service provider of the
Company or its subsidiary or any Invested Entity) who in
the absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or will

contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company, must
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of

shares in issue from time to time.
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Unless approved by the Shareholders in general meeting,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted to any Qualified Participants
under the Share Option Scheme in the 12-month period
up to and including such further grant must not exceed

1% of the total number of shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme, after which period no further

option shall be granted.

A non-refundable consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of an option. An offer of
grant of an option may be accepted by an eligible person
within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by
the Company, being a date not later than 5 business days

from the date on which the offer is made.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme any time during a period
(which may not expire later than 10 years from the date of

the grant to be notified by the Board at its sole discretion.

The subscription price must be at least the highest of
(1) the closing price of the shares as stated in The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant; (2) the average
of the closing price of the Company’ shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(3) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The Board is entitled at any time within the period of 10
years commencing on 23 August 2019 i.e. the date of
adoption, to offer the grant of an option to any Qualified
Participants in accordance with the terms of the Share

Option Scheme.

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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Exercise No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares el
price involvedin  involvedin involvedin involved in involved in &
per share options options options options options w
under the ~ Options held granted exercised lapsed cancelled held as at
share as at during during the during the during the 31 March g
Grantees Exercisable period  options 1 April 2020 the year year year year 2021 =
R=%=-%
ZR=+-H

R-B-BE REARHZ REATEZ REAKNZ RERE#EZ  BAZBRE
BRERE BA-H REEFYR RBREFSR BREFSR BREFIR gk

ARA s 2fRE HEBRE RGBE  ZROBHEE  ZRHHEE  ZRHEE RAEA
HK$
BT

Directors:
EE:
Chen Xiaoxu 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000Mote 2522
RN ZZ-rEMAZ+ZAZ

ZZZ-¥ME=f-H
Wu Jie Si 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000 Mote 272
HER “Z-RENA-+ZAZ

ZZZ-£MmA=+-R
Hung Sui Kwan 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000 Mote 2722
sty “E2-"ENA-T=HE

“Z--%MA=+-A
Ma Lishan 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 750,000 - - - - 750,000t 27522
vl “E-R"ENA=+ZRE

“Z--%MA=+-A
Lee Kwok Keung Edward 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 073 750,000 - - - - 750,00010te 242
% E-NENMAZTZHE

ZTZ-§MA=t-A
Substantial Shareholder

of the Company:

FRFEERF:
Luo Ljtere? 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 1,050,000 - - - - 1,050,000t 2522
Bl ey “Z-AEBA-t-RZ

“Z--§MmA-+-A

28 Sep 2017 to 27 Sep 2022 0.64 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
“E-tEAA-TNEE
ZEZZENRZTtA

2,050,000
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% = I &
EEgHE
Exercise No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares  No. of shares
price involvedin  involvedin involvedin involved in involved in
per share options options options options options
under the  Options held granted exercised lapsed cancelled held as at
share as at during during the during the during the 31 March
Grantees Exercisable period ~ options 1 April 2020 the year year year year 2021
R=B=-%
ZR=+-8
RZBZBE RERRLZ RERTEZ RERZNZ REREHZz  FAZERE
SRERE ME-B EREFYR BREFYR BREFSR BREFSR fyR2
RRA el 2B FAZBRE ZRG¥E  ZRBEE  <RAEA  zRHEA RHE A
HKS
BT
Others:
At ‘
Other employees of the 22 Apr 2016 to 21 Apr 2021 0.73 123,750,000 - - (4,800,000) - 118,950,000 2772
Group
AEEAMESR “3- 5 FNA-tZRZE
“E--EWMACT-H
28 Sep 2017 to 27 Sep 2022 0.64 48,800,000 - - (7,350,000 - 41,450,000
ZZ-tENAZTN\AE
“ECCENACTER
6 Jul 2018 to 5 Jul 2023 0.52 14,000,000 - - - - 14,000,000
ZZ-\FtArRZ
“Z-=%tAEA
174,400,000
Total 194,600,000 - - (12,150,000 - 182,450,000
@zt
Notes: i3
(1) As at 31 March 2021, Yinji Investments Limited held 726,756,750 (1) RZZEE=Z—F=R=+—H "Yinji
Shares representing approximately 32.16% of the issued share Investments Limited# &726,756,750
capital of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Yinji RERHD  HERARAABEHETRALD
Investments Limited is directly wholly owned by Grand Base 32.16% © Yinji Investments Limited,Z &
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin 2 TR AT B Grand Base Holdings
Islands and indirectly wholly owned by a discretionary trust, the Limited (—FAR R BB RS MK
beneficiaries of which are Mr. Liang Guoxing, Ms. Luo Li, the ZAR)BEEZEHRE  UH—E2EW
spouse of Mr. Liang Guoxing, and Miss Liang Gia Li Melody, BEAEZELZERE  ZEFEIZRA
the daughter of Mr. Liang Guoxing. Mr. Liang Guoxing is the 7R B EL S A R B B A ) D A AR AR
chairman, an executive Director, chief executive officer and a Tt UAERRREEENZAZREZE /)
substantial shareholder of the Company. e REIEEEBARNRBNER - BT
BE O THAHFRFIERR -
(2)  Option to subscribe 126,000,000 shares of the Company lapsed 2 HREZZ S HAFMNAZ =B

on 22 April 2021 due to the expiry of the exercisable period of
the share options granted on 22 April 2015.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note

31 to

the consolidated financial statements.

H2ERENTESER  TRE
126,000,000/ A2 RIf& 15 2 BE AR E R
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ERE S NE —THBIHR A TR
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2021, distributable reserves of the Company,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to approximately HK$85.4 million (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified
as appropriate, is set out on page 3 in this annual report.
The summary does not form part of the audited financial

statements.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

The Group regards both the current ratio and the gearing ratio

are important indicators of its financial health.

Current Ratio

The current ratio is the balance of current assets as at 31 March
2021 divided by the balance of current liabilities as at 31 March
2021. As at 31 March 2021, the current ratio was 1.3 (2020:
1.2) which means the Group is able to meet the creditors’

demands.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is net debt divided by the total capital plus net
debt. Net debt includes trade and bills payables, other payables
and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, bond payables, amount due to a director and
amount due to a related company less bank balances and cash.
Total capital represents equity attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company. As at 31 March 2021, the gearing
ratio was approximately 70.4% (2020: approximately 61.5%).
From a long-term perspective, the management is committed to
maintain an optimal and stable gearing ratio, in order to achieve

maximum capital efficiency.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company's listed securities during
the Financial Year.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the Financial Year, the Group made charitable
contributions amounting to approximately HK$342,000 (2020:
approximately HK$86,000).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Financial Year and up

to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Xiaoxu (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Wu Jie Si

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan
Mr. Ma Lishan
Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward
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In accordance with Article 84 of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Hung Sui Kwan and Mr. Ma Lishan shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Hung and Mr. Ma have now served the Board for more
than nine years. The board has received from Mr. Hung and Mr.
Ma annual confirmation of their independence every year and
taking into account of the various matters as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange, the Board is satisfied with their
independence and considers Mr. Hung and Mr. Ma continue to

be independent.

Details of their re-election recommendation are disclosed under
the section headed “Appointment and Re-election of Directors”

of the following Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
PROFILES
The profiles of the Directors and senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 28 to 36 of this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS g5

EZEHE

RBARRBEIZMA T4 - HinH e L
EEZWEEBREREBRRBFEAE L
BRI RECERLBEEEREL -

HEENFRERBARBCEBBENE -
EZgC BB EERSRESFHLN
FEBUHERE UCERBIMBESFL
mARR ([ ETRA) B3 13GAE TR
EE -EEREARSNBIMERRRHE
EERSALRERBIAL -

ERREMNEBERRFBET —/IEX
ERABE T RERBERES| —HAR

==

EERGAREEERBE

EENALEESREEENRBEHBEIN
INEREIZE36H ©

REEEZRER QA

—E--F5H




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the Directors has a service contract with the
Company for a fixed term of three years with the following

commencement dates:

Name of Directors

ESHR

ESNRBEN
EEFHERADATIREAH - BN
TESMAKRAEEFH=F -

Commencement Date

FA%a B

Mr. Liang Guoxing (Note 7)
R E A& (K aET)

Ms. Chen Xiaoxu (Note 2)
PREENE 22 £ (K7 it2)

Mr. Wu Jie Si (Note 3)
REREE (KiE3)

Mr. Hung Sui Kwan (Note 4)
I 3 5T A (AT i 4)

Mr. Ma Lishan (Note 5)
Bl e A& (K7 aE5)

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward (Note 6)
TER1E L (K iE6)

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.

12 September 2019
—E-NFNA+Z=H

14 July 2020
—E-_FTFELAH+TEA

6 March 2020
—E-FF=ZAAKH

6 March 2020
—E-FF=HARH

6 March 2020
—E-FF=ZAKH

24 June 2020
—E-FEFANA-_FEH

BREERRAFAS LEENESME
BEARNAFIBEARRRNMERE CRAERE
BN AU AT R — R I RIE S 4 -



Notes:

1. The previous service contract of Mr. Liang expired on 11
September 2019 and a new service contract was entered into
between the Company and Mr. Liang for a term of three (3) years
commencing from 12 September 2019.

2. The previous service contract of Ms. Chen expired on 13 July
2020 and a new service contract was entered into between the
Company and Ms. Chen for a term of three (3) years commencing
from 14 July 2020.

3. The previous service contract of Mr. Wu expired on 5 March
2020 and a new service contract was entered into between the
Company and Mr. Wu for a term of three (3) years commencing
from 6 March 2020.

4. The previous service contract of Mr. Hung expired on 5 March
2020 and a new service contract was entered into between the
Company and Mr. Hung for a term of three (3) years commencing
from 6 March 2020.

5. The previous service contract of Mr. Ma expired on 5 March
2020 and a new service contract was entered into between the
Company and Mr. Ma for a term of three (3) years commencing
from 6 March 2020.

6. The previous service contract of Dr. Lee expired on 23 June
2020 and a new service contract was entered into between the
Company and Dr. Lee for a term of three (3) years commencing
from 24 June 2020.

DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company and is decided by the
Board, as authorised by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting, having regard to the Group’s results, Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance, and the prevailing market

conditions.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the”SFO")) (i) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed
to have been taken under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) contained in the

Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)  Shares of the Company

Number or
attributable
number of
shares held or

EERBETRASRBESH -
B R 18 3 1o M 2

KRB —F=ZA=+—R EFERAR
A& R ITHA BR AR RIS H A HE
B (EERBHRBER (TFEFRHE
ferf 1) SBXVER) Rk {7 - A8 BE A 1 K & 55
FEAES AR MANREESRHE
{ERBIEBXVEE SR 7 K287 BB ANE AN 7] S B
R (BEREESFRBE G LARTE
WEEXRRERNER KXAR) X
(DR IRE 75 R B AR B SB352 1R B E R
xR AT B RC ¢ S(iDAR IR _E T AR A TR
W EMBETAESETESZZNREST
A ([#R2E57 R ) ZBANE AN R R] BB S A an
T

iy AREKD

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding of

Name of Director short positions Position Nature of interests the Company
RAERA T RE
P B RGO BREI
EEpR BEGKAHA -} EEME BB
Liang Guoxing 277,290,000 (Note 1) Long Interest in controlled 12.27%
corporation
REH 277,290,000 (#1##1) e WA s
726,756,750 (Note 2) Long Founder and 32.16%
beneficial object of
a discretionary trust
726,756,750 (M1 7#2) A 2RETZEBA
PESIN
2,050,000 (Note 3) Long Family interest 0.09%

2,050,000 (A7#3) HE

EY Y 35



(ii)

Share Options

Name of Directors
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(i) B

Underlying shares
pursuant to the
share options as
at 31 March 2021

EZEHE

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding of
the Company

R-B-—%F
=A=+-—H RADBRAE
BREMSRZ BRABEIEH
BEEnE HBERGHE BB DL
Chen Xiaoxu (Note 4) 1,500,000 0.06%
BREENE (M1 7t4)
Wu Jie Si (Note 4) 1,500,000 0.06%
RNEER (B it4)
Hung Sui Kwan (Note 4) 1,500,000 0.06%
I (B it4)
Ma Lishan (Note 4) 750,000 0.03%
Bz (#at4)
Lee Kwok Keung Edward (Note 4) 750,000 0.03%

B (K iE4)

B- 5%
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Notes:

—
=
-

These Shares were held by Keen Pearl Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire issued
share capital of which is owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing, an
executive Director, the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company.

(2)  These Shares were held by Yinji Investments Limited. The entire
issued share capital of Yinji Investments Limited is beneficially
owned by Grand Base Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and indirectly owned by a discretionary
trust, the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Liang Guoxing, Ms. Luo
Li, the spouse of Mr. Liang Guoxing and Miss Liang Gia Li Melody,
the daughter of Mr. Liang Guoxing. HSBC International Trustee
Limited was deemed to be interested in the shares in the capacity
of a trustee of the discretionary trust as aforementioned.

(3)  These interests represent the share options granted to Ms. Luo Li,
the spouse of Mr. Liang Guoxing under the share option scheme
of the Company.

Option to subscribe 1,050,000 shares of the Company lapsed on
22 April 2021 due to the expiry of the exercisable period of the
share options granted on 22 April 2015.

(4)  These interests represent the share options granted to the
Directors under the share option scheme of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

(1) ZER 1 HKeen Pearl Limited (— R =
BHERIHSEMRLZAR)FE - M
H2HEBTRANARDANNITE
FCEFERTHABHRHABESLERS -

(2)  ZERMAYinji Investments Limited$F
A ° Yinji Investments LimitedZ 2EE
2577 I N i Grand Base Holdings Limited
(—HREBERRESHEMK LA
A)En#EE  WH—EA2EETHESE
B ZEAZZEARBREELE R
B R 5 A o L4 7R 4Rl 20 & DA R R B R
EENXRRZE/E - ELERET
BRAFAALMEZBEERZIZEA W
WRANZERND R G ER -

B UEBHEKREXREAAFBEREFIT
BETREHEEENEBEMNL L 2BR
-

HRE_Z—AFNA-_+-_HELZ
FERR R 1T HARE W - RIER M8 1,050,000
BRARARD ZBREENR T =—F
MA-+—-B%k%-

4 UEBEKREIREARABEREFIT
RTES2BEMRE-

BEXABEEN R_F-_—F=H
=t—B BMEEFHARARHTHA
ERARBIRERBEE (ERAEBEFK
HE GREIEXVED) B M iy - HERER) A
SHAEEARERREBERERIOAS M
ARIZE 7 R P E GG FEXVERET7 M8D
MAMEARRA LB (BERER S
MGG L R EREFRESER R
BBESORR) + H(NRBE S LR &P
EI2GABTRNRGMAELH : %
(iR E AR AP AR LT RIZAMNE
ZAN/NCIDNE B
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’ INTERESTS IN TERFARORABERG
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES & i =
So far as is known to the Directors and the chief executive of MEBEERARBZEITBRAERNM BN ﬁ
the Company, as at 31 March 2021, the following persons F_—F=ZA=+—8 THALCFE g

EHARRARDITHRAR) RAR R AR
BB P EEI KRR EERIEE
7 B B ARG XV ER S 2 % 370 BB RS A TA)
ARARBZFIWE 2 EBZIRR  HA
RN AR AIRERE S LK ERAIF336
FFEZ ECMrESRIAR - NRAR
HMARA LB SRR

(not being Directors or chief executive of the Company) had,
or were deemed to have, interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Number or attributable

number of shares

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding of

Name of shareholders held or short positions Position Nature of interests the Company
RARD 7 R
R R A BRRBADL
BREREE BERKXRHE B EEME REET DL
Keen Pearl Limited 277,290,000 (Note 1) Long Beneficial Owner 12.27%
Keen Pearl Limited 277,290,000 (#15£1) He ERBEAA
Yinji Investments Limited 726,756,750 (Note 2) Long Beneficial Owner 32.16%
Yinji Investments Limited 726,756,750 (A1it2) a5} ExnBEAA
Grand Base Holdings Limited 726,756,750 (Note 2) Long Interest in controlled 32.16%
corporation
Grand Base Holdings Limited 726,756,750 (#15t2) HEe RRELB Z#H
HSBC International 726,756,750 (Note 2) Long Trustee of 32.16%
Trustee Limited discretionary trust
ELBEEREFEERAR 726,756,750 (f1it2) e SRETZXTEA
Luo Li 728,806,750 (Notes 2 & 3) Long Beneficial object of a 32.24%
discretionary trust,
beneficial owner
& 728,806,750 (#f72%3) e AR YN

EsHBA
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Name of shareholders

BRRER

Number or attributable
number of shares

held or short positions

i B 4 B 42
YEAKXRHE

Nature of interests

BEME

Approximate
percentage or
attributable
percentage of
shareholding of
the Company

RAERQFRE
BROBERED L
HEGEDE

Liang Gia Li Melody

al

PEE

RN 7R
Liu Yang ("Ms. Liu")

IR (B2 L])

Atlantis Capital Group Holdings
Limited (“Atlantis Capital”)
Atlantis Capital Group Holdings

Limited ([ REA])

Riverwood Umbrella Fund on
behalf Riverwood Fortune Fund
("Riverwood Umbrella Fund”)

Riverwood Umbrella Fund
K & Riverwood Fortune Fund
(TRiverwood Umbrella Fund )

Easy Fame Investment (HK) Limited

IRREE (F) ERAA

Fully Chance Group Development

Limited

Fully Chance Group Development

Limited

Guandong Finance Limited

BREERRAA
Lin Ho Man
EEX
UBS Group AG

UBS Group AG

726,756,750 (Note 2)

726,756,750 (A1i22)

385,049,000 (Note 4)

385,049,000 (#it4)
385,049,000 (Note 5)

385,049,000 (4:25)

162,847,000 (Note 6)

162,847,000 (f1:16)

846,213,750 (Note 7)
846,213,750 (#1:£7)
846,213,750 (Note 7)

846,213,750 (#1it7)

846,213,750 (Note 7)
846,213,750 (#177)
846,213,750 (Note 7)
846,213,750 (#1:#7)
167,581,341 (Note 8)

167,581,341 (#1:28)

Beneficial object of a
discretionary trust
PRETZZHEA

Interest in controlled
corporation

NEEEB s

Interest in controlled
corporation
REEEE 2w

Beneficial Owner

@B A

P

Interest in controlled
corporation

REEE 2

Interest in controlled
corporation
iNCR LNk E

Interest in controlled
corporation
REELEE 2w

Interest in controlled
corporation

NEELAE 2 R

Interest in controlled
corporation
REELEE 2w

32.16%

17.04%

17.04%

7.17%

37.41%

37.41%

37.41%

37.41%

7.41%



Notes:

These shares were held by Keen Pearl Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the entire issued
share capital of which is owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing, an
executive Director, the Chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company.

These shares were held by Yinji Investments Limited. The entire
issued share capital of Yinji Investments Limited was beneficially
owned by Grand Base Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and indirectly owned by a discretionary
trust, the beneficiaries of which are Mr. Liang Guoxing, Ms.
Luo Li, the spouse of Mr. Liang Guoxing, and Miss Liang Gia Li
Melody, the daughter of Mr. Liang Guoxing. HSBC International
Trustee Limited was deemed to be interested in the shares in the

capacity of a trustee of the discretionary trust as aforementioned.

These interests included interest in 2,050,000 share options
granted to Ms. Luo Li, spouse of Mr. Liang Guoxing under the
share option scheme of the Company.

Option to subscribe 1,050,000 shares of the Company lapsed on
22 April 2021 due to the expiry of the exercisable period of the
share options granted on 22 April 2015.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests notice filed by Ms. Liu
on 23 November 2020, among others, Atlantis Capital, Atlantis
Investment Management Limited (”Atlantis Investment”) and
Riverwood Umbrella Fund (collectively the “LY Companies”) were
disclosed as having interest in 385,049,000 Shares, 385,049,000
and 170,000,000 Shares respectively and the LY Companies were
indirectly/directly wholly-owned by Ms. Liu, Therefore, Ms. Liu is
deemed to be interested in the Shares.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests notice filed by Atlantis
Capital on 23 November 2020, among others, Atlantis Investment
and Riverwood Umbrella Fund were disclosed as having interest
in 385,049,000 Shares and 170,000,000 Shares respectively and
Atlantis Investment and Riverwood Umbrella Fund were directly
wholly-owned by Atlantis Capital. Therefore, Atlantis Capital is
deemed to be interested in the Shares.
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Z 5D FKeen Pearl Limited (— A S
BHBRBESEMALZ2R)#HE
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ZERRM AYinji Investments Limited#
A ° Yinji Investments LimitedZ 2ZFE
277 I& 2N i Grand Base Holdings Limited
(—HREBHERRESHEMK LA
A)EREE  WH—EA2#EETHERE
B ZEAZEImABREE L R
B B 5T A O BC B AR Rl A0 - DA R R B R
EENAXRREZE/NE - ELEBRET
BERAFR B LMEZEERZIZEA W
WIRANZERND R A E -

WERDBREREARABBRETS
TRTITREEEENEBEMLL 2
2,050,0000% fi# f& ## -

EEWi:i:—ﬁﬁmﬂ*wL*Elﬁﬁjz
FEARER T BAJE W - ATER85 1,050,000
/NG L7 ZE%HX%E \=E=-—4F
MA-Z+=—HKR -

BBzt R -_ZE_ZF+— A

Zt=HEFREOREERBA (A4
BHE) AR E A - Atlantis Investment
Management Limited ([FA R & ]) &
Riverwood Umbrella Fund (478 [ 2% A
all) % % B 5 5l $385,049,0008%
385,049,0000% % 170,000,000% fi% 15
HEER MPBARQAAHEZTEE
EE2EEE At BlXTHE/RA/R
RO AR -

BEAREAR _ZT_ZTF+—A
ZtH=HEFREAOREERBN (A4
BHE) 78 =% & MRiverwood Umbrella
FundiZ # 5 & 5 5l 74385,049,000% &
170,000,000 & {5 FH #E & #E 2 - i 2R
% & K Riverwood Umbrella Fundf 7
EAEEZEAHA At AREBERE
AR A = -
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6. Pursuant to the disclosure of interests notice filed by Riverwood
Umbrella Fund on 16 January 2020, Riverwood Umbrella Fund is a
Cayman Islands incorporated company and is the beneficial owner
of 162,847,000 Shares.

7. Based on the disclosure of interests notice filed by Lin Ho Man on
28 December 2018, he is deemed to be interested in 846,213,750
Shares through Fully Chance Group Development Limited, Easy
Fame Investment (HK) Limited and Guangdong Finance Limited.
The 846,213,750 Shares were charged as security for a loan.

8. Based on the disclosure of interests notice filed by UBS Group
AG on 14 April 2020, it is deemed to be interested in 17,341
Shares through USB AG. UBS Group AG has security interest in
167,564,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any
other person (other than Directors and the chief executive of the
Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as

otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, no other transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance, to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Financial Year or at any time during the Financial Year.

6.  iR{&Riverwood Umbrella Fundid == =
ZE-RA+ R NAFEENBEEERBH
Riverwood Umbrella Fund &R S8 S
M2 AE] 0 A162,847,000/% %15
MEZEAEA °

7. BREEERR-_Z-—N\F+—A=+N
AERENEEERBAN BREGERSE
#Fully Chance Group Development
Limited * BRI & (BH) AR A A R E
RIEEHMR2AAN846,213,750% B {5
WA © %846,213, 7500 1D TitE A
—SERERmimER o

8. 1R¥EUBS Group AGR - T -~ T 41 A
THAGFEMNEZREZBN  BERAS
iBUBS AGHM 7,341 IR R D AP R M2 -
UBS Group AGHfA167,564,000/% A% 17
M REBRER -

BRENFEEEN R-F-_—F=H
=t—B BERARAZSTRAEL
THBEEMEMAL (EERARAR
BITBA BBIN KA R R IR {7 548 B AR
MHRREE SRR B EEEREIRR MRE
BH MEEGRBIEXVERF2 K375 882 15X
ARARTRRERANE - RARERA
RERBES KRG RPIE336EFEZ
BiLMeEEIOAR » XEABHAERRF
KB P 2 HEsE SRR o

EENEEXRG 2 H
PR

\al
i)

=g
"N

BRIFHEMER S | — B REEIN - R
B B AR 45 H S U R A ARl B R L A
SEEERAEERETRBEAER - M
ARBREAMMBERRRITHITOEAM
EERG  THHEH -



CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions”, there was no contract of significance
between the Company or its subsidiaries, and a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Financial
Year or at any time during the Financial Year. Furthermore,
there was no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries at the end of
the Financial Year or at any time during the Financial Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
of this report, at no time during the Financial Year had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies entered
into any arrangement which enables the existing Directors or
chief executives to have the right to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other legal entities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and participating the state managed retirement benefit
scheme in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes

for the Group’s employees.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Financial Year and up to the date of this report, no
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing

Rules.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Financial Year, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 56.2% and 97.7% of the total
sales and total purchases for the year, respectively. The Group’s
largest customer and supplier accounted for approximately
24.8% and 47.6% of the total sales and total purchases for the
Financial Year, respectively. The purchases excluded inventory
buy-back portion.

During the Financial Year, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders which, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital, had any interest in the Group’s

five largest customers and suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the year are set out
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Details
of any related party transaction which constitute continuing
connected transaction under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules are
disclosed below. The Company has complied with the applicable
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules in respect of such transactions.

EXFRMHER
REBFEERN REAEBERAEFH
HEBRAAREEHNRERS AIMER
FENBHEERBEBEEN6.2%K
97.7% - AREBEHRARTF K ER K
BRFEFERNBHEBRBREBES G
24.8%47.6% - REEITBEFEEE
1 o

REMBFEER  BEEENREZETH
BALHEMARR (GLESMAEE AR
AR BITRABIES%E) RAKRERLARE
FRhHEmEE TR -

BHMAIARZNEFERERS
RNEEZBBARSHBIHNEHITBR
FMIEE36 o LARIR ET AR FE14AFEEK
REAER G BB AR HNFBIIRT
X - ARFREMBERZET LEWH
AIZ14AE ZEAMRE °
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Continuing Connected Transactions HERERS

The Group entered into a number of continuing connected RMBRERA - AREBE T2 OEEA
transactions with the following core connected persons/ /BB AL(EER EH#RE) 5T %ERE
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) during the BRERS :

Financial Year, namely:

—
==
~

(1) Silver Base (Holdings) Limited (“SBH"), a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Liang Guoxing (being also the controlling
shareholder, the chairman, the chief executive officer and

an executive Director of the Company);

(2)  Guizhou Yaxi Cellar Liquors Distribution Co., Ltd. (&M (2)
S Z 2R 4 AR A &1)(“ Guizhou Yaxi Distribution”), a
company owned as to 20% by Mr. Liang Guofeng and
80% by Mr. Liang Guoming, both of whom are cousins of
Mr. Liang Guoxing;

(3) Zhuhai Doumen Xinging Jianlong High New Technology (3)
Industry Bonded Warehouse Limited (k&P EE
REEHMMREZRT A AR AR)("Zhuhai Jianlong”), a
company owned as to 56% by Ms. Su Yeqing. Ms. Su is
the sister-in-law of Mr. Liang Guoxing;

(4) Shenzhen Yinshenggu Asset Management Company (4)
Limited ORINREA/EEERFRAAF)("OPCO”), a
company owned as to 90% and 10% by Mr. Liang
Guosheng (“Mr. GS Liang”) and Ms. Liang Chunyin (”“Ms.
Liang”) (together the “PRC Equity Owners"”) respectively.

Mr. GS Liang is a director of the several subsidiaries of the
Group and a brother of Mr. Liang Guoxing. Ms. Liang is a
director of a subsidiary of the Group and a cousin of Mr.

Liang Guoxing; and

(5) The PRC Equity Owners. (5)

RE(RE) AR2A ([RE (%
B)]) - AR hREESLE (R
RBARDRAZEBRBER - EE 1T
RERBTER)Z2EHEE

EMBEEXEBHEERLAA ([B
MISXEE]) ZAFAREEEL
EHEB20%ERLRERBELEESR
80% ot - M R BB 5 MR B §%
FERREFELEZES

KEMAFIHBEEESHBRESR
KREERAR ([FRERRE] @ &%
NAHHEES KL HEB6%ER -
BRULTR/REILEZ B

FUNBERREEEEAR QA
([OPCO)) " Z AR BRRBELE
(TREBEE]) RRERL T (TR
Zr)(HBAITPREBREES A
D B BEE90% X 10%HE 25 - 2 B B
EEBAEBEHENBARNES
WHARBBEEENKS R+
ABAEE-—HNBARNEST A
ARFEEENKE K

B R A A -
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During the Financial Year, the Group entered into the following

continuing connected transactions:

(@ On 1 April 2020, Silver Base International Development
Co. Limited (“SB International”) (as the tenant) and
SBH (as the landlord) entered into an agreement for the
continuation and renewal of the tenancy agreement which
then would expire on 31 March 2022 (the “Renewal
Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of two years commencing
from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2022 at a monthly rent of
HK$750,000 (exclusive of management fee, rates, and all
other outgoings) payable in advance on the first day of
each calendar month in cash.

Details of the Renewal Tenancy Agreement were stated in
the Company’s announcement dated 1 April 2020.

During the Financial Year, the Group paid rent to SBH
amounted to approximately HK$9,000,000 (with the
annual cap set at HK$9,000,000 for the same period).

(b) On 1 April 2020, Silver Base Trading Shenzhen entered
into the conditional distribution agreement with Guizhou
Yaxi in relation to the purchase and supply of the baijiu (H
) Yaxi (85)%) series with 52 degree alcohol content for a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2023 (the “2020 Distribution Agreement 1”).

On 1 April 2020, SB International entered into the
conditional distribution agreement with Guizhou Yaxi in
relation to the purchase and supply of the baijiu (HH)
Yaxi (88%) series with 52 degree alcohol content for a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2020 to 31
March 2023 (the “2020 Distribution Agreement I1”).

RERFER - ARBTT N THERE
25

(a)

RZZEZZTFMA—H  REBKE
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Details of the terms and conditions of the 2020
Distribution Agreement | and the 2020 Distribution
Agreement Il can be referred to the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 1 April 2020 and 8 May
2020 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other continuing
connected transaction, which require disclosure in the

annual report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Board (including all independent non-executive
Directors of the Company) confirmed that the transaction
amounts of the following continuing connected
transactions were below the de minimis threshold
under Chapter 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to
which, transactions are fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A.74 of the Listing Rules, if all the
percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) are: (a)
less than 0.1%; (b) less than 1% and the transaction is a
connected transaction only because it involves connected
person(s) at the subsidiary level; or (c) less than 5% and
the total consideration (or in the case of any financial
assistance, the total value of the financial assistance
plus any monetary advantage to the connected person
or commonly held entity) is less than HK$3,000,000. For
providing additional information purpose, it is reported
that:

On 1 April 2017, each of SB International and Silver
Base Wine & Spirit Limited (“SB W&S"”), both of them
are 100% indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, renewed the framework agreement with
Zhuhai Jianlong, Pursuant to which, Zhuhai Jianlong will
provide warehousing, logistics and related services to SB
International and SB W&S. During the Financial Year, the
Group paid service fee approximately HK$362,824 to

Zhuhai Jianlong.
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On 17 January 2018, the Group adopted the VIE Structure
by entered into the VIE Agreements (Details of the VIE
Agreements can be referred to the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 17 January 2018 and 5
February 2018, respectively) among Shenzhen Silver Base
Wine Kingdom Sales Management Company Limited (&3l
IRERESHIHEEEFR A A) (the "WFOE”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the OPCO and
the PRC Equity Owners in order to allow the Group to
provide profitable internet information service to third-
party vendors in the PRC on the business-to-business
cloud platform operated by the Group. Through the VIE
Agreements, the WFOE will have effect control over the
finance and operation of the OPCO and will enjoy the
entire economic interests and benefits generated by the
OPCO.

During the Financial Year, the WFOE provided consulting
services, among others, management and business
strategy, market research and marketing strategies and
technical support for online platform operation, to the
OPCO. The service fees were paid to the WFOE by the
OPCO, which are equal to 100% of the total before-
income-tax profits of the OPCO after deducting the
necessary costs, expenses taxes and other statutory

contribution and retention as required by the PRC Laws.

Details of the terms and conditions of the VIE Agreements
can be referred to the announcement and circular of the
Company dated 17 January 2018 and 5 February 2018

respectively.

A waiver was granted by the Stock Exchange exempting
the Company from (i) fixing the term of the VIE
Agreements for a period of not exceeding three years
pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, and (ii)
setting a maximum aggregate annual cap pursuant to Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules for the services fees payable
by the OPCO to the WFOE and the amount of loans to
be made available by the WFOE to the OPCO and the
PRC Equity Owners under the relevant VIE Agreements,
subject to the conditions as set out more particularly in the

circular of the Company dated 5 February 2018.
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In addition, interest-free loans were provided by the WOFE
to the PRC Equity Owners for the purpose of financing the
operation of the OPCO.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that the above transactions have been entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Company; (ii)
on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them during the validity of the
agreement periods on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board, including all the independent non-executive

Directors have further confirmed that:

The actual paid amounts of continuing connected transactions
entered into between the Group and its core connected persons
which are subject to annual caps have not exceeded their

respective annual caps.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions set out in
(a) pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and advised the
Board in writing (with a copy provided to the Stock Exchange)
that in respect of the transactions set out in (a), nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that (i)
the transactions have not been approved by the Board; (ii) the
transactions were not, in all material aspects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group; (iii) the transactions were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and (iv) the
actual amount paid for the transactions in accordance with the
relevant agreements have exceeded the annual cap as set by the

Company.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The subject of sustainability has gone far beyond a slogan to
use. It is an important issue to our customers, shareholders,
government and the general public.

Our environmental strategy is, in order to reduce the pressure
on our environment, to achieve a balance between the quality
and efficiency of our services on one hand, and greenhouse
gas emissions on the other hand. Having branches, offices and
warehouses located in various provinces in the PRC, the Group
is able to deliver our products from our warehouses to our
clients in a timely manner yet reducing amount of greenhouse

gas emitted arising from the delivery of our products.

As a member of the globe, the Group is committed to reduce
its carbon footprint and consumption of natural resources in all

possible aspects.

Details of the environment policies and performance of the
Group are reported in the environmental, social and governance
report published separately on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the Financial Year, the Group had complied with the

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group, inter alias, Food Safety Law of the PRC (FRZE A
REMBEMZ2)E) and Measures for the Administration of
Alcohol Circulation (EZERMBEEHX), as well as major local
employment regulations at all locations of operations in the
PRC.
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Internally, to bring the operations in line with the Group’s
organisation’s commitment to the highest possible standards
of probity and accountability, a number of policies have been
adopted and shared among our staff. These include the whistle-
blowing policy, gifts and entertainment policy and guideline on
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are the one of most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and

support are cherished at all time.

The Group regularly reviews compensation and benefit policies
according to industry benchmark, financial results as well as
the individual performance of employees so as to offer fair
and competitive compensation packages to the employees.
Other fringe benefits including insurance, medical benefits
and mandatory provident fund are provided to retain loyal
employees with the aim to form a team of professional staff and
management to fulfill the development needs of the Group.

The Group places great emphasis on the training and
development of employees and regards excellent employees
as its core competitiveness. With a view to further enhancing
their job skills and industry knowledge, the Group has offered
various training programs to its management staff and other
employees. The Group implemented these programs not only to
enhance the quality of its staff, but also to give best chances for

development of their personal career.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

Our Directors believe that maintaining good relationships with
customers and suppliers has been one of the critical success

factors of the Group.

We have maintained long-termed relationship with our major
suppliers. Among them, Wuliangye Yibin Co., Ltd., one of the
principal suppliers of premium baijiu products to our Group,
have had nearly a decade’s business relationship with our
Group.

With the mission to providing the finest wine and liquor
products to consumers, the Group is constantly screening,
sourcing and introducing products that can fulfill the needs
of the consumers, as well as the stringent requirements of the
Group. The Group works closely with our existing suppliers
who are also the producers of the products that the Group is
selling, to develop new products that can create new demands
from both the potential and the existing customers. The Group
believes that it is an essential means to increase the sales of the

Group and also the sales of our suppliers.

It is the responsibility of the Group to supplying genuine and
safe products to our customers. Our products are primarily
sourced from producers that have complied with rigorous
product testing procedures, regulations and standards of the
countries in which they are produced. There was no reported

case of product safety recall during the Financial Year.

In order to establish new and maintain relationships with our
customers, during the Financial Year, we continued to carry out
various advertising and marketing campaigns with the aim of

promoting and attracting potential sub-distributors.
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As mentioned in the chairman’s statement of this annual
report, the Group established partnerships with various PRC
e-commerce companies during the Financial Year with business
terms that are both in the interest of the Group and those
companies. The Group believes that the mutually beneficial
business terms are important to create a win-win situation to
both sides and to foster a long termed and reliable relationship

with our customers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is responsible for monitoring the business risk and
formulating plans to mitigate potential risks and uncertainties
that materially affect the business of the Group. The following
principal risks and uncertainties may occur individually or
simultaneously. There may be additional risk unknown and other
risks which the Group currently believes to be immaterial, but
turn out to be material. If the management team identifies any
other risk to be material, the management team will report such
risk to the Board and consider to implement a mitigation plan
when appropriate.

Risk Nature
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We rely on the supply of products
from Wuliangye Yibin Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (the “Wuliangye Group”).
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Since Wuliangye Group is the largest supplier of the Group,
the business and results of operations of the Group reply
on, among other things, the continued and constant supply
of the products from Wuliangye Group and the continued
appointment of the Group as the exclusive distributor of
certain products by Wuliangye Group.
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Nature

=1

Regulatory decisions and changes in
the legal and regulatory environment
in the countries in which we operate
could materially and adversely affect our

business activities

BAIELEBAERRNEEREARE
RMEERFENBEAHRMNEEED
ELXBATHNEZE -

We cannot control the quality of the

products we distribute
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Bond principal to be renewed/settled
within 12 months
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We operate in a highly regulated industry environment.
Our business is subject to extensive regulatory requirements
regarding production, distribution, marketing, advertising
and labeling in various countries into which we distribute
our products. Regulatory decisions or changes in the legal
environments in these areas may have material and adverse
impacts to our business.
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As a distributor, we cannot control the quality of the products
we distribute. Any contaminant in those raw materials or
defects in the distillation or fermentation processes could
lead to inferior quality and/or illness among or injury to our
consumers and may result in reduced sales of the affected

brand(s) or all of our brand(s).
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Within 12 months from the date of this annual report,
the total principal amount of corporate bonds renewable/
repayable is approximately HK$390,800,000.

The Company will continue to negotiate with the other major
bondholders for bond renewable or maturity date extension

arrangements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
69 to 97, the Company has complied with the code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules throughout the Financial Year.

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing
in securities of the Company by the Directors. The Company,
having made specific enquiries to all Directors, has ensured that
all Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required
standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code during the

Financial Year.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent of the management of the Company and are
free from any relationship that could materially interfere with
the exercise of their independent judgments for the Financial

Year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up to the date of approving
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has renewed
certain bond payables with an aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$47.2 million and secured a new interest-
bearing bank borrowings of approximately HK$16.5 million with
maturity date on 23 April 2022.

SUBHCIFNCGY " ORPUBLIC FECAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float pursuant to
the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the Group’s
annual results for the Financial Year and provided advice and
comments thereon.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited had been appointed as the
external auditor of the Company by the Shareholders at the
2020 annual general meeting of the Company. On 30 October
2020, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited had resigned as the
auditor of the Group. Mazars CPA Limited was appointed as the
auditor of the Group with effect from 30 October 2020 to fill
the vacancy following the resignation of SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited.

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
were audited by Mazars CPA Limited who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting and,

being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Liang Guoxing

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong

28 June 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed
to high standards of corporate governance and business
ethics. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company believes that good corporate governance
and business ethics are essential for achieving sustainable
development, building investors’ confidence and protecting
and enhancing interests of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”).

In pursuit of good and high standards of corporate
governance, the Board reviews the corporate governance
principles and practices of the Company from time to time
in order to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders
and to comply with the increasing stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in

corporate governance.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Save as disclosed below, the Company has applied the
principles and complied with the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) in the Corporate Governance Code (the”Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout the
year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Financial Year”).

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed

by the same individual.

TEER®E

B
REEEZERARAB([ARA] - ERH
MEBARMREIAEE] BN THKFR
TEELBRARER ARAER(EE])
e((E=2g)HEGE RENEEERARAE
B RERRERR EUREEHAX
R A O IA RREMEE T AR BRE (TR
R REIERIR -

1
B

REBRRFMEKENCEER EF
Rigs AR AN EEE AR KR TR - LA
IRRE T HETENHENRETHBR
VEEERE  WEITE S HBRE M
BB G ©

f

W R

EREBER
BEXHRBEN ARARBE-T-—F

ZA=1t-BUEFE(MBRFEEA—ER
REEBMARGMARRE (B FEH
EmHRAN(T EmRRD M St mprsm bz
EOR ST RI (57 AL 2 R B K2 38 <7 <7 Bl {5k XX
(F=sFREX L) ©

RIEST ARSI A 2116 - 7 BITRARE A
AERERS W AEH— ARKRE -

i

REEBEBZEZRERA

—E--F5H




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Mr. Liang Guoxing currently serves as the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company. The Board
believes that such arrangement is in the best interest of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole since Mr.
Liang Guoxing has substantial experience in sales of Chinese
liguor in the PRC market and can strengthen the Group’
sales and marketing capabilities. Notwithstanding the above,
the Board meets regularly to consider matters relating to
business operations of the Group. The Board is of the view
that this arrangement will not impair the balance of power
and authority of the Board and the executive management
of the Company. The effectiveness of corporate planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions

will not be affected.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is in charge of providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Group. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith, with due diligence
and care, and in the best interests of the Group and the
Shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives
and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and
financial performance and reviews the corporate governance
standard of the Group. It also decides on matters such
as annual and interim results, connected and notifiable
transactions, Directors’ appointments or re-appointments,
and dividend and accounting policies. The Board delegates

the day-to-day operations of the Group to the management.
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The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals and holds additional
meetings as and when the Board thinks fit. All Directors
have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. At least 14-days formal notice would be
given before each regular meeting and reasonable notices
are given for all other ad hoc meetings, via the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”), to
the Directors and the Board procedures are in compliance
with the relevant rules and regulations. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of

communication.

All minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
Committees (as defined hereinafter) are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available for inspection by any

Director at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

The Company Secretary is striving to update all Directors
on the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and

maintain good corporate governance practice.

Each newly appointed Director is offered training on key
areas of business operations of the Group. They are offered
training materials that set out the duties and responsibilities
of Directors under the Listing Rules, related ordinances
and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong. The
Company also provides professional development and
training courses to the Directors as well as the Company
Secretary to continually update their relevant skills and

knowledge.
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The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other relationships with each other. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing his
independence with regard to the independence criteria
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and as at the date
of this report, the Company still considers them to be

independent.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Company has adopted the practice to provide relevant
materials to all Directors relating to the matters brought
before the meetings at least three days before the meetings

to ensure that they are given sufficient review time.

The Company Secretary and the chief financial officer of the
Company, who is also an executive Director, attended all the
Board meetings and Board Committee meetings to advise on
corporate governance, statutory compliance and accounting

and financial matters, as appropriate.

All the Directors will be provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, and, upon reasonable request,
the Directors will be able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses. A procedure for the Directors to seek independent

professional advice was established in January 2010.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently has six Directors: two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent

non-executive Directors.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to

34 of this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the benefits of board diversity and
endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
balance and level of skills, experience and perspectives

required to support the execution of its business strategies.

The Board has revised and adopted a board diversity policy
("Board Diversity Policy”) on 15 February 2019 which sets
out its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company would
consider a range of diversity perspectives, including but

not limited to the Directors’ gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience in the
industry as preferential factors, taking into account the
Company’s own business model and special features of the

industry.

The Board has set measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The
nomination committee of the Company will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued

effectiveness.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD EEERE
The Board has delegated various responsibilities to certain EESEBREREDRTEESETBET
Board committees including the audit committee (the”Audit Z8€ BREAQRFIZERZES ([BHRE

Lzoz 110oday |enuuy
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Committee”), the compliance committee (the”Compliance BEe|)  ARZES([EREET]) &F
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination ZEe([REZEC]) RFMNEZE D ([ Z B
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the ZEg|)(mEAIESgLEE]) -

“Remuneration Committee”) (collectively, the “Board

Committees”) of the Company.

=ﬂ xS

BOARD COMMITTEES EEeLEg

= 1
The responsibilities and activities of each of the Board EEEELZEERNMRFECBE RGN
Committees during the Financial Year are as follows. The T - EFEELEENEERESERSHH
written terms of reference of the Board Committees are SFRIMES (0 A ) I AT B 2N 22 &) 48 b I Bk 32 B

in line with the respective Code Provisions (if any) and My EER] -
are available on the Company’s website and the Stock

Exchange’s website.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and has
the authority to raise questions regarding the resignation or
dismissal of the auditor, reviewing of the Group’s financial
information and overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
systems, internal control procedures and risk management
frameworks. It is also responsible for reviewing the interim
and final results of the Group prior to recommending them

to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors including Mr. Hung Sui Kwan,
who is a qualified accountant with extensive experience in
financial reporting and controls, Mr. Ma Lishan and Dr. Lee
Kwok Keung Edward. Mr. Hung Sui Kwan is the chairman of

the Audit Committee.

The work performed by the Audit Committee for the

Financial Year, among others, is summarised below:

a) reviewed with the external auditor the annual results
and audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Financial Year and the interim results
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September
2020 together with senior management’s response to
the accounting issues and major findings in the course

of audit/review;

b) reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting

function;
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reviewed the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group to ensure that the
transactions had been conducted on normal
commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course
of the business of the Group and that the terms and
annual caps are fair and reasonable and in the interest

of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole;

d) reviewed with the senior management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed the auditing, risk management and internal
controls and financial reporting matters of the Group;

and

e) reviewed the audit fees proposal and terms of
engagement of the external auditor of the Group for

the Financial Year.

At the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
reviewed the scope, quality and effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reported

the conclusions of the review to the Board.

During the Financial Year, the Board has not taken any
view that is different from that of the Audit Committee
nor rejected any recommendation proposed by the Audit

Committee.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited results of the
Group for the Financial Year with the management and the
Company’s external auditor and recommended its adoption
by the Board.
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Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee is responsible for oversight of
the Company's compliance with the legal and regulatory
requirements of its business operations, including but not
limited to the Listing Rules, as well as compliance with
its code of conduct and/or business ethics policies and
prevailing corporate governance practices and standards.
The Compliance Committee has reviewed the confirmation
given by Mr. Liang Guoxing and Yinji Investments Limited
of their compliance with the deed of non-competition
undertaking as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 March 2009.

The Compliance Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Hung
Sui Kwan, Mr. Ma Lishan and Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward
and one executive Director, Ms. Chen Xiaoxu. Mr. Hung Sui

Kwan is the chairman of the Compliance Committee.

During the Financial Year, among others, the Compliance

Committee reviewed the following:

a) the compliance reports prepared by the Risk
Management and Internal Control Department of the
Group (the “RM&IC" Department”) together with the

senior management and make comments thereon;

b) the improvement measures taken by the management

to enhance the compliance procedures;

c¢) the Company’s policies and practices on corporate

governance and make recommendations to the Board;

d) the training and continuous professional development

records reported by the Directors;

TEER®E

AlER - 6HZESEEHRBEELE R
Yinji Investments Limited 5t/ 1TA AR HE &
TETAF=ZA=THNBRERMAEED
N5 S R R SRR T B 2 FERR K o

EREESEABM=-EBYINTEETER
Himim kL B EERFTEBEL - A
R—R2HTESTREB L LTAK - Hinihk
EREREREEER -

ERZEENVREEAE (EF %) FH
PR

a) HESRERE-RBMARAEENER
B R REREE R AR P (b B 22 I A &R

b) EEERINRERIEFARERAIER
It

0 ARFEEFEATEABEKRERNA
RAEEGRHER

O EREEREMEYRSEEERRE

T- 55 R

REEEZRER QA




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREREE

D
~

the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the announcements/report of interim
and annual results of the Company and the Corporate
Governance Report; and

f)  the annual confirmation from Mr. Liang Guoxing
and Yinji Investments Limited. Details of the annual
confirmation are set out in the paragraphs headed

“Non-competition Undertaking” on page 89.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management of the Company and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedures for developing

remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Hung
Sui Kwan, Mr. Ma Lishan, Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward, and
two executive Directors including Mr. Liang Guoxing and
Ms. Chen Xiaoxu. Mr. Hung Sui Kwan is the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

In determining emoluments payable to the Directors,
the Remuneration Committee considers factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, the commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and desirability of

performance-based remuneration.

During the Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration package of an executive Director
and an independent non-executive Director and made

recommendations to the Board.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has a majority of independent
non-executive Directors. Currently, the Nomination
Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors including Mr. Hung Sui Kwan, Mr. Ma Lishan, Dr.
Lee Kwok Keung Edward and one executive Director, Mr.
Liang Guoxing. Mr. Hung Sui Kwan is the Chairman of the

Nomination Committee.

The function of the Nomination Committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on appointments of the
Directors, so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and

transparent.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include but

are not limited to the following:

a)  to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations to the
Board on any proposed changes to complement the

Company's corporate strategies;

b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated

for directorships;

) to assess the independence of independent non-

executive Directors;

d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointments or re-appointments of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the

chairman and the chief executive officer;
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to monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy and review such policy from time to time, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy;

and

to do any such things to enable the Nomination
Committee to discharge its powers and functions

conferred on it by the Board.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee for the

Financial Year, is set out below:

(a)

assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors;

reviewed the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
made recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to complement the Company’s corporate

strategies;

approved and recommend the renewal of service
contracts of (i) Ms. Chen Xiaoxu as executive Director;
and (ii) Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward as independent

non-executive Director; and

recommended the re-election of Mr. Hung Sui Kwan
and Mr. Ma Lishan as independent non-executive

Directors.
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Nomination Policy
The Board adopted a nomination policy on 15 February

2019. Details of the policy are as following:

1. Objectives
The Nomination Committee makes recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment

of Directors, and succession planning for Directors.

2. Summary of Selection Criteria
When making recommendations regarding the
appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board
or re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation the
following in assessing the suitability of the proposed

candidate:
(a) Reputation for integrity;

(b)  Accomplishment, experience and reputation in

the relevant industry and other relevant sectors;

(c)  Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest

and attention to the Company’s business;

(d) Diversity in all aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or

otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) The ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s

SUCCESss;
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(f)  Compliance with the criteria of independence
as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the
appointment of an independent non-executive

Director; and

(g) Any other relevant factors as may be determined
by the Committee or the Board from time to

time.

Dividend Policy

This dividend policy sets forth the Company’s approach
when considering the payment of dividends and to
allow shareholders of the Company to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the

future growth of the Group.

The Company may consider the declaring and paying
dividends to the shareholders of the Company provided
that the Group records profits and that the declaration and
payment of dividends does not affect the normal operations

of the Group.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into
account, inter alia:

i the general financial condition of the Group;

ii.  capital and debt level of the Group;

iii. future cash requirements and availability for business

operations, business strategies and future development

needs;
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iv. any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group's lenders;
V. the general market conditions; and
vi. any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and any other applicable laws, rule and
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.
The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by
the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance
that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific

periods.

Corporate governance functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions of the Company. The Board has
reviewed this corporate governance functions and to ensure

compliance with the Listing Rules.
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The attendance of each Director for the Board meetings and TRV SEESRVWBEECESTEEEZR
the Board Committee meetings held during the Financial EECZEEEENLEEBN

Year, is set out in the following table:

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

BHEz8H/QERERZEE
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination ~ Compliance General
Directors Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
g B8 BNZEe HMZEEE RAZE®  ARZEe  RREFAS
Executive Directors HrES
Mr. Liang Guoxing (Chairman  2BE% 4 (ZERTHEH)
and Chief Executive Officer) 14/14 N/A T A 2 23 N/A T E 01
Ms. Chen Xiaoxu BRERT (£75EE)
(Chief Financial Officer) 1314 NAZTER A2 NATER 22 22
Non-Executive Director ~ FH{TES
Mr. Wu Jie Si REBLE 10114 N/A RiEF N/A TR N/A TE N/A TEF 2
Independent Non- BUFHTES
Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Sui Kwan iy 11/14 44 Wl 33 N 12
Mr. Ma Lishan vl : 4 114 44 0N 33 n 0

Dr. Lee Kwok Keung Edward ZE#EL 10/14 44 ) 33 Wy 11
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Through continuous professional development, the Directors
are kept informed on a periodic basis of major changes that
may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules

and regulations.

All the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development and the latest development to
refresh their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties
and responsibilities as Directors of the Company. Directors
are requested to provide the Company with their respective
training record pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5. According
to the records maintained by the Company, during the
Financial Year, the Directors participated in continuous
professional development by (i) attending external seminars,
training courses, conferences and programs; or (ii) reading
relevant materials and updates, relating to corporate

governance practices, directors’ duties, Listing Rules,

relevant laws and regulations, and business development of

the baijiu industry.
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The individual training record of each Director received for ~ TXHAE ARG MKESEZTRURFEE
the Financial Year is summarised below: Z B A5 3 EE 8% -

Type of continuous professional development
RESERR2ER
attending internal

briefings and external

seminars, training courses, reading relevant

Name of Directors conferences and programs materials and updates
SHEHARHHER
HREPUWHE - MEABERR
Espns BHRE SERRE BAHR
Executive Directors HITES
Liang Guoxing 28 H — v/
Chen Xiaoxu BREESE v v
Non-executive Director FHTES
Wu Jie Si B R v v
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors

Hung Sui Kwan 3 v v
Ma Lishan SRVl v v/
Lee Kwok Keung Edward ENCIE v v
DIRECTORS'S AND OFFICER'S INSURANCE EERSRAERE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in AAREREEETRERABIRAYE ZE
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and BITE M ZBEE EARBIRE o

officers.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF

DIRECTORS

A Director may be appointed either by the Shareholders in a
general meeting or by the Board upon the recommendation
from the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee will take into consideration criteria such
as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment in
appointment of new Directors. All candidates must also
meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of
the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as
independent non-executive Director should also meet the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Board
in this report, during the Financial Year, the
3.10(2) and

3.10A of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a

Composition”

Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1),

sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors
and at least one of the independent non-executive Directors
must have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

All Directors, including the non-executive Directors, are
appointed for a fixed term of three years. They are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. New Directors appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy during any year are required to
retire and submit themselves for election at the first general
meeting immediately following their appointments. Further,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) are required to retire from office by rotation and every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general

meeting at least once every three years.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the Financial
Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) for the Financial Year by band is

set out below:

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EERSREEENME
EFRPRFEOMSHERRA R

FMIEES ©

REBETRIA TR EBASK SREEE
KRB (BEERIIN R BFENFEHSIRE
BT

Number of individuals

g E (GExT) AB
0 to 500,000 0%500,000 1
500,000 to 1,000,000 500,000% 1,000,000 4

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the standards set out in the Model
Code during the Financial Year.

The Company has adopted written guidelines, “Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees”, on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities
transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in

possession of inside information of the Company.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company has been confirmed by Mr. Liang Guoxing and
Yinji Investments Limited that (i) each of them has complied
with the undertaking contained in the deed of non-
competition undertaking dated 25 March 2009 executed
by them in favour of the Group; and (ii) each of them and/
or their respective associates is not offered or becomes
aware of any new project or business opportunity directly or
indirectly to engage or becomes interested in any business
carried on by any member of the Group from time to time
or in which any member of the Group is engaged or has

invested or is otherwise involved in.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks that the
Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.
The Board supervises the management of the Company
to establish and maintain appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
systems, among others, include risk management process to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks and to resolve

material internal control defects, if any.

The Board is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring
the effectiveness of the systems on an ongoing basis. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
and corporate governance roles in the Group's financial,
operational, compliance, risk management and internal
controls, and the resourcing of the finance and internal audit

functions.
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The Group has employed its own risk management and
internal control staff who are responsible to the Audit
Committee, to perform regular and systematic reviews of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
The reviews provide reasonable assurance that the internal
control system continues to operate satisfactorily and
effectively within the Group and internally. Internal control
staff prepare reports on a regular basis to review and assess
risks and discuss solutions with the management of the
Company to address material internal control defects, if any,
including any improvement relevant to a given year. Results
of such reports and discussions are organized with ratings
of each risk and written response plans. The reports are
presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their

review.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and
established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed. The
systems and internal controls can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate

the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The management is responsible for supervising enterprise
risk management works and reviewing significant aspects
of risk management of the Group. The operating units of
the Group, as risk bearers, identify, evaluate, mitigate and
monitor their own risks, and report such risk management
activities to the RM&IC Department during the period in
which the Group prepares its interim reports and annual
reports. The RM&IC Department assesses and discuss
with the management of the Company at each regularly

scheduled meeting.
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The RM&IC Department of the Group reports to the Audit
Committee or the Board at each regular meeting of the
Audit Committee or Board, the results of their works during
the preceding period pertaining to the adequacy and
effectiveness of internal controls, including but not limited
to, identifying any failures in implementing any internal
control systems or material weaknesses in those systems (if

any).

The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems and the effectiveness of such systems for
the Financial Year and considers such systems are effective
and adequate, also confirmed by the management of Group
to the Board. The Board further considers that (i) there was
no material issue relating to the internal controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Group; and (ii) there were
adequate resources, staff with appropriate qualifications,

experience and trainings.

For the procedures relating to the handling and publishing
of inside information, the management of the Group
is responsible for assessing the potential impact of any
significant urgent situations on the share price of the
Company and its transaction volume, and reports to
the Board so that the Board determines whether such
information is considered as inside information and to
disclose as soon as practicable in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations. The Board considers that there are
adequate and effective compliance procedures and controls

in this area.
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DIRECTORS" AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS'
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements of each financial period, which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the financial performance and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the financial statements of the Group
for the Financial Year, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and have applied them consistently,
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards which
are pertinent to its operations and relevant to the financial
statements, made judgments and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on the

going concern basis.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the Financial Year which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and

applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Group on the financial statements of the Group are set out

on pages 98 to 111 of this annual report.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has the
ability to continue as a going concern. Your attention is also
drawn to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements

on pages 121 to 124 of this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited had been appointed as the
external auditor of the Company by the Shareholders at
the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company. On 30
October 2020, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited had resigned
as the auditor of the Group. Mazars CPA Limited was
appointed as the auditor of the Group with effect from 30
October 2020 to fill the vacancy following the resignation
of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited. The total fees paid/payable
to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and Mazars CPA Limited
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the

Group were as follows:

TEER®E
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For the year ended
31 March 2020

For the year ended
31 March 2021

BE-2--—F HE_Z-_TF

=A=+-AH =A=+-"H

LEE HFE

HK$ HK$

Type of services REES BT BT
Audit services ZH R 1,730,000 2,080,000
Non-audit services FEZE RS 650,000 850,000
Total Mt 2,380,000 2,930,000

The non-audit services represented by the interim review fee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters. During the Financial Year, the Company Secretary
has complied with the professional training requirements

under the Code.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company endeavours to maintain a high level of
transparency in communication with the Shareholders
and investors in general. The various formal channels via
which the Company communicates with its Shareholders
include interim and annual reports, information on the
Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s websites, and general

meetings.

The Company holds press and analysts conferences from
time to time at which the executive Directors and senior
management of the Group are available to answer questions
regarding the performance of the Group. The Company also
arranged analysts’ briefings and road shows after its annual

and interim results announcements.

SHAREHOLDERS" RIGHTS

The Company recognises its responsibility to look after the

interests of the Shareholders.

A written Shareholders Communication Policy approved by

the Board is available on the Company’s website.

All notice of general meetings despatched by the Company
to the Shareholders have been sent in the case of annual
general meeting at least 20 clear business days before the
meeting and in the case of extraordinary general meetings
(an "EGM") at least 10 clear business days before such
meetings. Shareholders are encouraged by the Company to
attend the Company’s general meetings where the chairman
of the Board, the Directors including the chairman of the
audit committee and the external auditor are available to
answer questions. Separate resolutions are proposed at the

general meetings on each substantially separate issue.
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The Company is aware of its obligations under the Listing
Rules in relation to the disclosure of inside information
and has established procedures to ensure that all
communications with the public, including the investment
community and the media, are fair, and that material non-

public information is not disseminated on a selection basis.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company can deposit a written
requisition to convene an EGM at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong at the address stated on page 6
of this annual report for the attention of the Company
Secretary. The same procedure also applies to any proposal

to be tabled at general meetings for adoption.

The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting
together with proposals to be put forward at such meeting,
signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more

of those Shareholders.

The requisition will be verified with the Company’s share
registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask
the Board of the Company to convene an EGM after the
deposit of such requisition by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered Shareholders. Such EGM shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order,
the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this outcome

and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

TEER®E

ARAAAREBELETRUNEHEEEREARE
HEFTHEONEME WETZEFUBERER
FL(BREEANELE) N —NEBRRAF
AR EEANFRRERZEFEEN -

EAHETDRARBHABRAN (HERAR
ABRRAGRREN) + 0 — 2 EF—RHIA
FHRR - AIAAARRRZBEE@MRELR (b
HERANERNFOR) BHEEER - LB
KEBRBRERNAEG  FEARAWERK
HA-HREFTEARERRAEG LREZ
AR R (R 2E -

ZEEERVEIHEZNAENE LIEE2R
ZZEMIHARKREEE A OHRZ
DR N HEFAAK - 80 X4 AH
—RAZRBEBREE

ZERBEHARBBRDBEFECLEZE
FEBERERERBRZERTARESF  AF
WERBERARREZTERBEEIEERAE
BECKRREFLANDAEN KMEAEEHEE
KMBRBRENAE - ZBRBHIASE
REZ2ZEBREOMBEARNRT -HR &
RZBERZEBRAETERERF  LERKE
BAEBERRMARR® TS REERM AR
BRRFERIKRE °

5

REEBEZEZRAER2

—E--F5H




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREREE

If within twenty-one days of the deposit of a requisition
which is proper and in order, the Board fails to proceed to
convene an EGM, the requisitionist(s) may convene an EGM,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board to convene the EGM

shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to
the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with contact information
of the Shareholder(s) and deposited at the head office of
the Company in Hong Kong at the address stated on page
6 of this annual report for the attention of the Company

Secretary.

The procedures for a Shareholder to propose a

person for election as a director of the Company
A Shareholder may propose a person for election as a
director of the Company at the general meeting of the
Company by lodging the following documents at the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong at the address stated
on page 6 of this annual report for the attention of the

Company Secretary:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a director of the Company in

which the following information should be included:

(a) the biographical details of that person as required
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and

(b) the contact details of the proposing Shareholder

and that person.

2. a notice in writing by that person of his willingness to

be elected as a director of the Company.
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Such notice shall be lodged at least seven clear days
before the date of the general meeting and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. If the
notice is received less than fourteen clear days and ten clear
business days prior to the date of such general meeting, the
Company will need to consider the adjournment of such
general meeting in order to give the Shareholders sufficient

notice of the proposal.

The Company did not make any changes to its constitutional

document during the Financial Year.
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mazars
hOH & K

To the shareholders of
SILVER BASE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 112 to 264, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MAZARS CPA LIMITED

FERR (BB ETMEEMERLA
42nd Floor, Central Plaza,

18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
BB RBTEEE18HPIRELA2E

Tel T 5%: (852) 2909 5555

Fax {2 E: (852) 2810 0032

Eamil E#: info@mazars.hk

Website #811k: www.mazars.hk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZBERE

R EZXSIA

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FAREZEEERBEEENEEAE  RA
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the HARIMAHMBHRRZBEZZAEE S
consolidated financial statements of the current period. Ho ZEZHREETENERERBAHYK
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit BRERBAZEAKEE  BEESTEHZSE

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and FEEHREBHNESR -

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BREKRSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBERNNEEBRERSE

Valuation of inventories

FEIGE

FRHE G EIRE M 23817

Refer to notes 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there
was a write-down of inventories amounted to
approximately HK$3,779,000 was recognised in
profit or loss. As at 31 March 2021, the carrying
amounts of inventories (net of allowance of
inventories of approximately HK$133,389,000) of
approximately HK$185,660,000 which represented
approximately 9.0% of the Group’s total current
assets and approximately 8.0% of the Group's total
assets. The determination of net realisable value
of inventories was based on the current market
conditions and historical experience of selling
similar products.
REBE_T_—S=-A=+T—BHLLEE FEM
B AI3,779,000E tE EBAETHR - R_FT - —
FZ=A=+—B FEZ2REEHNEEERHE
#)133,389,000/% 7T) #) /185,660,000 7T - 18 &
R EEERFEEREBELI.0%MEER ﬁ%
BEREBEINS 0% FEZAERFEIIREER

N HEREER I BEKRMET -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

FBREziERF S (EREH)

3 obtaining an understanding of how allowance
on inventories is assessed and estimated by
management;

THRERENERGAFERB 2N

° testing the ageing analysis of the inventories,

on a sample basis, to the source documents;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
REERSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNMEEREELREE

Valuation of inventories (continued)

FEGE (&)

We identified the valuation of inventories as a
key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance combined with the use of judgements
and estimates by management in estimating the
allowance for inventories.

HREBEBRIEZN  UAREREMFIFERE
g Rz HE bt BESHFEEESR RBR
BEZER -

discussing with management and challenging
on the basis of determining the net realisable
value and evaluating and assessing the
condition and marketability of the inventories,
on a sample basis; and

HERENmRERAIZRFECETELEY
MEFEMFEFE 2R LT HREE R

assessing the sufficiency of allowance
on potential obsolete and slow-moving
inventories made by management where the
estimated net realisable value is lower than
the cost with reference to the latest selling
price and market selling price, on a sample
basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
BRERSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNMEEREEREE

Recoverability of trade and bills receivables

FEWE 5 SRR FE 12 o e

Refer to notes 3 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

FERE G BEIRENEIR19

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s trade and
bills receivables (net of loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL") of approximately
HK$316,961,000) amounted to approximately
HK$16,889,000. For the year ended 31 March
2021, the Group recognised net ECL of
approximately HK$74,552,000 for the trade and
bills receivables.

RZZEZ—F=A=+—H  BE5EZEKEFIX
BERENER (NEEREEEE ((RAGEEER]D
2 B R #1316,961,000% 7T ) 4 416,889,000/
T BE_T-_—F=A=+—HILFE  EXH
HREKREFFRAREREEEABREESR TR
#774,552,000% 7T °

The Group applied the simplified approach to
calculate the ECL based on historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information,
including the general economic conditions of the
industry in which the debtors operate.
EEERBBECFEFERLRLAMELEEHN (WE
BALEMETEIBRBEENRR) - IABLRE
FREBHEEEE -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

BEEZHERERERFS (EHREH)

o obtaining an understanding of the Group’s
credit risk management and practices
and assessing the Group’s ECL policy
in accordance with the requirements of
applicable accounting standards;

TR EREZEERBREERRER  WAREE
AR BEECTEMEEBELCE

o assessing and challenging the reasonableness of
ECL recognised by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
such as checking the accuracy of the ageing
categories of trade and bill receivables against
relevant supporting documents, on a sample
basis;
FRBEEERERNERS @G 2 &R FTE
NERMERRMEEERERSSRE iR
1548 B RE B S A i A B W B 5 R IR I B R
SEERIREAN  EREE

o for individually assessed ECL, assessing the
estimated loss rates with reference to the
individual customer’s historical observed
default rates and checking the settlement
history and changes in the forward-looking
information, on a sample basis;
HRERERF G2 EREEBRR  82Z @5
BEPZAEMBRENRTIRMEABREE - I
MBS E D RATE AR

REEEZRER QA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
REEREHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNTEEBREXRSE

Recoverability of trade and bills receivables (continued)

FBEWE S EARENFEZ 7T E M ()

We identified the recoverability of trade and bill
receivables as a key audit matter because of the
significance of the ECL. Furthermore, a high level of
management judgement is required in assessing the
loss allowance for ECL on trade and bill receivables.
HRTEHREEBRCEZN  ESHEKE S KA
NEWRE 2 AT BRI AR EZEIR - 1S -
REWEZESREREBRREZ BREEBENGE
BRESRAEE LF2EERE ML HIE -

o testing subsequent settlements, of trade
and bill receivables to bank remittance, on a
sample basis; and
MEAFARKESRIARERRERREE R
RITHEREER - &

o checking the calculation of ECL based on
the methodology adopted by the Group
and adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in
relation to credit risk of the Group in the
consolidated financial statements.

BERE ESREMKARETEZEBEE
BE - AREHMBERRA SEEREEAE
HEERBIEKERERR °




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT EliE

B ZBERE

EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
BREREHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNTEEBEREXRSE

Impairment assessment of deposits paid to suppliers

FREBL N ZEEZBETE

Refer to note 3 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements

FLEE G B IHER R E38K20

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s deposits paid to
suppliers (net of impairment loss of approximately
HK$32,013,000) amounted to approximately
HK$750,811,000, which represented approximately
32.5% of the Group’s total assets.
R-ZZE_—F=A=+—H  BEEERAHER
XAz ®Re (B RE KB £32,013,000% )
#)750,811,0008 T  HERN BEEBEHLEELN
32.5% °

Management performed impairment assessment
of deposits paid to suppliers by considering the
recoverable amount based on the value of the
collaterals (if any), the business relationship
with the suppliers and the background and
creditworthiness of the suppliers. Most of these
assessments involved high level of management
judgement and estimation.
EEREEEMRMERAXN RS ETRENG 2
BrRRE S ER DREERR(0E) 2BE - BH
BRAZEBHERUALRHERERREE - ZFHGE
RZERBRREE 2 E T EHE R AEET -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

BEZHREZEFR (HPEHE):

° obtaining an understanding of how
impairment assessment policy on deposits
paid to customers in accordance with the
requirements of applicable accounting
standards;

TEREBEERSEN ZRERREERE
2R ETRERN G2 BUE

o assessing the application of impairment
methodology, and checking the assumptions
and parameters to external data sources
where available, on a sample basis;

WM ERETEZER - YR A{TRRESN
MAEBERR 2RI RZ2E

5
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
REERSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNMEEREELREE

Impairment assessment of deposits paid to suppliers (continued)

I RER X2 &% 26 EFE ()

We have identified the impairment assessment of
deposits paid to suppliers as a key audit matter
because of the significance of the balance and
the subjective judgements were made by the
management over assessing the recoverable
amount of deposits paid to suppliers.
HRBEREHRZEEN  BERERFTEREER
XffzkezAREeERELETHALE  FFK
MHERX N2 EE 2 RET GRS ERERS
I8 ©

o assessing and challenging the reasonableness
in the measurement of recoverable amount
and also the current financial conditions of
the suppliers, based on historical experience,
value of collaterals (if any) and the subsequent
utilisation of the deposits, etc., on a sample
basis; and
REBELR ARAREE(WAE) Mre 2%
BRRERER WMEAERERATKDEEZ
AEARHERRREMBEMRR K

o checking the accuracy of the calculation
of recoverable amount based on the
methodology adopted by the Group.
BERE ESRERAFEFTEZATKDERE
2 AETEE -




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
BRERSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNMEEREEREE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (together the

“Non-current Assets”)

WE BERIEURCEHEEE (B FARBEE]) 2B ETE

Refer to notes 3, 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements

FLHEHYBEIRAMNE3 > 13814

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$11,930,000
and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$58,510,000, respectively, which together
represented approximately 29.4% of the Group's
total non-current assets.
MRZEBE-Z—F=A=+—H  EXENVE KF

RIEAREREEED RI#) /511,930,000 7T &
58,510,000/ 7L & HEERN BEEEIFERDHEE
BIEH29.4% °

In view of operating loss incurred during the recent
years, the management identified the existence of
impairment indications on the Non-current Assets.
The management assess the value-in-use of the
Non-current Assets, which is determined based
on the recoverable amount of the respective cash
generating units (“CGUs"”) to which the Non-
current Assets relate. The impairment assessment
involves the management’s estimates in certain
areas including the discount rate and the underlying
cash flow projection based on the future market
supply and demand conditions. Any changes in the
management’s estimates may result in significant
financial impact to the Group.

ENOFRBERLERE  EREEBERRIERDEE
FHERBENR - ERENEIERBDEEZERAEE "
EREEDNEREFRGEERBCRBECELE
L((ReELSEM]) 2T KBS ERTE - MEFE
BREBEBHE TR G BREBRXLRER
ARMHEHJARZEABARSRETRR - EEEM
St EAEHngel SEEERKERUBEE -

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

BEZHRRECEFR (HPEE)

° inquiring the management, understanding
and evaluating the control on their
determination of impairment indications
and their method used for the impairment
assessment of the Non-current Assets;
MEREEHR  THREAHEEYEERETR
G RIEREEERE A TA

° understanding and challenging the
management’s methodology adopted on the
estimation of recoverable amount of the
relevant CGUs and the key inputs used, and
assessing whether they are reasonable and
supportable;
THREEREEEN A HBRSELELA
WESRERMEMN AT ERAAEZEH A
B UHHERGAERESEEEY R

° comparing cash flow projections to
supporting evidence, such as approved
budgets, and evaluating the reasonableness
of these budgets with reference to the past
performance and our knowledge of the
business;

HReMERAEZHEE (NMEHEEE
ETHE WREBRARBREEHER 2T

o AR ERERSAE

REEEZRER QA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EREZSEIR (F)

Key Audit Matter
REERSHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENERNMEEREELREE

“Non-current Assets”) (continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (together the

WE BERREURCEHEEE (HRBIHFREBEE]) 2B EFL(E)

We have identified the impairment of the Non-
current Assets as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the Group’s Non-current Assets in
the context of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, combined with the judgements and
estimates involved in the management'’s impairment
assessment of the Non-current Assets.

HY ESEERDEEY ESESHMBHRE
ZEZH  MEEREHIERDEELETRENG
R Rz #IE R st BEFERERDEEZRE
Bl REREZEE -

As set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management concluded that the
recoverable amount of the CGU was higher than
its carrying value and no impairment provision was
required for the current year.

BNE T BREME1AE  BEERARREE
ABEuzAImkeRSRHEREE Bt AFEE
HIELRERME

o performing a sensitivity analysis for the key
assumptions, such as projected revenue and
evaluating the reasonableness of key inputs
and assumptions used by the management,
including discount rate;

YRS REKR (TERI ) ETTBURE DT -
FHEEEE M AR E A SR RRR (@%95
RE)REREE

o assessing the reasonableness of the
management’s impairment assessment of the
Non-current Assets in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and
BRERTEAEN ZRENEEEEE IR
BEETZRETEERAE &

o considering the adequacy of the Group’'s
disclosure in respect of the impairment
assessment.

ZR BEEBEARREFGEIBEERERRE




OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the 2021 annual report of the
Company but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
If, based

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is

or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBERE
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for

overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagements, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

==}
=

BEARAEBERERERGHTH
WRAARENEE(E)

EREEHMEHRRE X BERREEEEN
ff BERERERKEZREN YEEEBR
THRERSECLEEHZEE  URERRF
BRERSHER KB BERAEFAE
# BEXEEBRIFLEE  SHEEME
BRZBRITE-

BEREZ P HEREBE -

¥ B B B O B S AR A R
ENEME

BEENET RUYEBAHMBHREREST
FHEARHFFHRERMER Z EMERER
ARG EERE AMERBEHEZERE
ERER ETEREBLARBREESEE
REOZHBENRE @ Rt 2N AREL EE A
BR - BEFETERAHmEANT REMHAA
TR ESEREEARE-

EERBRFKFZARE  BTRERBRR
FRBEREAETHNEZERERAENER
BRA - 58 SR BR AL AT DA f BRAF sk AR 5l #E - 41
RIZ 6 1% 8 HA 1 88 3R R 18 Y =k P 48 AR 2R A]
X EAHMBHRREMEMEL KB
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the

Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBERE
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

RBEN R E RS
EHNEME (G&E)

BEERER
B BEAERZEREZTR BRES
HAR R R A

1 B 7% 3R 3% 8 &
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e WARBAG 2 EREE R
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or

safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law and regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 June 2021

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang
Practising Certificate number: PO5510

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBERE

RBE S E RS
EHEE ()

O B 75 ¥ 2% 28 &

BEENMAEREBRRER FHABZFETA
BB ARBRENR  TRREER
FMEREMKAREYEETFH I LR
MEAEIR - AR REREBERINTE X
Bz e (HEm) -

REERERBRZEEMS  BFEEMWL
$E%%&$%AﬁWWW%Z%E%EE

CEAMEXEREZEE - BEREE
ﬁ¢$m‘&$$ﬁ BRIERBRARA A FF
HBEGERELAREE  HEZRKRERN
ERAT EREAEEHRESERET BERE
FEMEKRZBEAERBEEBEELNR

BHE BERTREWLSER FERSF
BBZEE -

hERE (BB BHOEEFARAT
HEBHAT

&% —EB-—FXA=T/NR

HEARNBYZBMBENEAERR

ENC D

WMEFZEMHES - P05510

A

REEEZRER QA

e LT




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

P] CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
aEHERR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—EZ—F —T-THF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fff 5 FHET FAT
Revenue U 2 5 938,131 1,630,977
Cost of sales & AR (713,827) (1,320,192)
Gross profit eS| 224,304 310,785
Other income, gains and losses HAa A -~ W K BB 5 206,751 21,572
Selling and distribution expenses SHE LK IHEF (176,025) (192,262)
Administrative expenses THER (83,193) (96,003)
Finance costs Bh & Ak 2N 6 (153,438) (109,991)
Loss from impairment, net BB BB F R 7 (77,224) (104,161)
Gain arising from modification of bonds  F&EE5E £ KUKz 26 36,097 -
Loss before tax B 4 A0 85 1B 7 (22,728) (170,060)
Income tax credit Fristi & 10 494 -
Loss for the year FEER (22,234) (170,060)
Attributable to: FEAG -
Ordinary equity holders of AR ERER
the Company BFEA (20,322) (173,172)
Non-controlling interests FEPE I 1 A 2 (1,912) 3,112
(22,234) (170,060)
Loss per share attributable to EARAEREREEA
ordinary equity holders of the EhERER
Company
Basic (HK cents) R GBAL) 12 (0.90) (7.66)

Diluted (HK cents) 5 (L) 12 (0.90) (7.66)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  ERE

a

SaRkEMEEEAXR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—f=fA=+—HLFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Loss for the year FEEBER (22,234) (170,060)
Other comprehensive income/ Hthz2mKRA(EA) :
(expense):
Item that may be reclassified FME 18 B fE] 7] ge 12 B 1
subsequently to profit or loss in B EE
subsequent periods: BmZHE -
Exchange differences on translation of #2245 ) % 765 B 25 4 &Y
foreign operations E & =58 109,953 (78,067)
Other comprehensive income/ FEHM2EWRA(EA) -
(expense) for the year, N BEEESNHE
net of nil tax 109,953 (78,067)
Total comprehensive income/ FEZEBA(BH) B
(expense) for the year 87,719 (248,127)
Attributable to: FEE
Ordinary equity holders of the ARG EBERAFEEA
Company 89,631 (251,239)
Non-controlling interests FE 2 B A 25 (1,912) 3,112
87,719 (248,127)

B 5%
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(Rt CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

CRGUE R OES

As at 31 March 2021 A-ZE-_—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —_E_TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE N &G 13 11,930 14,571
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 14 58,510 53,429
Intangible asset W EE 15 8,300 8,300
Financial assets at fair value through LEmEALEER
profit or loss (“FVTPL") IR SR EE 16 - 112,012
Deposits i) 20 161,077 153,125
Deferred tax assets REEFIBEE 29 - 4,000
239,817 345,437
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 17 185,660 355,605
Other investments HApig & 18 37,194 -
Trade and bills receivables FEWE 5708 M E W EE 19 16,889 93,387
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFRIE - 'eE Rk
receivables E h fE W kB 20 639,586 350,814
Financial assets at FVTPL CREREEAREE
TR e REE 16 323,834 =
Pledged deposits EEBER 21 235,537 -
Restricted bank balances IR ER 1T 45 B 21 20,223 =
Cash and cash equivalents HEMKBEEEY 21 614,382 698,525
2,073,305 1,498,331
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables FERE 5 5IE R
B RiE 22 463,515 3,783
Other payables and accruals H M fE T FRIB
et B fE 23 225,140 182,890
Contract liabilities ARAEE 24 77.832 312,704
Interest-bearing bank and other SFEREITR
borrowings HMEE 25 253,423 84,277
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 35,799 25,392
Bond payables FEfT &S 26 323,863 518,128
Amount due to a director FENES A 27 131,653 91,840
Amount due to a related company FE 15 BB Bk & R FRIAR 28 6,800 5
Tax payable JE& f5F 7 18 55,287 55,644
1,573,312 1,274,658
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 499,993 223,673




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION EEE
a0 B B ROR &

N T %
As at 31 March 2021 R=ZZE=—F=A=+—H « ¥
2 |
& ]
g By
Nl
2021 2020
B —T_TF =
Notes HK$’000 Hks'000
fi Fi Tz M
L=t
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBARS
LIABILITIES 739,810 569,110
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 57,890 56,252
Bond payables JERESH 26 290,731 209,948
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFRIEAE 29 5,000 5,000
353,621 271,200
NET ASSETS EEFE 386,189 297,910
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to ordinary KATEBER
equity holders of the Company BEAEGES
Issued capital BEITRR A 30 226,010 226,010
Reserves e 32 160,968 70,777
386,978 296,787
Non-controlling interests Bl RE S (789) 1,123
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 386,189 297,910

FINE24ENEHIBERERER T = —
FRAZTFNBEESoHERBRED

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112 to 264

were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 28 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by: WHATEEREKEES
REHE (=)

Liang Guoxing Chen Xiaoxu
EE EF

Director Director
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116 CONSQI:IPATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EHERED R

BEfRA  RHEE  EARE  RERR BE EBNRE  RERE  EHEE &3 & EEEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it T Th7n Th7 Thr TR TR ThT ThL ThL T T
(ote30)  (note32)  (note32)) (note32(il)  (note32w)  (note32)  (note 32vi)
(W) (o) (o) (Wsuin)  (aaw) (

(2]}

E For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z=-—F&=F=+—HLFE

m

]

o]

>

)]

m

(1)

g Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

% KLTEBRHEAARG

X Capital Share  Statutory  Exchange Non-
,9 Issued Share Capital ~ redemption option surplus ~fluctuation  Accumulated controlling Total
) capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
2 LR fat
w0

=

s

-y

m

O

R0 EE)]

Asat 1 April 2020 R-T-REMA-A 6010 594,226 (380) 2805 51,865 71,462 (1113) (64a.108) 296,781 113 17,910

Loss for the year FEEE - - - - - - - 032 (030 (1919 (.34

Other comprehensive income FEEMRANA

for the year
Item that may be recassified RERGETEREHEN
subsequently to profitor oss in FEEERIES
subsequent periods:
Bxchange diferences on tianslation ~ BEENERFE LR
of foreign operations EiZE = = 5 - - - 10993 - 18 - 18

Total comprehensive incomel(expense)  £E2ENN/(BR) 4%

for the year - - - - - - 109,953 (20322) 89,631 (1912) 81,719
Transactions with owners EREARS
Contrbutions and dlstrbutions HERAF
Equity-setled share option WERES ERERH

anangements 31 - - - - 560 - - - 560 - 560
Share options lapsed BREXNRTE

and cancelled 3 - 5 - - (2,426) - - 2426 - - -

- - - - (1,866) - - 2426 560 - 560

As at 31 March 201 RZ%=-§=f=1-8 226,010 594,226 (380) 2805 49,999 71,462 102840 (660,004) 386,978 (789) 386,189




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY KRB
EHEZEHR

T %
For the year ended 31 March 2021 —ZE=—F=ZA=+—HILLFE «
H.
E
T i
L
L 1
Attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company Ul
ARREREERAARL ]
Capital Share Statutoy  Exchange Non- He
Issued Share Capital ~ redemption option suplus— fluctuation — Accumulated controlling Total o
capital premium resere resere Tesere Tesenve Tesenve Josses Total interests equity
B B m fE st ®

BERE  RRMEE  AABE  BERR B BROEE  HBRE  ZiER it BE EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 H
ThL T T Thr Thr TR ThT ThL ThL ThL Tin
Note (ote30)  (note32)  (note320i))  (note32(il)  (note32(v)  (note32(v)  (note 320
A ) O 1) 17 N O 1) 210 A G 1)

Asat 1 Aprl 2019 R=Z-75MA-A 26,010 594,226 (380) 2805 51,562 71462 70954 (470,919 545,740 (1.989) 543,751

(LossProfit for the year FE(ER)/HE - - - - - - - (B (1B 31 (170060)

Other comprehensive expense ~ EEE{2EER

for the year
Item that may be recassfied RERBETEEHETAE
subsequently to proft or loss in FERIFR
subsequent periods:
Bichange dffeences on tenslion  AE ) FREEEY
of foreign operations EizE = = = - - - (18067) = (78,067) = (78,067)

Total comprehensie (expenselincome  £E 2 (28)/HAEE

for the year - - - - - - (78,067) (173172) (251.39) 31 (248,127)
Transactions with owners REEALS
Contributions and distrbution HERAF
quity-settled share option IVEREEZBRERH
anangements 3 o o ° ° 228 ° = = 2,86 - 2286
Share options lapsed and cancelled ~ EREXHREH | - - - 2 (1983) = > 1983 = = -
- - - - 303 - - 1983 2286 - 2,286

As at 31 March 2020 R-EZ55-f=1-R 26010 594,26 (380) 1805 51,865 11462 113 (642,108) 29,781 113 297910
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(i) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

EHBEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z=-—F&=F=+—HLFE

2021 2020
—B--F k- o 33
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Fitsx TER TEL
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B EZHNEERE
Loss before tax BRI A1 B 1R (22,728) (170,060)
Adjustments for: BATSBERENHE
Dividend income At B A 5 (2,650) (2,130)
Bank interest income SRR SWA 5 (516) (573)
Interest income received from other 1 H 35 & e B B A 2 A
investments 5 (961) (1,200)
Finance costs RMEKAR 6 153,438 109,991
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - BEK
equipment LB mE 7 7,459 6,816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREBEZIE 7 31,490 25,142
Loss/(Gain) on termination of lease contracts K IEFEAR ZEE,/ (W) 5 1,987 (150)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BEK
equipment B W 5 (214) (18)
Loss from written off property, plant and WEmE  BER
equipment B 7 - 5,932
Gain arising from modification of bonds FAEBEHEEN NS 26 (36,097) =
Loss allowance for expected credit losses EWESZAREWEE 7 A
("ECL") of trade and bills receivables, net EEBFR((EHEEBE] 2
ERRERE 7 74,552 51,043
Loss from impairment of deposits paid to MtEES A Re RERFEY
suppliers and prepayments HEER 3,287 22,160
(Reversal)/Loss allowance for ECL of other Hinge R EtEY IR BEE
deposits and other receivables, net EBEz (BR),/ BEREFE 7 (615) 355
Loss from impairment of property, I ER S
plant and equipment ZREER 7 - 6,558
Loss from impairment of right-of-use assets £ 4 & 2 i EE B 7 - 24,045
Provision for inventories in respect of BEMRENERFEL
write-down to net realisable value FERE 7 3,779 18,204
Equity-settled share option expenses NEZEE/EREER 7 560 2,286
Changes in fair value of financial assets at BEGRAABEIE EREE
FVTPL ZRRBEZE 5 (194,115) (17,192)
Operating cash flows before EEESRBA
movements in working capital EERERE 18,656 81,209
Changes in working capital: 2EEEH:
Inventories 8 188,098 612,006
Trade and bills receivables EWE S5FIEREKEE 6,414 (14,001)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B FUE - & R H B W FUE (246,532) 472,700
Trade and bills payables EREZHBRENRE 440,797 (499,225)
Contract liabilities aREE (250,697) 92,686
Other payables and accruals HiENTEREFBE 7,009 59,219
Pledged deposits [BEARiPEE (44,719) £
Restricted bank balances R AIRTEH (20,223) =
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXZ2HTE(FE) 7,842 (10,679)
Cash generated from operations EEMBNES 106,645 793,915
Interest received BB E 516 573
Interest paid EAFIE (89,316) (76,148)
Net cash flows from operating activities ~ ZEZEHFIEH
ReRERE 17,845 718,340




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRETRER

T ¥
For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—f=fA=+—HLFE « W
e |
& ]
L
2021 2020 el :
—B--F —T_ZF B
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 w
Btk TER FAEL 1
=
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFENEESRE
Dividend received BUREE 2,650 2,130
Interest income received from other fEE 1% B R M F B U A
investments 961 1,200
Additions to property, plant and equipment  AREWE  HE LR & (3,418) (6,068)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and &% - r%&?&ﬁﬁ'ﬂ
equipment PR 230 138
Purchases of other investments E%Eﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁ (446,420) (438,277)
Proceeds from redemption of other investments 3@ £ 3% & K i 15 508 410,622 438,277
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZBMANRESRETE (35,375) (2,600)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZENEESRE
Inception of interest-bearing bank and other &t 8817 R E £ &R
borrowings 194,115 35,683
Repayment of interest-bearing bank and BRFERITRAMES
other borrowings (31,888) (630,540)
Proceeds from issue of bonds payables, BIRFENRENMEFIE
net of related expenses MREEER 26 - 45,051
Repayment of bond payables BEEFENRE (122,800) (153,608)
Payment of lease liabilities fiﬁﬁﬂg,\ﬁ (24,693) (20,755)
Advance from a director ] 39,813 91,839
Advance from a related company /N Tﬂ?ﬂ 6,800 =
Placement of pledged deposits FEABEBER (181,979) =
Release of pledged deposits REEEATR - 56,678
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEZFEFMANRERETE (120,632) (575,652)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND ~ R&RREEEY (HYD)/
CASH EQUIVALENTS BmFEE (138,162) 140,088
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FARERALEED
BEGINNING OF YEAR 698,525 598,087
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ EXRZHFE (FH) 54,019 (39,650)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FAESRASCEEY

AT END OF YEAR 614,382 698,525
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(P NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Silver Base Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)

was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 12 September
2007. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered office of the Company
is located at the office of Conyers Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited, whose address is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong is located at 25th Floor,

One Hennessy, 1 Hennessy Road, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
distribution of Wuliangye (FL#&®&) liquor series,
National Cellar 1573 baijiu with 43% alcohol content,
Kweichow Moutai Chiew products, Fen Wine with
55% alcohol content liquor series, Red Fen Shijia liquor
series, Yaxi Classic liquor series and Old Vintage liquor
series, wine, foreign liquor series, Chinese cigarettes

and others.

REREEER
REEEERBERAG ([EAQF]D R
—EEHFANRA T _BHERSEET
ML RXHBEBER DA - XA AR
MREBBERXZMABR DG ([H
FTl) £ e RRARBRHOREBHER S
FRBEBRA R ([EEAZFT]) £ o R AEE
fift % = & 2 A Conyers Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited® #f A= » # ik &
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands e " A B EEBH =
TEEMEUNBEBEEFEI50ne
Hennessy 254&

ARARENMBAR ([ AEH])
MEIBXBLAKEIRRERY  BE
15735438 - EMF aBER 2
BSSE RS~ DA ER RS - 85 H
Ry - Z2BFY - BEE  FBERY
REEEREAM -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing

Rules”).

ltems included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated. The functional

currency of the Company is HK$.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2020 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption/early adoption of
the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group
and effective from the current reporting period (except
for any early adoption) as set out in note 2.2 to the

consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out in note 2.3 to the

consolidated financial statements.

MBI EXE
EHMBRERDBEEASHMLE
([BEREEHAMAE]) B2 BBV R
HEA((BEEMBREER] - BEM
BERAZBEAMBREEN BB
HA(TEBEFER]) kEER) - BF
ARG RAURBEB R EGG 2 BT
EMRE - BB HRERITTEBRPTE
F EmARA(TEMRAD 2 BRBRER

E °

N

AEBABRER IV HEHRKRAHIAR L
BREMENTIZELERENG
KRR DFE - AMBERERTS
BT ([7ET]) 25 BRIEXBHA -
BB ZBRERBEONTUH -8
TERARBZINEEE

EHUBHRR DR T _FELHH
RPN Z SRR — B2 £ R
2 R RPRBE OB RKR I
22 E AR E AR A B AN REH
[ (R R RERARRIN) AEBZ#7]
RIEFT BB EHRE EAERI -

AEERMNEZSHBERBEHNE
GrEA SRR MIFE2.3

A

REEEZRER QA
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(PP NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

The Group recorded a consolidated loss before tax
of approximately HK$22,728,000 for the year ended
31 March 2021. As at 31 March 2021, the Group's
total bond payables and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$868,017,000, of which approximately
HK$577,286,000 are classified as current liabilities.
These current liabilities include the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$253,423,000 and bond payables of approximately
HK$323,863,000 which are due for repayment within
the next twelve months after 31 March 2021.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its
available sources of finance in assessing whether
the Group will have sufficient financial resources to

continue as a going concern.

In order to maintain the Group’s liquidity and cash
flows to sustain the Group as a going concern,
the Group implemented or is in the process of

implementing the following measures:

1 fmEEZE ()

FEKQE R A
AEBRBE-_T-_—F=ZA=1+—
HEFESSAHBRRABERLY
22,728,000 T - BE_T_—F=A
=+—H AEBZENEFARE
RITREMEE S 1 74868,017,000
B IT & H#9577,286,00078 T T 5 B
ARRBEE LERDAEBEER
—E - —F=HA=+t—HERR+=
BARBAZ AEEGERITRAEM
& & #9253,423,000/8 7t & EMHEH L
323,863,000/ 7T °

ERERBER  ARAREFEFEARE
BROECHUBERNSELEERE
BELLHCERIAKENRKRD
MERREREATAESHR -

i

BRTEBASENRBERRESRE
N@RBAEENKERLSE  AEEE
Mes EHEEEIA N EE

\;



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(1)

Financing and fund raising activities

The Group is actively negotiating with the banks
and other financial institutions in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) to secure new
financing arrangement to meet the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements in the
near future. The Group is also actively seeking
opportunities to carry out fund raising activities
including but not limited to issuance of bonds
as alternative sources of funding. Subsequent to
31 March 2021, the Group has renewed certain
bond payables with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$47,200,000 for
the Group’s working capital and secured a new
interest-bearing bank borrowing of approximately
HK$16,500,000 with a bank in the PRC.

In the event that the Group cannot secure new
financing arrangement for the repayment of
bond payables and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings which will be due in the next
twelve months after 31 March 2021, the Group
plans to use its internal financial resources and
seek for obtaining financial support from the
substantial shareholder of the Company to repay
the liabilities and meet its day to day operations.
Subsequent to 31 March 2021, the Group filed
an application to a financial institution for the
redemption of the financial assets at FVTPL
of approximately 50% of the unlisted equity

investment fund.

wmEEE (F)

?:t
(1)

BRREEE(E)

jo = W =

BEREELE

AEBEEBEGEREARKNE
(THBE)NRTREMSREE
EITHER - UEUSHRE ZHEM
ENAEENERANLEEEE R

MEHER - REBEITEGE S FET
SERPIRE  BRETRRHE

TEFEABRNESERE - N=
T-—F=A=1+—HB%  F~5HE
EEEARN® LR 47,200,000
BIHE TENESAEREE
WEEES  WERPE—HIRIT

— % 4916,500,0007% 7T & ¥
FTRRITHEE -

fis B 2N 52 B R BE EVS FT R & L BEIA
EEEN _ZTE-_—F=A=1+—
HRR =@ ARNE 2 ERN
EHFEARFTBRITEREMEE @ &
& B 5+ B LA A 30 B 75 &R I A AR
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(P23 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(2) Maintaining of profitable and positive cash
flow operations
The Group is taking measures to tighten cost
controls over various costs and expenses, to
diversify the Group’s sales channels and product
mix and to optimise the assets mix with the aim
to maintain its profitable and positive cash flow

operations.

(3) Undertaking provided by a director and a
related company

A director and a related company of the Company
have agreed not to demand for any repayment
due to them of approximately HK$131,653,000
and approximately HK$6,800,000, respectively, as
at 31 March 2021 within the next twelve months
and until the Group is in a financial position to do

SO.

After taking into account the above measures, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
and financial obligations as and when they fall due,
and accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a

going concern basis.

2.1 ImBREE (F)
FEREEE(E)

mE

(2) MIFEFRIEHE R EE

7K 5% [ IE £R ER 15 Bt DA 35 T [F] 69 AX
AMBERBEITBIERA - A A
SEEERBMERGEBNZ T
LERARBILEEAS @ KK
REMNREREREE -

(3) —BEFR—FFHHL AR
LR
RRArl—BEER—HBEBAR
EREBIAGERAREBRAKRK
TZEAAEER=ZE=—F=A8
=T —BEREESD I
131,653,0005% 7T & 476,800,000
BTEEASEERNEREERH
KRB BARRBIE -

REE LER ARBEERR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS gBE

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8: Definition of
Material
The amendments clarify the definition of material and

align the definition used across HKFRSs.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRSs 7 and 9:
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 1

The amendments modify some specific hedge
accounting requirements to provide relief from
potential effects of the uncertainties caused by
interest rate benchmark reform (the market-wide
reform of an interest rate benchmark, including the
replacement of an interest rate benchmark with an
alternative benchmark). In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information to
investors about their hedging relationships which are

directly affected by these uncertainties.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Definition of a Business

The amendments, among others, revise the definition
of a business and include new guidance to evaluate

whether an acquired process is substantive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.

2.2 FER#HE] G E BB IER
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(k3 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

(continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021

The amendments exempt lessees from having to
consider individual lease contracts to determine
whether rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease
modifications and allow lessees to account for such
rent concessions as if they were not lease modification.
It applies to COVID-19-related rent concessions that
reduce lease payments due on or before 30 June 2022.

The amendments do not affect lessors.

These amendments shall be applied for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with earlier
application permitted. The Group has elected to early
adopt the amendments in the current reporting period.
In accordance with the translation provisions therein,
the amendments have been applied retrospectively
by the Group recognising the cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other
component of equity, as appropriate) and therefore the

comparative information has not been restated.

The adoption of the above amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial

statements.
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IR - 2B EARER-ZSZ_F~
A=+ Bz p BB &~ R # e b
REBHEAHESERR - ZFETHEA
NI i3

ZEEFTERR T -_—FWA—H
F 2 KRB FERRE - Y AFRFPR
e REBEEENAREHMEFR
M FIER] - RBETHBIRMEI - K
SECEPEAZEER  BEXER
ZEEBINBRFATERR /U FRER
M (R EMEREXRED - RERME)
HNEHRNAE AT ESIHRE
£t o

RAZFERTH A Y BRI AL E LM
EAXE-

=



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)
At the date of authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective
for the current reporting period, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
HKFRSs 4, 7, 9 and 16 Phase 2
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use 2
Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework 2
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 2
to HKFRSs
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current ®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies 3
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 3
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts *
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture 4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023

i The effective date to be determined.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs in future
periods will have any material impact on the results

and the financial position of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost,
except for the unlisted equity investment fund which is
classified as financial assets at FVTPL and the unlisted
investments in principal unguaranteed funds which
is classified as other investments, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and all of its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

23 EXREFTHE

STEAREE
REAVVBBREMAZERERE
SLRAE - W T XFE g BRIt
RELTERAREES (DEARKER
BAnBEIKZEREE) MNERR
A2 EMRE (DBEREME) R
A58

BHEE
AN BRRBEARAAURABAFAT
REZHHBARZHER (RER
BEE) ZHERR - MEAAEAR
AEZENRERH TR (RIEAEE
BH)  EARERSRBRESNE
BMA R EEEGTRER - LHEN
BBHRRAFTEOEN IR T &
S M B AT SRR A T ARRE B Ao At
MBRAEFN) Y ERSERE - BIRA
A I -

EARARERKFEERERFIRBIRES
BFYBRERLECENE - ARER
AEEERHRRESTRERNEE
BREHEBEEREBR B :

(a) HEZBEREHNEMEZIERFEA
%aﬂﬁw’

(b) REEMERZHEZHENEN: K

(0 ARENEREREERRRE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to

be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed
to the ordinary equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i)
the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group'’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly disposed

of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position
as set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, an investment in subsidiary is stated at
cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the
investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on
an individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable
amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and

receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, if any. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its

working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific

useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 EREFTHE (&)

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose

are as follows:

WE - BEM&E (&)
FEREREATESSEDE - BE R
AR R B B AN T 8 2 L M G R 62 R A
MRE - FIMBEMZEZFERMT

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the MEMHERE THEREE20%H)
lease terms and 20% REE

Furniture and fixtures 20% RMEEEEE 20%

Office equipment 20% WAER 20%

Motor vehicles 20% RE 20%

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the reporting period the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sale proceeds and the

carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on

a prospective basis.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the

contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 EREFBER (&) a "
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SEIT A (&) 1
Financial assets (continued) cREE (&) ®
The classification of financial assets at initial R HRE  SREENSEETS
recognition depends on the financial asset’s BEEMNERREREFERAEEA
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s REBREMEBEXME - BRIEAEE
business model for managing them. Financial assets are HEEREMEENEBEN - TRI2
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition REETERNEEVLEREETS
unless the Group changes its business model for ¥ AELBR IBEXTEESREET
managing them, in which case all affected financial RMEEBEAEEEFRAEERE
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first Fom(EFHsEBH]) -

annual reporting period following the change in the

business model (the “reclassification date”).

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost (debt () HBEHEKNGEN 2B EE
instrument) (BHITA)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently fishioh & LA TR R k1 - AN E B IR
at amortised cost if both of the following SRS EN AT ESREE

conditions are met:

e the financial asset is held within a business s REERFBLREE K
model whose objective is to hold financial élﬂﬁ%ﬁ*iﬁ’]%ﬁ%ﬁTT
assets in order to collect contractual cash RENEREE
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial s SRMEEMNSRKRNIERE
asset give rise on specified dates to cash HHELECZREREERX
flows that are solely payments of principal NARERREERRZHE ©

and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(1)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instrument) (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses arising from impairment,
derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables, trade and bill
receivables, pledged deposits, restricted bank

balances and bank balances and cash.

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over

the relevant period.

The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) excluding ECL, through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial

recognition.

23 EXREETHE (E)

ST E (&)
SREE (&)

(1)

BEBHKATENE HEE
(BEFITA)E)

REBHKAIENEREERLR
ERERNEIEFE  XAER
TRIE © FBUME - 4R ILFERSE 1B
BREENKRD K EBRNIESE
R NREBRBHEKATAEZ TR
BERRRS NEMBEETR - &
WESFRMERRE 2 HERF
K ZRFBIRITARA R RITHE

ERMBANFAEEBTANE
% SH PR B oy BiC A R EA RS ) B
ABTTE »

BERNENEBERS TAZEY
FH% (WER) 82 8BRS
AARERSWA (BEMEBKE
RAEEKE D 2 ENEEKRE
RAEMEEE  XHMAREM G
BxiE TRERAEEERE)
REFBAENIHRABEH LA
ZIREREZME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instrument) (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the
amount at which the financial asset is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation
using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before

adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross

carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss
and is included in the “Other income, gains
and losses” line item as set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

(if)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

investments in equity instruments are
classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group
designates an equity investment that is
neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business
combination as at FVTOCI on initial

recognition.

debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if such designation eliminates
or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency that would
arise from measuring assets or liabilities
or recognising the gains and losses on
them on different bases. The Group has
not designated any debt instruments as at
FVTPL.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 BEREFTHEK () g !
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ST A (&) ”
Financial assets (continued) ERMEE (&) &

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (continued) (i) AEBmiZ AT I1EESIRS 28
BE (&)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of
a designated hedging relationship. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “Other income, gains
and losses” line item as set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements. Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 37 to

the consolidated financial statements.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the

purpose of selling it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has evidence
of a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is
a financial guarantee contract or a designated

and effective hedging instrument).

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily
measured at FVTPL include the unlisted equity
investment fund and the unlisted investments in

principal unguaranteed funds.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial

instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for its trade
receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these financial assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
grouping based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including

time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial

recognition.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group’s debtors operate as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information that relate to

the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if

available) or internal credit rating;
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%) NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other

financial instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above

assessment, the Group presumes that the credit

risk on a financial asset has increased significantly

since initial recognition when contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due,

unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a financial
asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available,
the asset has an internal rating of “performing”.
Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due

amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes

past due.
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WP NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the

following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial

covenants by the debtor; or

o information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full

(without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.
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A NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
12 months past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any subsequent recoveries are

recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount

at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original

effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(vi)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit

losses

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

. nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade and other receivables are
each assessed as a separate group);

. nature of collateral

° nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o external credit risk ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the
management of the Group to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but
determines at the current reporting date that the
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with
a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.
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3 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of

the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and,
if applicable, any cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instrument

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability

and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS §¥

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instrument
(continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. The Group’s financial
liabilities include trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, contract liabilities, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities,
bond payables and amount due to a related company/
director. All financial liabilities, except for financial
liabilities at FVTPL, are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, unless the effect of
discounting would be insignificant, in which case they

are stated at cost.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a
shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial

liability.
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tE] NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instrument
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any

non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,

recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the

recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of

the hedge relationship.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liguid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts (if any) which are repayable on

demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash

management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS gEE

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach

to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially

same.
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(Ed NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria

is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's

performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is

created and enhanced; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct

goods or services.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts

and sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS kX

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
within HKFRS 15 (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration from the customer.
The Group recognised revenue from sales of goods.

Sales of goods

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at the
point when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customers, generally on delivery of the goods and

acknowledged by the customers.

The Group typical receives a deposit on acceptance of
sale order, giving rise to a contract liability until the

customer obtains control of the goods.
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(B3 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in the statement of

profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the HK$. At the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into HK$ at
the average exchange rates for the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the

exchange fluctuation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which
the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to the foreign operation that is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the separate component of equity is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on

disposal is recognised.

On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is re-attributed to the
non-controlling interests in that foreign operation and

are not reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the
reporting period are translated into HK$ at the average

exchange rates for the reporting period.
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(24 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, cost of conversion
and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and condition,
is calculated using the first in, first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period of the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their

economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and

minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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(B3 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at

the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS gy

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be

identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is

an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

2.3 EREFBER)

BRRENEEZRE
RBEHR - ARERIEBLEER
EBREAEHFH BV EE KA
B UEEEEBENRRAEHEED
HERERE © Wi EEAIRRTR -
SRMFEEMNAKEEE  ABEERE
B8 (A) MEE - MEXGERNE
ERAKEEE  AAKRES[TZE
EMBRSELEMNTT KL - it
AR EN BN EE - BIRE
BENEIREMEMRESELEML - 3K
DEEFZENSER —BORELENRK
WNERIR S EL BN -

AEREAEAFH BEVEESSF
K LA PR AT B H BB E R E TR E R

Al

A] YR E & BR AR 1 A (B R 5 5 AR AN
REEMETRHNRSE - EFEERE
B fiRRReRERRBRERT
BHEYNREEERRARRKERS
mMEBHEFNEERTERR 2 FEHERR
AITIR R ERIR(E -

5

REEBEBZEZRERA

e LT




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

(Bl NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in
prior reporting periods. A reversal of an impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an

expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account
the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where

the effect of the time value of money is material).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is recognised as
a deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant
asset and is released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual

instalments.
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d NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements
in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases
(defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are

consumed.
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SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the

Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives

receivable.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on
the lease liability (using the effective interest method)
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made. Lease liability is remeasured (and
with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-

of-use asset) whenever:
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7] NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change
is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in

which case a revised discount rate is used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, in which case the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the

effective date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS gl

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date and any initial direct costs, less lease incentives
received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation
for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised
and measured under HKAS 37: Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The costs are
included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those

costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties and measured under fair value
model, right-of-use assets are subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter period of lease term and useful life
of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the

commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property as a
separate line item in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within

“Investment properties”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any

identified impairment loss.
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123 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

23 EXREETHE (E)

Leases (continued)
Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a

separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more

underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect

the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease

modification,

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-

alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the

modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a

revised discount rate over the revised lease term.
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SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for the
remeasurement of the lease liability by decreasing
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to
reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or

loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment to

the right-of-use asset.

The Group has applied the practical expedient provided
in Amendments to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-Related Rent

Concessions Beyond 31 June 2021 and does not assess

whether eligible rent concessions occurring as a direct

consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease

modification. The Group accounts for any change in

lease payments resulting from the rent concession the

same way it would account for the change applying

HKFRS 16 if the change were not a lease modification.
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33 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SR BRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —Z-—F=F=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Lease modification (continued)

The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and only if all of the following conditions are

met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for

the lease immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2022; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and

conditions of the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient
consistently to all eligible rent concessions with similar

characteristics and in similar circumstances.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Employee benefits
Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees
under their employment contracts on a calendar year
basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which
remains untaken at the end of the reporting period
is permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the
respective employees in the following calendar year.
An accrual is made at the end of the reporting period
for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the reporting period by the employees and
carried forward.

Pension schemes and other retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of

the central pension scheme.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled

transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants is measured by reference to the fair value at

the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised at the beginning

and end of the reporting period.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve

will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also

service and/or performance conditions.

Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting

purposes.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

23 EXREETHE (E)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable

profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or

loss; and
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 EREFBER) a "
(continued)
Taxation (continued) FIE (&) 4
e in respect of deductible temporary differences e MHFRRHMEBARZHEZAE W
associated with investments in subsidiaries, HERUEZEMS - RAEEERK
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the ZRBARERERGRED -
extent that it is probable that the temporary BERHEBAENELNBEIMNBAZEY
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future RUEZETUEN 2 ERTFE
and taxable profit will be available against which B AemRARERBEE -

the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed BIETRIA R E 2 lREER S WS HRR
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to o WHRZESB A A B HERT T
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient BB AR NS TE A CBEER
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of BEERI - RERELEHBEERS
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised WEMAREM - WARAIRER BHERT
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each B LAFUR T B B 1 T U Rl 2 IR T
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that IR & R T LARERR -

it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the RERIEEERABRREBERHEESR
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when BESSEAEHHABANH R E -
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based MEZHE (RBE) HERREHARER
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted B EERANRE (REE)EE -

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or
(ii) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets

are expected to be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12: Income Taxes requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial

recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 23 ERETHR (&) &
(continued)
Related parties FAEAL 1
A related party is a person or entity that is related to BMEATAEAEERMEBE s ALTHE ®
the Group. B ERWLT
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s (@) W—RBATFEUTIEYE  ZBA
family is related to the Group if that person: ook H 3 3 BN A B AN £ B 5 B
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; () HAEBEEHERLRE
il
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAKBBEERATEN =%
(i) is a member of the key management (i) ABREEIAEBEIERA A
personnel of the Group or of the holding ZEEEERAE

company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the (b) MM—EEREFEUTEMESH  E
following conditions applies: B /& BA 7N & [ A B s

() the entity and the Group are members of () ZERBHEAEERAER—%

the same group (which means that each BB A (BI&EERA

holding company, subsidiary and fellow Al MBARIKRRERWEA
subsidiary is related to the others). A B B B

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture iy EF—HEEBEAS—HESE

of the other entity (or an associate or joint ZHEENR A B E (3

venture of a member of a group of which Er—HERAS —HER

the other entity is a member). FTESERKE QA ZHE R

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same (i) WMEBEEHAR—F=ZAZ
third party. BEDE -
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the

third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the

Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled

by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity

(or of a holding company of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

holding company of the Group.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.3 EREFBER (&) g
(continued)
Related parties (continued) BAE A T (%) 1
Close members of the family of a person are those —BATZHRBEANZALTRERE &
family members who may be expected to influence, or IR HHAIEeEZR AT
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the REZAANTRHEIRENKE B8 :
entity and include:
(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic (a) mBATZTLZEREBSHEEH
partner; (E
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic (b) mABAATEBHKREHAEZ T
partner; and 54
(c) dependants of that person or that person's () ZBATHZBATEEBXFEE
spouse or domestic partner. HEIZEAC
In the definition of a related party, an associate REZATZERF @ BE AT BEZ
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint BERBIZMBAR MeaErERR
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture. ZEELEZMBAGT -

Segment reporting o

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment KEDHREHVBREMMENSD
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, HIEESENMAEMASERRTHRER
are identified from the financial information ABEHBENBERAASRESEB R
provided regularly to Group’s most senior executive BB ERA RN EZEEL KR
management for the purpose of allocating resources BNV BER -

to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.
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2.3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Segment reporting (continued)

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The
Company’s executive directors and the chief executive
officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
have been identified as the CODM that make strategic

decisions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 2.3 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ

from these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is

revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the

period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

(i)

Critical judgement made in applying
accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart
from those involving estimations (see below),
that the directors of the Company have made in
the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated

financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgements by the directors of
the Company, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events and conditions
which are inherently uncertain. The directors of
the Company believe that the Group will have
sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements
in the coming twelve months from 31 March
2021 after taking into the considerations as
detailed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next reporting period.

Allowance for inventories

Allowance for inventories is made based on the
current market conditions, historical experience
of selling similar products and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance of inventories requires
management’s estimates and judgements.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in the
future is different from the original estimate,
such differences will impact the carrying value
of inventories and the allowance of inventories
in the period in which such estimate has been

changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Loss allowance of trade, bills and other
receivables

The loss allowance for trade, bills and other
receivables are based on assumptions about
ECL. The Group uses judgements in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs in
estimating ECL, bases on the number of days
that an individual receivable is outstanding as
well as the Group’s historical experience and
forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result
of the assessment and it may impact the carrying
amount of trade, bills and other receivables.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used
in estimating ECL are set out in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

In considering the impairment losses that may
be required for certain property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets, recoverable
amount of these assets needs to be determined.
The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and the value-in-use.
In determining the value-in-use, expected cash
flows generated by these assets are discounted
to their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to items such as level of
revenue and amount of operating costs and
discount rate. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of items
such as revenue and operating costs. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net

present value used in the impairment test.

B s A R A5t TR E
EZEERR(E)

(ii)

At TR EZ 2 T2 RR
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YWE - BE R R E A REE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Valuation of deposits paid to suppliers

The Group assesses whether there are any
indicators of impairment for deposits paid to the
suppliers at the end of each reporting period.
Deposits paid to suppliers are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the amounts may
not be recoverable. Determining whether the
deposit is impaired requires an estimation of the
recoverable amount. In assessing the recoverability,
the Group has considered the value of the
collaterals (if any), the business relationship with the
suppliers and the background and creditworthiness
of the suppliers. Where the actual recoverable
amount is less than expected, additional impairment
loss may arise.

Provision for litigation

The Group is subject to litigation claims from
various customers and suppliers in the ordinary
course of the business. In determining the
provision for litigation claims, management
made an assessment based on its best estimate
and judgement of whether it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the claims, and, if applicable, the final amount
of the settlements. Management considers in its
assessment information about the nature and
status of the claims and other factors, such as
the past experience in similar situation, relevant
case outcome in recent reporting periods, and
practice of particular jurisdictions where the
litigation was brought against the Group and
court decision in previous trial. Where the actual
amounts to settle the obligation are more or less
than expected, a further provision or reversal may
arise. Details of litigation are set out in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BAgRE ET X R LSt AR R
EZEBERR(E)

(ii)

At TR ER 2 T2 RR
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Y AR BO 5 E mA K [B B9 18 6 SR
P BERMT AR - WFEE
E2ERSRINSENER - BY
AR S ELRIMEEHED © FHR
BB G M R R M 38 -

A

REEEZRER QA

e LT




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

k2 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on its products and has two

reportable operating segments as follows:

(i)  the distribution of Wuliangye liquor series,
National Cellar 1573 baijiu with 43% alcohol
content, Kweichow Moutai Chiew products, Fen
Wine with 55% alcohol content liquor series, Red
Fen Shijia liquor series, Yaxi Classic liquor series
and Old Vintage liquor series, wine and foreign

liquor series (“Liquors”); and

(i) the distribution of Chinese cigarettes and others

(“Cigarettes and others”).

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment results,
which is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The
adjusted loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s loss before tax except that bank
interest income, interest income received from
other investments, other gains, gains arising from
modification of bonds and finance costs are excluded

from such measurement.

4.

EEHBEH
REEMS  AEEENEEMAKE
BEM - WHEBATMENRELED
#

() KERABRBARY  BHEIS573FR
H|43E 8 - Ed‘l‘\ FEBE®R A
55 R - LA RRT - B
R HE K5 @?ﬂ\%%@&
FBERH (DA &

(iy REPEEFEREM(FERE
fi]) e

EREERAKEZEEED I 2 FE
AEH BB E IR BT A D RERE K
RE - DWMERBRERBEARE D ARE
(BNEtELABRNKRBAER) Marh -
RFBOBRBRATBROFTESTAEARE
BER B AT EAENFT E DA EM 20
RITHFBWA - REMBTE KB OF B
WA~ Efb s Eﬁﬁﬁ%‘%éiﬂwﬁzé
EBERATBREE
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

reasHER (E)

—BR--H=-A=t—-RALEE

Cigarettes
Liquors and others Total
i EERHEM a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
Revenue from external customers and RENREENKER
reportable segment revenue THESBKE 936,813 1,318 938,131
Gross profit ESA 224,047 257 224,304
Other income, gains and losses Hpp A« WE R EE 203,681 - 203,681
Selling and distribution expenses HERKHEER (175,902) (123) (176,025)
Administrative expenses THER (82,981) (212) (83,193)
Loss from impairment, net REEE(EE) (77,224) = (77,224)
Segment results PBEE 91,621 (78) 91,543
Reconciliation: #Hi -
Bank interest income BITF BWA 516
Interest income received from A A 15 & W B
other investments FEBA 961
Other gains Hidezs 1,593
Finance costs BEKK (153,438)
Gain arising from modification of bonds ARBHEENNEE 36,097
Loss before tax BB ATEE (22,728)
Income tax credit FBHESR 494
Loss for the year FRER (22,234)
Additional segment information: BHDBER
Depreciation of property, plant L ER = -
and equipment HE 7,447 12 7,459
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEZNE 31,490 - 31,490
Loss allowance for ECL of trade EUESZERERE
and bills receivables, net BeREEEERL
BERE(FE) 74,552 = 74,552
Loss from impairment of deposits paid to MEEEL ke R
suppliers and prepayments BRNRBZRERSE 3,287 & 3,287
Reversal for ECL of other deposits and other BB Hth iz I E /€
receivables, net WE BREEES
BOFH) (615) = (615)
Provision for inventories in respect of EEMRZ 2R FE
write-down to net realisable value, net ZEERE(F8) 3,779 - 3,779
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BB Rk
plant and equipment P&z (214) G (214)
Additions to non-current assets ERBEELRE
- Property, plant and equipment 0% BERR 3,418 = 3,418
— Right-of-use assets —FHELE 38,815 = 38,815

B 5%

REEEZRER QA
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020

R AL o\ 32
:%IE.]J nB

Sz
=}

# (&)

—E-EE=-A=1+—-HLEE

Cigarettes
Liquors and others Total
i BREREM Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAEL TET
Revenue from external customers and REMREFHKER
reportable segment revenue T ED WS 1,627,366 3,611 1,630,977
Gross profit eS| 309,306 1,479 310,785
Other income, gains and losses HiWA - WE R ERE 18,819 - 18,819
Selling and distribution expenses SHEREHE (191,929) (333) (192,262)
Administrative expenses THER (95,562) (441) (96,003)
Loss from impairment, net RMEEECFE) (104,161) = (104,161)
Segment results DMEE (63,527) 705 (62,822)
Reconciliation: #Hhk -
Bank interest income H|ATHEWA 573
Interest income received from other 8 H At 358 By
investments FSWA 1,200
Other gains H i 980
Finance costs BEKK (109,991)
Loss before tax BB ATEE (170,060)
Income tax expenses FERER -
Loss for the year FRER (170,060)
Additional segment information: BHDBEN
Depreciation of property, plant mE - BEREHL
and equipment nE 6,810 6 6,816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEZITE 25,142 - 25,142
Loss allowance for ECL of trade and B E Z AR ERE
bills receivables, net BeENEEBREZ
BERE(FE) 51,043 = 51,043
Loss from impairment of deposits paid to MEREL RS R
suppliers and prepayments BRNFECREESSE 22,160 = 22,160
Loss allowance for ECL of other deposits and — E 4% 4 & £ b JE Y 3%
other receivables, net BeEAEEBRY
EEEECES) 355 = 355
Loss from impairment of property, mE - BERZEL
plant and equipment mIEER 6,558 = 6,558
Loss from impairment of right-of-use assets ~ FREEE 2 REFHRE 24,045 = 24,045
Provision for inventories in respect of BRMRETERFE
write-down to net realisable value, net JHEEEE(FE) 18,204 - 18,204
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HENE  BE L&
equipment pdl € (18) = (18)
Additions to non-current assets ERBEEZARE
- Property, plant and equipment -ME BEKK 6,068 - 6,068
- Right-of-use assets —FHEEE 23,610 - 23,610




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

A

e

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, BEEAINER ()

(continued)

Geographical information Hh [@ & K}

The following table sets out information about the TEREVNEAAERODE - BERFK
geographical location of the Group's property, plant #H FPREEE BFREERZES(E
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets EFRBEE]) MMBALEER - FFE
and deposits (“Specified Non-current Assets”). The FRBEENHENERREEENE
geographical location of the Specified Non-current B BEREEHEZEY o

Assets is presented based on the physical location of

the assets or the location of operation.

REEEZRER QA

Location of the Specified Non-current Assets BEFRBEENNVE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEx FH&T
The PRC 1 [ 210,509 196,672
Hong Kong and others BB R H i & 29,308 32,753
239,817 229,425
Information about major customers EREXEEFMNESR
Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or HABWE10% A EZINREF Iz

more of the total revenue is as follow: FaR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Customer A from Liquors business segment & B 2 7% 5 2F 8 %= 5 233,055 Note 1Mf5E1
Customer B and its affiliated company from 2K B8 2555 50 A KB E &
Liquors business and cigarettes and others E{@%F’“*ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁl&
business segment (Note 2) HEg@ QA (Hak2) 151,559 307,697

Customer C from Liquors business segment E BEBDEREZEFN  Note 1K &1 490,273

Customer D from Liquors business segment KB BZKE DN EFE T  Note 1MizE1 250,359

Note: Mt &E -

1. The corresponding revenue did not contribute 10% or 1. MHEREITEAEEHZE-_T=—
more of the total revenue of the Group during the years FR T _FTF=A=+—HLFE
ended 31 March 2021 or 2020. BULERHI10% 3 A £ o

2. Revenue from Customer B and its affiliated company 2. REBEPCONREHMBARNKZBIE
including sales to two entities which are known to be Fﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁ?ﬁ‘%ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁﬁ% ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ,\ﬁfﬁf?&

RAER—HZT -

under common control.
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5.

AND LOSSES

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods

sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts.

All revenue from contracts with customers is

recognised at a point in time.

B

W AR HAWA ~ W R

WHEEREREHEELEZIMELN
EEEMRRTFE - MATFPAERKE

IR B B ER

2021 2020
—R=--—F —F_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Revenue W =
Disaggregated by types of goods 7 B 88 5l 5 IR
Sales of liquor products 5 5 B E mh 936,813 1,627,366
Sales of cigarettes and others THE A& KA A 1,318 3,611
Total revenue from contracts with BREBY KRS ED
customers within the scope of FISHEERANETF
HKFRS 15 &R 25 938,131 1,630,977
Disaggregated by geographical B (7 & 5 I
location of customers
The PRC a3 710,231 1,287,256
Hong Kong and others BB REAM 227,900 343,721
Total revenue from contracts with BREBY RS ED
customers within the scope of FISHEERANETF
HKFRS 15 AR 2R 938,131 1,630,977
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5. BRmUREMEA - WakE =
AND LOSSES (continued) B (')
2021 2020 1
—E-—% T4 pw
HK$'000 HK$'000 .
FHET FAT
Other income, gains and losses Hiblg A - REREE
Bank interest income RITH B UA 516 573
Interest income received from e B Ah 3% B W R /Y F) B IR A
other investments 961 1,200
Dividend income from financial LESRAREBEIEZ
asset at FVTPL TREEZRBEWA 2,650 2,130
Changes in fair value of financial SEREAREEYERZ
assets at FVTPL TREEZANEBEEZY 194,115 17,192
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net HNEE 3 U2k (B 4R) OF
#) 6,659 (671)
(Loss)/gain on termination of wItHEARZ (FE)/
lease contracts U 2 (1,987) 150
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  WER
plant and equipment Rz W 214 18
Government grants (Note) RS B (Bt &%) 2,030 22
Others HAb 1,593 958
206,751 21,572
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company Miz: REBEE-T-_—F=A=+—AH1
received government grants from the Anti-epidemic FE - ARRREBRRITHRER KR
Fund set up by the Government of Hong Kong Special JiF 5% S B0 By B fL R B BT HE &Y
Administrative Region under a Employment Support [RELZE | sHEI KB BT B - &%t
Scheme as time-limited financial support to employers EEBAMETRHEFROMEX
to retain employees who may otherwise be made B mPhEEXNEING S MU
redundant. The scheme provides two tranches of REFRESHERNES - 5HET
subsidies to eligible employers. There are no unfulfilled MEERNEERENTEMU D
conditions or other contingencies attaching to these BRI o L SR BY I B SR R
grants. TR E s AEIE -
FINANCE COSTS 6. BB
2021 2020
—E-—% =ea T s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
Interest on interest-bearing bank and STEERTREMEE
other borrowings 2 FE 7.359 11,115
Interest on bond payables EREHFZHE 140,071 93295
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEZHNE 6,008 5,581
153,438 109,991
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LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

7. BRBAIEE

AEBENBRTABEE R, (GTA)

(crediting):
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Employee benefit expenses (including {EEFEFEH
directors’ remuneration) (BREEM2)
Wages, salaries, allowances and TE - e 2K
other benefits**** Hofth 43 Fl|x*xx 88,753 97,906
Contributions to defined contribution FOE M FGR KAE T
retirement plans*** ST & K> 4,759 9,521
Equity-settled share option expenses R E
BREER 560 2,286
Total employee benefit expenses* EERNEREE 94,072 109,713
Loss from impairment, net WEER (F5)
Loss allowance for ECL of trade and W E FFIE & EWRIE
bill receivables, net ZTEHEEBBZER
R OF5) 74,552 51,043
Loss from impairment of deposits paid to MRS N 2ike &TE
suppliers and prepayments NI 2 BIEEE 3,287 22,160
(Reversal)/Loss allowance for ECL of other — HE iz 4 [k H {th fE U 3k 18
deposits and other receivables, net ZHEHBEEEEBZ (&
B) BB CF5E) (615) 355
Loss from impairment of property, W WEREHE
plant and equipment VERIEN SR - 6,558
Loss from impairment of right-of-use assets {EFH#EEE 2 W EEIE - 24,045
Total loss from impairment RERBERRE 77,224 104,161
Other items Hhg B
Cost of inventories sold** EEFEMA* 710,048 1,301,988
Provision for inventories in respect of EAMBE 2R FEEY
write-down to net realisable value, net**  {FER{E FEE** 3,779 18,204
Auditors’ remuneration % BRAD B &
— audit services — Z Bk 1,730 2,080
- non-audit services — B R 650 850
Depreciation of property, plant and M BENRE
equipment**** CH = A 7,459 6,816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets**** ERAEEETE *** 31,490 25,142
Expenses relating to short-term leases BRAGHEENEMA 16,034 18,901
Changes in fair value of financial assets KiESRARBEIIK
at FVTPL ZEREEZRR
BESZ (194,115) (17,192)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net SN N, (Was), B 18
(FE) (6,659) 671
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WEKHZE
equipment & (214) (18)
Loss from written-off property, plant and WHEYE  BENMRED
equipment**** Eﬁ%ﬁ**** _ 5’932
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LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued) 7. B%%)fﬁﬁﬁ&ﬂa (#8)

& The employee benefit expenses (including directors’ EERNEBR (REEEMe) BIEL
remuneration) includes housing benefit with aggregate E8 459,860,000 L (Z T =T F :
amount of approximately HK$9,860,000 (2020: #911,375,0008 T) WEE®RF - &
approximately HK$11,375,000), of which approximately H 49300,0008 c (ZZE =T F : 4
HK$300,000 (2020: approximately HK$10,537,000) 10,537,000 7t) R &x M HAHE & 2 H
represent rental expenses for short-term leases and &5 K 499,560,000 T (ZZE=F
approximately HK$9,560,000 (2020: approximately 4 #9838,0008 ) KRRFAEEE
HK$838,000) represent depreciation of right-of-use ZHE (e M BERERM T 14578 ©
assets as set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statement.

** Included in “Cost of sales” ** o SHATHERAE] -

*** Starting from February 2020, the relevant PRC e BT FE AR PEABERN
government authorities have given certain temporary EREG TERREGFMAIHNERS
reliefs to entities incorporated in the PRC to exempt $Euuﬁt})&% NGB T 2mEE
from payment of certain amount of levies on the social HEREE
security insurance.

**%% |ncluded in “Selling and distribution expenses” and ek HATHERKHEBERI RI1THE
“Administrative expenses”. -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no forfeited R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H  AEEL

contributions available to reduce its contribution to the EESWEHKATARNTARKRFEE 2R

pension schemes in future years (2020: Nil). KENFAEER(ZZE_ZF : |)

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 8. FRAE=EN=mER

DIRECTORS

Directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March BIE ETARA - BB REHIZE383(1)

2021 and 2020, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, @ (b)) ORMEARRF (KEES

section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong FImER) RO E2H FEBEHRE T = —

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies FRZEZZF=ZA=+—HIEFEZ

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) BEEZME0T

Regulation, is as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E_TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

Fees ik 1,560 1,763

Other emoluments: HAi & -

Salaries, allowances and other benefits B4 R REMFIZ 17,478 22,286
Contributions to defined contribution AFERTEREFE

retirement plans R 72 145

Equity-settled share option expenses NESEE CBRIEER 5 97

17,555 22,528

19,115 24,291

T- 55 R

REEEZRER QA
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8.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 8. FRAESN=m2EHR (&)
DIRECTORS (continued)
In prior years, certain directors were granted share RUAAFE BETEEHRERNAEE
options, in respect of their services to the Group, REFEZRBMBEARR R 2 BRER
under the share option scheme of the Company, DEREBRE E—FBEHRNEHH
further details of which are set out in note 31 to the BHEMES - ZFHEREZ AREE
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of (ERFBHATERER) ERNEEA
such options, which has been recognised in profit HETE  MRAFEFAAHMB®RE
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as LEHEBRELXC EEMERE -
at the date of grant and the amount included in the
consolidated financial statements for the current
year is included in the above directors’ remuneration
disclosures.
(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) EZEB=
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant RIEEB R RGO E383FHEE 2
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies EEZMWaMT
Ordinance is as follows:
Contributions
Salaries, to defined Equity-
allowances  contribution settled
and other retirement share option
Fees benefits plans  expenses Total
§e EER REHRER NERLEZ
we  HtRE BASEMT BREER @it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Year ended 31 March 2021 ZBZ-%Z]
St-BLFE
Executive directors: WIES:
Liang Guoxing (“Mr. Liang") PER([2%EE])
(Note 1) (1) - 16,520 18 - 16,538
Chen Xiaoxu R - 958 54 1 1,013
Non-executive director: FHITES:
Wu Jie Si RiER 480 - - 1 481
Independent non-executive directors: B FEH{TES :
Hung Sui Kwan I 360 - - 1 361
Ma Lishan VAl 360 - - 1 361
Lee Kwok Keung Edward FER 360 - - 1 361
1,560 17,478 72 5 19,115
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF 8. BHAESMm2EN (&) g !
DIRECTORS (continued) L
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) EEM< (B ﬁ
Contributions =
Salaries, to defined Equity-
allowances  contribution settled

and other retirement share option

Fees benefits plans  expenses Total
FE BER REMNREK NEREEZ

we HERld BASEHR BREEA b

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL TATL TR TR TR

Year ended 31 March 2020 == i
Z+-HLEE

Executive directors: Hi7ES:

Mr. Liang (Note 1) R - 20,520 18 - 20,538
Yan Jun (Note 2) Bi&H22) - 815 55 7 877
Chen Xiaoxu FRE: 1 - 951 7 20 1,043

Non-executive directors: FHiTES:

Wu Jie Si LR 480 - - 20 500
Chen Sing Hung Johnny (Note 3) FREE (Hi23) 203 - - 10 213

Independent non-executive directors;  BLIFH{TES :

Hung Sui Kwan ot 360 - - 20 380
Ma Lishan Kl 360 E £ 10 370
Lee Kwok Keung Edward FHR 360 . . 10 370

1,763 22,286 145 97 24291

Notes: Hiat -

(1) Mr. Liang has been appointed as the chief 1)  REANR T -_TE-—F—HE
executive officer on 1 January 2020. The ZRARITHAEE - RAEEHEZ
remuneration of Mr. Liang for the year ended = A e = VRS Rl s
31 March 2021 included a housing benefit with MeeEaERREERMHEET
aggregate rental payments of approximately BazHENEESNREED
HK$9,000,000 (2020: approximately 9,000,000 L (Z T =ZF : 4y
HK$9,000,000) in respect of leases of staff 9,000,000/ L) 2 5 = &Rk o

quarter provided to Mr. Liang.
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8.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ remuneration (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(2)  Yan Jun has resigned as an executive director and
the chief executive officer with effect from 31
December 2019. A total of 13,000,000 unvested
share options granted to him were therefore
forfeited on the same date and approximately
HK$1,364,000 of share option expenses were
reversed during the year ended 31 March 2020
but not reflected in his remuneration stated in
the table above.

(3) Chen Sing Hung Johnny has retired as a non-
executive director on 25 September 2019.

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group
to the directors of the Company as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020. There was no arrangement under which a
director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors of the Company that
were entered into or subsisted during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

Except the related party transactions disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that no transactions, arrangements and contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company, or connected
entity of the directors of the Company, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 or at any time during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

8.

EBRESNE2ER (8)
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hfuEkSHMHNES
The five highest paid employees during the year ended HE_T-_—F=-F=+—HIFERN
31 March 2021 included two (2020: two) directors, Ifu&eFMNESEEME (22
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 TFE MB)EF KENWESFEH
to the consolidated financial statements. Details of REXEHMBEHRERMT8 - FARERT
the remuneration for the year of the remaining three —H(ZEZERF =R FEERAH
(2020: three) non-directors, highest paid employees EEMNMESFBROT :
were as follows:
2021 2020
—B_—-F —E_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits OF B R E A & 4,837 5,054
Contributions to defined contribution m{?&?ﬁ RtE At 2
retirement plans WK 56 160
Equity-settled share option expenses NEREEEREER 118 594
5,011 5,808

The remaining three (2020: three)
highest paid employees whose remune

the following bands was follows:

non-directors,

ration fell within

FHERL TARMESR=R (=
T4

ZR)FEERSFHFEEWT :

Number of employees

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

Z 71,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000 7T
3,000,001/ 7 £3,500,0007% 7T

BEAE
2021 2020
—E=-—F —_EFTF
1 L
1 2
1 1

Al

REEBEZEZRAERA

e LT
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(continued)

In prior years, share options were granted to the three
non-directors, highest paid employees in respect of
their services to the Group, further details of which
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and
the amount included in the consolidated financial
statements for the year is included in the above non-
directors, highest paid employees’ remuneration

disclosures.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
above three highest paid employees who are not a
director of the Company as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

9.

hfuseHmMnES (&)

RARFE  ZRFEERSFEER
mE R AR E R R ERER
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BRELXZFEEEFHEEMS W
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INCOME TAX

The Company is incorporated in Cayman Island and is
exempted from income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries
established in the British Virgin Islands are exempted
from income tax of the respective jurisdictions.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax and the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax was made as the Group had
available tax losses brought forward from prior years
to offset the assessable profits generated for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

In March 2018, the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime was signed into law of Hong Kong, under
which the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of qualifying
corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5% for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. The profits of
corporations in the Group not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5% of the estimated assessable
profits for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax
("EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate for the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries
or jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

10. P15 %

RRABRASHSEMKL - W EFHR
BEARBHR - ARARNRBEBRES
PRI MY B A R R RS & B RDEHE
EEEPTISEL -

HRASEA AR B AEFER A A
MEERNEEEE T —F K _-F
“EF-A=T-HLEFEEENER
AR - E I AR B SR K
BEMRSHEE -

R-ZZF—NE=F - EBEHIEIARGE
MERBS - B RBEE-_T—_—F

RZZ_TF=A=+—HLEFE" &
B %A A2 B2,000,0008 7T A B 88
8.25% 2 Mt T - 1 i 82,000,000
BT ZFBAEE16.5% 2 Bt REF o
REE-_ZE-_—FR_ZT_ZTF=A
=+—HIEFE  THEHERERR
FIREBEFE S IFEIR16.5% 25—
KA ET R F B R -

BRETPBEEEMERE((REMAEN
) REEMREBEBRIGD - REBE
—ECFR-FT-FTF=A=1—H
IFFE - R ERFNHER25% -

REMERIEENERRABDIZA
SEZEMENBRKRIAERMNIRT
MR EBIH -

2021 2020
—8--fF - g 323
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET

Current tax - The PRC Enterprise Income Tax EI¥IHi E—hE L £FEH
Over-provision in prior years BEFERERE (4,494) =

Reversal tax EEHIE

Reversal of temporary differences (note 29) BOERZEE(f1i229) 4,000 -
Total income tax credit for the year AEEMEHEEAE (494) -

A

REEEZRER QA

e LT
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

10. Fif8

SEACGD

A reconciliation of the income tax applicable to loss

before tax at the applicable statutory rates for the

countries or jurisdictions in which the Company and

BEBAR AR T M EKIBDHE QA AT
EERS A AEROBEREERETE
B B B AT IS 18 A9 B TR I R BRI B PR A R

the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the AENMEHAEER  FE0T
income tax at the effective tax rate is as follows:
2021 2020
—E—_—fF —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Loss before tax B 5% BT &5 18 (22,728) (170,060)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% %K FH £16.5%t ZHFHIE (3,750) (28,060)
Effect of different tax rates of REA AR ZE 2B AR
subsidiaries operating in other WTrRBE &
jurisdictions 10,235 (2,929)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ NE[ R IEH B B H B FE
for tax purpose 24,163 20,468
Tax effect of income not taxable for JERT U A T TS 2 &
tax purpose (6,421) (149)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7 F& 52 89 74 755 55 18 A0 77 15 7 £ 14,412 14,383
Utilisation of tax losses previously PR AT RERN T EE
not recognised (7,391) (25,248)
Recognition of previously unrecognised HZAFRERHETHIEEE
deferred tax assets (46,570) =
Unrecognised temporary differences AERNEHEE 15,322 21,535
Over-provision in prior years NEFEBRERE (4,494) -
Write-down of deferred tax assets WOREERIBE & 4,000 =
Income tax credit for the year FRNRERER (494) A
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12.
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DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2021,
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020:
Nil).

nor has any dividend been

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount
is based on the loss for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$20,322,000 (2020: approximately
HK$173,172,000),
number of ordinary shares of 2,260,097,946 (2020:
2,260,097,946) in issue during the year ended 31
March 2021.

and the weighted average

Diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per
share as the Company’s share options have no dilutive
effect for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020
because the exercise prices of the Company’s share
options were higher than the average market price of
the Company’s shares for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

11.

12.

R E
BE-T-—FZA=t+—HLFER
FEEN IR ZRE  B|E R

R BEEORAEMBE (ZF_FF  |) -
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BREABEEBESEDNRFALRQA
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# H2,260,097,946% (ZE =—ZF F :
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. % - BEKKE

Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
improvement  and fixtures equipment vehicles Total
RENE BAR
% BEXE  HAZRE ot ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAL TAL TAL ThL
Reconciliation of carrying amounts - FEEHE-—HZ-S_5F
year ended 31 March 2020 ZA=t-BLFE
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFEA-H 21,180 75 2,185 6,077 29,517
Additions NE 4,556 168 585 759 6,068
Depreciation nE (4,316) (31) (986) (1,483) (6,816)
Impairment loss HEBE (6,558) - - - (6,558)
Disposals RE - - (59) (61) (120)
Written-off W (5,932) - = - (5,932)
Exchange realignments EH AR (1,239) - (108) (241) (1,588)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-ZFE=A=1—H 7,691 212 1,617 5,051 14,571
Reconciliation of carrying amounts - FEEHE—HZ-5--F
year ended 31 March 2021 ZA=t-BLFE
As at 1 April 2020 RZE-ZFENA-H 7,691 212 1,617 5,051 14571
Additions NE 247 372 1,151 1,648 3,418
Depreciation & (4.837) (84) (856) (1,682) (7,459)
Disposals RE - - (16) = (16)
Exchange realignments EREE 1,029 2 105 280 1,416
As at 31 March 2021 RZE--F5=f=1-H 4,130 502 2,001 5,297 11,930
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-ZFE-A=+-H
Cost A 44,720 2,363 9,483 23393 79,959
Accumulated depreciation and ZIMERREER
impairment losses (37,029) (2,151) (7,866) (18,342) (65,388)
Net carrying amount FEFE 7,691 212 1,617 5,051 14,571
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-_-F=A=t+-H
Cost KA 46,182 2,137 10,875 24,061 83,855
Accumulated depreciation and ZATERAERE
impairment losses (42,052) (2,235) (8,874) (18,764) (71,925)
Net carrying amount REFE 4130 502 2,001 5,297 11,930
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A

e LT

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % - BMEKRE (E)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, as a result
of the unsatisfactory performance in related to the
operation had been making recurring losses of the
Group, the management of the Group carried out a
review of the recoverable amounts of the Group’s non-
current assets. The recoverable amounts (considered
to be the same as the value-in-use of the CGU of
the non-current assets, including property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group’s
distribution CGU) of the Group’s distribution CGU have
been determined on the basis of their value-in-use
using discounted cash flow method.

The pre-tax discount rate used was 10.1% (2020:
9.6%). The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived
from the most recent financial budgets approved by
the directors of the Company for the next five years
with the residual period using the growth rate of 0.8%
(2020: 2.0%). This rate does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
management of the Group expected that the
recoverable amount of the distribution CGU is higher
than its carrying amount and thus concluded that no
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, given that the
recoverable amount of the distribution CGU is lower
than the carrying amount, therefore, impairment losses
of approximately HK$6,558,000 on property, plant and
equipment and approximately HK$24,045,000 on right
of-use assets were recognised in profit or loss during
31 March 2020.

REZ-—E-—F=A=+—HIF
B BHRARE-—EHEEGBEEEENE
Bz RBATER  AEEEEERAAN
SESERBDEENAKOSE - AEE
REReELBUMAINEERE (RE
AEBRHEACELBEMURNIERBEE
(BHREME BERRBAREREE
ZE)MEREEMER) EEEEREEDN
EREERARSREELETE °

FRANBAMEBEERI0I% (ZEF
F:9.6%) AEEEM08% (ZTZ
TE:20%) MEREFERETEARD
ﬂ%%ﬁt;&ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂiﬂ@%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%

%E’Hziﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂiﬁ% 2

RBE_ZT_—F=A=+—HItF
B AEBEEERMKHECELSE
ey P El e EE RN EREE - A&
HaEmAEE-_E-—F=A=+—H
IFFE W EERBERBRE -

j @%\E_?_?ﬁ B=+—HL#F
S ERCHRASELBEMH KD
HENEEE Bt W% - BEER
18 89 5 18 5 48 496,558,0007% 7T K& £ F
& E R BB RSB 4924,045,0008 T2
REBEE-_ZT-_TF-A=+—HILEE
fr {8 = N RERR

ia51e
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 4. ERAEEEREEAR
LIABILITIES
(i) Right-of-use assets iy FREEE
Leased
properties
HEWHE
HK$'000
FAT
Reconciliation of carrying amount FEEHER-BFZ_ZT_ZTF=A8
- year ended 31 March 2020 =+—BLEFE
As at 1 April 2019 R-ZZE—HhLFW™A—H 121,126
Additions INE 23,610
Depreciation e (25,142)
Written-off i 88 (36,325)
Impairment loss BEEE (24,045)
Exchange realignments ER AR (5,795)
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-_EF=A=+—H 53,429
Reconciliation of carrying amount REAEYHER-B8Z2_FT=-_—F
- year ended 31 March 2021 =Z=A=t+—BLEE
As at 1 April 2020 RZZEZZTFMHA—H 53,429
Additions NE 38,815
Depreciation e (31,490)
Written-off 1 88 (6,019)
Exchange realignments E R 3,775
As at 31 March 2021 IR =42 = 5 === 58,510
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-_TF=A=+—H
Cost BN 102,616
Accumulated depreciation and R ERRERE
impairment losses (49,187)
Net carrying amount BRER(E 53,429
As at 31 March 2021 RCEZ—F=H=+—H
Cost B AR 139,187
Accumulated depreciation and R ERRERE
impairment losses (80,677)
Net carrying amount BREHE 58,510
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L
14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 4. EAREERESEEEHE 8
LIABILITIES (continued)
(i) Lease liabilities iy HEAE i
Present value of minimum ®
Minimum lease payments lease payments
BREHENRK BREHENRNRE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—B--F Z—TTHF ZB--F CZT_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET THER FHET
Within one year —F R 40,928 29,837 35,799 25,392
In the second to fifth ZE—F =%
years, inclusive ERF
(BEEER
M) 54,895 56,133 44,642 36,609
After five years hF & 14,122 13,121 13,248 19,643
109,945 99,091 93,689 81,644
Less: Future finance &l : AR EBF 7%
charges 2 H (16,256) (17,447) - =
Present value of lease HEFTH
obligations BE 93,689 81,644 93,689 81,644
Less: Amount due for 3§ : 1218 A A
settlement within FEEER
12 months (shown 28 (FIA
under current mENER)
liabilities) (35,799) (25,392)
Amount due for 1218 A 1& 2| H3

settlement after 12 HEENL R
months 57,890 56,252
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

14 FRAREEREERSRE (&)

Lease liabilities (continued) (i HEAEBE)
The Group leases office premises, staff quarters AEBAESERENRNISG - B
and warehouses for its operations and the lease IEEaMERE  HER—KAE=ZE
terms are generally ranging from two to ten years TFE(ZZEZFTF:ZE+F) -
(2020: two to ten years).
As at 31 March 2021, the incremental borrowing RZE-_—F=A=+—8 &%
rates for the lease liabilities of the Group were EHE &8 ErE fﬁgﬁﬂfﬁ
ranging from 2.14% to 8.87% per annum (2020: 214%%887% (ZE_FF : F
2.14% to 8.35% per annum). F=E2.14%%E8.35%) °
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the REBE_ZE-_—F=A=+—HI
Group early terminated one (2020: two) lease FE - AEERAKRIEEE—ED
agreements for an office (2020: an office and ARE(ZEZZF : —lARQRE
a warehouse). The Group derecognised right- —RBEE) 2 —B(ZE=_ZF:
of-use assets of approximately HK$6,019,000 MIE) HEWRZ - AEBKIEER
(2020: approximately HK$36,325,000), lease ff A # & E 496,019,000/ 7T (=
liabilities of approximately HK$6,084,000 T T F : 436,325,000 T)
(2020: approximately HK$36,475,000) and & & & 496,084,000 L (=&
non-refundable deposit of approximately —EF : 4936,475,0007% 7T ) KA
HK$2,052,000, respectively, resulting in a loss AR B & 492,052,000/ JT - F
of approximately HK$1,987,000 (2020: gain of A 518 491,987,000 T (—Z —
approximately HK$150,000). T4 YRS 49150,000T) °
Amount recognised in profit or loss (i) NERERN T
2021 2020
—E=-—F —_ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH& T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 31,490 25,142
Loss from impairment of right-of-use  {§ A& E
assets VEREN R - 24,045
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBENHNE 6,008 5,581
Expenses relating to short-term leases %2 HiFd & #)1H R & A 16,034 18,901
Loss/(gain) from termination of leases #RIFTHEE£H EE
(Yzs) 1,987 (150)

Others

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$46,735,000 (2020: approximately
HK$45,237,000). Details of total cash outflow
for leases are set out in note 33(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

(iv)

HAh
REz=—E-——&=A=+—¢
ﬁiE'EEZﬁimﬁ@@%ﬁ
46,735,000 L (ZE - F : 4y
45,237,000 7T) - HEHIRE R
HAERNFFHNE OB wm*k
Ff5E33(b) °
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INTANGIBLE ASSET 5. BEEE
Club
membership
=HREE
HK$'000
FHTT
As at 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RZZE-—hLhFMNA—H-
and 31 March 2021: —E-FEF=ZA=1+—H8BK
—E-—%=A=+—8:
Cost and net carrying amount AR K BRTERE 8,300

The Group tests annually whether the intangible
asset with an indefinite useful life has suffered any
impairment loss with reference to the recent market
transactions of similar assets. No impairment loss is
considered necessary as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

AEESEBUBEORNER 5N
BFARYEREERFHCELEE
BE LR EMBIERR - BA_EZ ¢
A—Z_TF=-A=+—HEORRHEAEA
TEHRE R -

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 6. KERZEAABEIEZEH
S
H =
Details of financial assets at FVTPL are set out as BEBHREAARBEIEZGHMEECFH
follows: BEAHNAT -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets mandatorily REBHAEARBEREANER
measured at FVTPL Rz ARFTEZERMEE FER FET
Unlisted equity investment fund FEETRAEEES 323,834 112,012

The unlisted equity investment fund (“Investment
Fund”) represents the subscription of 5.56% of an
investment fund with original cost of approximately
HK$26,308,000 where the Investment Fund has
participated in a share placement exercise initiated by
Wouliangye Yibin Co., Ltd., a listed entity incorporated
in the PRC engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of liquors in the PRC. As at 31 March
2021, the fair value of the investment represented
approximately 14.00% (2020: 6.08%) of the total
assets of the Group. An unrealised fair value gain of
approximately HK$194,115,000 (2020: approximately
HK$17,192,000) was recognised for the year ended
31 March 2021. The Investment Fund has a lock-up
period of 3 years from the commencement date of the
Investment Fund on 20 April 2018.

FETBRAREES ((REES]D R
R IARIERK AR 4926,308,000/8 TT 288 —
HREESL 25.56% ' ZiREE ST L
HEERRBRRODAER AR (—RNF
BIEMA M ETE RS - NP BR R
HEMMEERESER) MRAERMK
@m BB o RN—_E-_—F=A=+—

H ZRENARBEEAEBREER
E4914.00% (ZZE=-ZTF :6.08%) ° &
EE - F=ZA=+—BILEEERE
RAEHR R A EBEKZ4194,115,000
BIL(ZEZFF : 4917,192,000/%8
TL) cWEESZEEHAREESR
T N\FNA=-t+RHZHKB AR
3% o

—TE-—FFR

REEEZRER QA
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (continued)

The movement of the Investment Fund is analysed as

16.

LEREAARBEIRZERH
BE(8)
BRERSHESHHTMOT

i}

follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period R4 Hi %) 112,012 94,820
Changes in fair value NAEBEEEDY 194,115 17,192
Exchange realignments TE 3B 17,707 -
At the end of the reporting period A== N 323,834 112,012
17. INVENTORIES 17. #&

2021 2020

—E-—F —EF-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Merchandise B 184,338 355,280
Packaging materials BEME 1,322 325
185,660 355,605

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there was
a provision for inventories in respect of write-
down to net realisable value of certain merchandise
(2020: merchandise) due to changes in the market
condition. Therefore, a provision of approximately
HK$3,779,000 (2020: approximately HK$18,204,000)
has been recognised in profit or loss. As at 31
March 2021, the carrying amount net of allowance
of inventories of approximately HK$133,389,000
(2020: approximately HK$144,150,000) amounted to
approximately HK$185,660,000 (2020: approximately
HK$355,605,000).

REBEE_ZE_—F=A=+—8H1I
FE BHRATREL ERXETH
R(ZE_Z2F BHR)NEFEET#

IR F B MO B lltt %1%
#)3,779,0008 T (ZZE T F : 4
18,204,000/ L) EEBm PR °

EA_Y_fE B=+—8 #Hk#E

& B 49133,389,0008 L (ZEZZ
4 1 #9144,150,0005 7T) £ M EREIEL
£185,660,0008 L (ZE =T F : 4

355,605,000/ 7T ) °
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18. OTHER INVESTMENTS

8. HttiR&E

2021 2020
—E=-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THET
Unlisted investments, at fair value FEH&RE  BOAAEE
Principal unguaranteed funds ERAES 37,194 =

As at 31 March 2021, the unlisted investments
in principal unguaranteed funds (the “Principal
Unguaranteed Funds”) were placed with a bank
in the PRC. The Principal Unguaranteed Funds
can be redeemed from time to time, The Principal
Unguaranteed Funds are unlisted investment
funds which mainly invested in bank deposit, bank
debentures, standardised credit assets and other
investments in the PRC with high credit rating. The
Principal Unguaranteed Funds bear interest at floating
rate with expected return ranging from 2.59% to
3.59% per annum during the year ended 31 March
2021. The fair value of the Principal Unguaranteed
Funds is reported by a bank reference to the fair value
of the underlying instruments at the end of each
reporting period. The Principal Unguaranteed Fund

were denominated in RMB.

R-TE-—&F=ZA=+—0  RIERXK
FRAES ([ERAES]D)MIELT
BEFHRRPEN—FEERTERA
EenBERER - FRAEER/ILE
MREES  TERENBIER R
TESF BRELCEEEERAEMSE
RERNTEEKE - FREAESREZE
T A=+ HLEFENE
A XL - BEHFERRN F2.59%F
3.59% ° FRAE SN AR BEEHR—M
RIT2ERALENBERARNDAE
EmMER - FREAEEUARKGE -

T- 55 R

REEEZRER QA
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18. OTHER INVESTMENTS (continued)

19.

The movement of the Principal Unguaranteed Funds is

analysed as follows:

18. HMRE (&)
ERAESHBBHHRMT -

2021 2020

—E-—-F —ET_FF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

At the beginning of the reporting period 7 ¥k & Hi 4 - =
Additions BN 446,420 438,277
Redemption f& (@] (410,622) (438,277)
Exchange realignments ER AR 1,396 -
At the end of the reporting period R BB R 37,194 -

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

19. BRREBSRIEREBERERE

2021 2020

—E-—F —EZFF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFAETT

Trade receivables FEWE 558 333,850 320,271

Less: Loss allowance for ECL

B R EEEEZEIERE (316,961) (229,237)

16,889 91,034

Bills receivables fE U = 1%

- 2358

16,889 93,387
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group normally allows a credit period of 3 months
to 1 year to its customers except for certain major
customers where longer credit terms may be granted
upon approval by the management of the Group.
The credit terms of bills receivables are generally 6
months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by the senior management of the
Group. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-

bearing.

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables at

the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice

VD ERESZHREREVRERE

(%)

AEE-RATFRE=FEAZ—F
MEEH EEASEEREMER
ETIERPAERRENEEN - &
WEBZEER—RRAEA - NEE
BN REE N RUGKIARE BBE
Hl o AEESREEESTHEMNES
iaER - RUE HFIE MBI EEY A

B o

TN

RB|BEHRNELRE ZHBRERRE
BRERAHRGRBREESER ZER

date and net of loss allowance for ECL, is as follows: BEMNRESTOT
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Within 2 months GRENGER 4,255 12,667
2 months to 6 months W& A =751 A 7,051 5,423
6 months to 1 year NEAE—F 5,486 9,703
Over 1 year HBiE—F 97 65,594
16,889 93,387

A

REEEZRER QA

—TE-—FFR
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance for ECL of
trade and bills receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade and bills receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the
debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the

forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the senior
management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated. Due
to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has increased the
expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to
increased credit default rates. The Group recognised
lifetime ECL for trade and bills receivables based on
the risk characteristics of different customers or the
ageing of customers collectively. As at 31 March 2021,
lifetime ECL of approximately HK$315,353,000 (2020:
approximately HK$175,286,000) has been made in
respect of trade receivables with gross amount of
approximately HK$315,353,000 (2020: approximately
HK$175,286,000) as they are individually determined
to be credit-impaired, in which the trade receivables
have been long outstanding. For the remaining balance
(not credit-impaired) of approximately HK$18,497,000
(2020: approximately HK$147,338,000), the Group
determines the ECL based on a provision matrix
grouped by the past due status of these receivables, as
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for these

customers.

19.

BUREZRERERRE
(%)

AEEZRE BENEEHRTERRE
PHHIE R EE 2 R E B RO
B  RNE S REREREENTE
HIEEBRERBBREERGT L2 E
EHANBEEODHRREBA BRI
BIRORM DT - RERESE ABEBA
BENEE  EHARBRETENE
BATEAR AR B B RIERRR 5 8
BPAE R -

AEB e EEETHENS BB
NABREEEBANBEEEREE
o BRFTE M AR B S BUE KN
TREEN  ~EEEASAFENES
BEE REAREHETRRIES
BHEEBNELA AEEHEKES
HEREBREBEZRTRAEE AR
BRZAREESE R EREER
ZHEREERE -RZTE=Z—F=A
=+—H B3LBEL 315,353,000
BT (ZEZFF : £9175,286,000/%8
o) ZEWE SFIEEL 2 HEREE
[E1849315,353,0008 L (Z T ZF4F :
#9175,286,000%7T) + REA BB BERIE
WERWETE AEERE(EFHEK
BoNBEERKEMME) - gt ERER
(W= B R 1E) £918,497,0008 7T (=
T T4 49147,338,0008 ) M= °
7N 55 B AR UR B 4 AR R (FR bt 5 R W kTR
ZEEARR B EETEREEEE -
RRAAEERE S EEEIBLRIT KA
THEEFHREAZEMEERER -
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 10 ERESREREREZE &
(continued) (#8) &
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRETRBE(E T ERRANERE S ﬁ;
ECL that has been recognised for trade and bill HEREWEENEZHEREEBEN »

receivables under the simplified approach: &

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HmEH 2HmEH
FEERE FEER
(TEREE (HBREE

HAE) HIE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NFMA—A 2,908 185,962 188,870
Charged to profit or loss RiEZE MR 51,043 - 51,043
Exchange realignments JEH AR - (10,676) (10,676)
As at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-ZZE-_ZTF=A=+—8
hZE-TFMA—H 53,951 175,286 229,237
Changes due to financial instruments  F#7R4 g T A 3| £
recognised: o
- Transfer to credit-impaired - EREZERE (51,519) 51,519 -
— Amount recovered —BlmsEE (1,691) (1,348) (3,039)
Charged to profit or loss RE=MR 867 76,724 77,591
Exchange realignments E R T - 13,172 13,172
As at 31 March 2021 R-B--%=A=+-H 1,608 315,353 316,961
Included in the loss allowance as at 31 March R_ZE-_—F=F=+—AWNEERE
2021, was provision for doubtful debts for specific B TE4E#49/4315,353,0008 L (=&
unsecured trade receivables with balances of —ZTF : #9175,286,000 TT) B4 E £
approximately HK$315,353,000 (2020: approximately BIRE W E 5 RIEH R R -

HK$175,286,000).
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19.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

19.

The following table provides information about the

exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade and bills

receivables from these customers which are assessed

individually or collectively based on provision matrix as

at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

As at 31 March 2021

BWE ZZ

(%)

TERERABER -_T——
BE=A=+— E!%é‘ﬁ%ﬁl@fl%lli
AR ERZER P E
EE Rk NEHRE é“léﬂ@éﬂ

R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H

TEKEWRERE

Eﬁ&i?i

15&7?}%8@

Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

hnE 5
FHEERE QKKREE HERE FREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FET FET

Collective assessment HEFE

— 0 to 30 days past due  — #HJOE30K 3.2% 17,353 (561) 16,792
— 31 to 90 days past due — #Ef31290K 39.0% 159 (62) 97
— Over 90 days past due  — #HIFBIBIOK 100.0 985 (985) -
Individual assessment & Bl 3T 1 N/ATRE F 315,353 (315,353) -
333,850 (316,961) 16,889
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 10 ERESHERBEREE o'
(continued) (48)
As at 31 March 2020 R-—E-_FEF=A=+—H ﬁ
b=t
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
pillk: ]

BHERR REEE BREE FEEE
%  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FTATT FTHT FTAT

Collective assessment H @G

— 0 to 30 days past due — BHI0OE30K 34.7 137,167 (47,618) 89,549
— 31 to 90 days past due — #HI31Z=90K 42.6 540 (230) 310
— Over 90 days past due  — A EIFRIBEO0K 63.4 9,631 (6,103) 3,528
Individual assessment & 51 5F 1 N/AT 58 175,286 (175,286) =

322,624 (229,237) 93,387
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20 ENRE-ZEEREMER
RECEIVABLES RIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Deposits paid to suppliers MR N zES 782,824 474,482
Prepayments AR FRIE 18,257 21,632
Less: Impairment loss on deposits B MEHEREINcEER
paid to suppliers and TEN RIE 2R EEE
prepayments (note (i) (K1aE0) (33,046) (29,759)
768,035 466,355
Other deposits and receivables H ¥ & M fE U FRIE 32,711 38,282
Less: Loss allowance for ECL on other g : Hithiz4 REWIE 2
deposits and receivables EHEEEED
(note (ii) 5B B E (I aE (i) (83) (698)
32,628 37,584
800,663 503,939
Portion classified as non-current deposits 9 %8 /& JEENERIR & 2 3015 (161,077) (153,125)
Current portion B ER & 17 639,586 350,814

Included in the Group’s “Deposits paid to suppliers”
is a deposit of approximately HK$219,955,000 (2020:
approximately HK$202,372,000) placed with a supplier
of the Group. The management of the Group has
reclassified approximately HK$150,148,000 (2020:
approximately HK$143,006,000) of the deposit under
non-current assets based on expectation on the timing

of utilising the deposit.

AEE[MMHEFIE N zEZS]IHE
BERAKEE —BHEERZ2ERSH
219,955,000 L (ZE = F : 4
202,372,000/ 7T) - AEBEFIEEER
BREPHRRe ERNUEBERDE
EIE N 2E&F4150,148,000/8 T (=
T T F : 49143,006,000870) EF D

e
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20 A RE -Re kR EMER
RECEIVABLES (continued) IE (&)
Notes: Htat - 1
() An analysis of the impairment loss on deposits paid to () AHEEXNZES RIBENRIEZR i
suppliers and prepayments are as follows: BEEBITAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R HH) 29,759 8,282
Impairment loss, net (note 7) REEE CERR) (Bit7) 3,287 22,160
Exchange realignments E N T - (683)
At the end of the reporting period & B R 33,046 29,759
(i) The Group recognised 12-month ECL for other deposits (i) AEBEEREMIEZS KERKIENI2
and receivables as follows: BAEBREEBENAT :
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
i1
EHEEE BERMEE BERE FREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT FHET

As at 31 March 2021 R=-ZE=-—-f=H=+—H
Performing BHIF 0.3% 32,711 (83) 32,628

As at 31 March 2020 RZZEZZTF=A=+—H
Performing EE ok 1.8% 38,282 (698) 37,584
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for ECL for other

deposits and receivables are as follows:

20.

BRNRE -ZEREMER
IE ()

£ i B HOE 2 TS AR 8
EIREBESESHMT

2021 2020

—E=-—F —ETF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT T T

At the beginning of the reporting period R %R H3 %) 698 343
(Reversal)/charge of loss allowance, net (B[R, 0k & 1B B

(note 7) CFFE) (H1at7) (615) EES

At the end of the reporting period R BB R 83 698

Included in the Group’s “Other deposits and
receivables” is a refundable rental deposit of
approximately HK$1,400,000 (2020: approximately
HK$1,400,000), placed with Silver Base (Holdings)
Limited (“SBH"”), a company controlled by Mr. Liang,
an executive director and a substantial shareholder of
the Company. The rental deposit to SBH is unsecured,
interest-free and refundable at the end of the lease

term.

AEBZ [Hfhize REWKIE] BE
FRRRE(EE) ARAF ([HRE (£
)] —FRAARARITEZRHRETE
BRRGEEZEFHRR]) WA RERE
2 £ 491,400,000 T (=T =FF : 4y
1,400,000 7T) - MRE () X[z
HEReRERR R SURERELY
HAPR JE m B AR [0 o
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PLEDGED DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED
BANK BALANCES/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

 BEEAERZREBITEER

SRERBREEEY

2021 2020

—E-—F —EZTF

HKS$'000 HK$'000

F#E T FHET

Bank balances and cash IRITEEHR MRS 870,142 698,525
Less: Pledged deposits w o BEBER (235,537) -
Restricted bank balances PR I ER 1T 45 B (20,223) =
Cash and cash equivalents BHE MRS ZEYD 614,382 698,525

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
cash equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to approximately HK$594,332,000 (2020:
approximately HK$672,036,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

Pursuant to the banking facilities signed with banks in
the PRC, the pledged deposits represent bank balances
in the banks in the PRC maintained solely for the
purpose of settlement of outstanding bills payables and
interest-bearing bank borrowings and are restricted for
use by the Group for any other purposes. The pledged
deposits are denominated in RMB and carried interest
at prevailing market rates. As at 31 March 2021, the
pledged deposits of approximately HK$46,462,000
and approximately HK$189,075,000 were pledged
to secured the bills payables of approximately
HK$460,265,000 (note 22) and interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately HK$159,950,000 (note
25), respectively.

The Group's restricted bank balances are bank deposits
denominated in United States dollars (“US$") which
carried interest at prevailing market rates and were
pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group. The Group had not utilised any banking
facilities as at 31 March 2021 in respect to the
restricted bank balances.

RMER - ZEBAARESERNIR
& MIR& FEWL594,332,0008 70 (=
T T4 : 4)672,036,000/87C) - AR
AT ERABRAEMER - Rl ' 1B
BEHBEAOMNEE BIEM) MEE - &
ERNEERBAT)  AEEEESH
ERERITHEARE LR AINE LT
INEET ©

RITRSESHRITHEENRAZEER
RHREUF S  SRITAE B R B 17 508
T 10 I A5 S8 A0 R0 8% T 5B BR & RO SR
17 -

BEEPHFETEENRITRE B
%&#ﬁﬁ?ﬂ% EEEP B ER1TAE AR 4

BEEMNZHEMTERITEED
fﬁﬁ & 5 Iﬁﬁ%lm%lﬂﬂwiﬂﬁ
A% CDEFFRAARESE -
EEETTmi%%‘JTu+§ 75/\ T__/EE
=A=+—H " #46,462,0007 L M4
189,075,000/ T E W F R E 5 5l
YEA#1460,265,0005% 7T 1) FE 1~ 2= 48 (K
5522) M#9159,950,000/# &Izt 28R 1T
B8 (fsE25) ZERMB I -

AEBHFZRBIBITHEBEAZIT (13X
7t l) FHERILIRITH IS F R B A RTT
R BB AR EERRITR
B-R-F_—F=ZA=+—8 &%
3 A A R R B IRTT ARG B
HERITRRE -

5

REEBEBZEZRERA

e LT
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22. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

22. BENESZRERENRE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAET

Trade payables FET B 5 5K I8 3,250 3,783
Bills payables AN 460,265 -
463,515 3,783

The ageing analysis of the trade payables at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

R EPRIRE R AR ENE SRR
RREe DA -

=

2021 2020

—E=-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FHT

Within 1 month —EAA 9 147
1 month to 3 months —EAAE=1@A 22 575
Over 3 months =@ANUE 3,219 3,061
3,250 3,783

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on 90-day terms.

The bills payables are non-interest-bearing and
repayable within one year since its inception.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bills payables
amounted to approximately RMB389,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$460,265,000) (2020:
Nil) which were secured by the Group’s pledged
deposits of approximately RMB39,268,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$46,462,000) (2020: Nil) as set out
in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERNESHE AR BER—MKIA0HE AR

AEE o
ENEES2ERARERBETH
—FREE-

R—EBE_—F=A=1+—H " &5H
4 A R #389,000,0007T (48 E 7 4
460,265,000 L) (ZZE T F : )
HIJE T 245 = A K A R %39,268,0007T
(BN 446,462,000 T) (T - F
F ) NASEEEBERART (0
B BRMEMT21FE) ©
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. Hft BRI RIEREFTEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Value-added tax payables FE 12 (E T 170,776 146,667
Other payables H b JE A~ 2018 8,092 6,579
Accruals FE BR=KE 34,489 18,744
Provision for a claim on a litigation AR REBME (M7£38(a)
(note 38(a)) 11,783 10,900
225,140 182,890
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. ERIEE
The movements (excluding those arising from increases RBE_ZTE-_—FR_FT-_FTF=H
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of =+—HIEFE BEMBREENE
contract liabilities from contracts with customers within 15 ARERFERMNAERABEES
HKFRS 15 during the years ended 31 March 2021 and (M Fr A — S E A E SRR I :
2020 are as follows:
2021 2020
:g:—qi — 7 — E'E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
As at 1 April RO A—H 312,704 236,822
Receipt of advances SN 77,832 312,704
Recognised as revenue R B (312,704) (236,822)
As at 31 March R=HA=+—8H 77,832 312,704
Contract liabilities represented advances received from ERABEBEREREPWEIMBITARS
customers to deliver goods. B e

The Group receives range from 20% to 70% of the
contract values as deposits from customers when they
sign the sale and purchase agreements for the sales of
goods.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the advances from
customers are expected to be recognised as revenue
within 1 year.

AEBEEFPRIEHEEERNE
BiZEREFWIRE FEEN20%E
T0%EREE -

RE==E pi bl e B BN
TP REFEE - FRERRK

B
o

B 5%

REEEZRER QA
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24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

24. EEEE (&)

The significant decrease in contract liabilities as at
31 March 2021 was mainly due to the successful

delivery of liquor products to customers,

which

advanced payments to the Group as at 31 March 2020,

during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group applies the practical expedient and does
not disclose information about remaining performance
obligations that have original expected durations of

one year or less.

RZEBE-_—F=A=+—ANERAE
BERY  FERHRERZE_ZT_—
F=A=tT—HLEFERREF (BZE
CTECEF=-R=T—HEEEBEEM
AEBMF)KNRFBEESR °

FEBRAEAELS % TRERE
IR 5 — o F O E S B E L
BH -

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. sSTRRITRAEMBEE
BORROWINGS
2021 2020
:g:-ﬁ — 7 =% ¢
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (% per rate (% per
annum)  Maturity HK$'000 annum) Maturity HK$'000
ARERZ BHEFE
(%) B TER (%) ELs THr
Bank loan - unsecured RITEF-ERR Fixed rate Fixed rate
(note (a)) (Hita) of 6.00% of 6.00%
B EFl% Ehabip
6.00% 2022 34,313 6.00% 2021 29,552
Bank loan - secured RITEF-BHR Fixed rate
(note (b)) (Hi#b) of 4.00%
BEERZ N/A N/A
4.00% 2022 159,950 NER NEA =
Other loan (note (c)) ERERHH() Fixed rate Fixed rate
of 4.75% of 4.35%
B E % & & F &
4.75% 2021 59,160 4.35% 2020 54,725
Notes: e

(@)  The Group's bank loan was denominated in RMB.
(b)  The Group’s bank loan was denominated in HK$.
(c) The Group's other loan was denominated in RMB.

As at 31 March 2021,

the Group's interest-bearing

bank and other borrowings are secured by the Group’s
pledged deposits of RMB159,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$189,075,000) (2020: Nil) and were
supported by corporate guarantees executed by the
Company, a director of the Company, subsidiaries of
the Company and a related company of the Company.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings are supported by corporate
guarantees executed by the Company, a director of the
Company, subsidiaries of the Company and a related

company of the Company.

(@ AEENRITERAAREFE -
(b) AEEMRITERAEITFE -
(0 AEENEMERAAREFE-

R-E-_—F=A=+—8 ' ~5£EH
AEERTAEMEERAEENE IR
#H1F 3 A R #159,800,0007T (FHE A4
189,075,000/ L) (T -ZTF : £) X
o WHARR)  KARAIH—RESE -
RN BB A B A AN A &) HY — 5 B8 B
UNGIE- SVA: 0PN R/ (e =

R-Z_ZTF=ZA=+—H AEEHN
ARRTREMEEHARE - NAF
M—BEE  ARFANHEBARMAR
Al —E BB R R R R BERIES

o
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26. BOND PAYABLES 26. BIES &
2021 2020 W
—E-—F —EEF ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 b
FET FET
Current portion BB 1D
Bond payables, unsecured e ES - SR 323,863 518,128
Non-current portion IE 7 By 3B 45
Bond payables, unsecured ERES - S 290,731 209,948
Carrying value BRMEE 614,594 728,076
Face value mE 651,000 773,800
2021 2020
—E—— —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Carrying amounts of the above bond  FEfE:E il BT EH R REE
payables are repayable (based on (RIBES I Z
scheduled repayment date set outin  FTEEEZX B ) :
the bond agreements):
Within one year —F RN 323,863 518,128
After one year but within two years —FREMFTNRN 254,758 139,191
After two years but within five years R E L FE A 34,328 51,323
After five years HFi%& 1,645 19,434

614,594 728,076
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26. BOND PAYABLES (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group issued
bonds (the “2015 Bonds”) with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$15,000,000, before related
expenses of approximately HK$2,175,000, to certain
independent individuals. Except for the bond with a
principal amount of approximately HK$5,000,000 which
matured and was repaid in July 2017, the 2015 Bonds
bear interest at a rate of 7% per annum and will mature
in the period from October 2022 to December 2022. The
interest will be repayable by the Group annually on the
anniversary of the issue dates of the respective bonds and
up to the maturity date.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group issued
bonds (the “2016 Bonds”) with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$274,500,000, before
related expenses of approximately HK$48,663,000, to
certain independent entities and individuals. Except
for bonds with principal amounts of approximately
HK$153,500,000 which matured and were repaid, the
2016 Bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 5.5%
to 8% per annum and will mature in the period from
September 2020 to September 2024. The interest will be
repayable by the Group semi-annually or annually from
the issue dates of the respective bonds and up to the

maturity date.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group issued
bonds (the “2017 Bonds”) with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$430,900,000, before
related expenses of approximately HK$75,047,000, to
certain independent entities and individuals. Except
for a bond with principal amount of approximately
HK$2,000,000 which matured and was repaid in May
2019, the 2017 Bonds bear interest at 7% per annum
and will mature in the period from April 2020 to
September 2025. The interest will be repayable by the
Group semi-annually or annually from the issue dates of

the respective bonds and up to the maturity date.

26.

B ES (&)
REE-—TE—RNFEF=ZA=+—HBI*F
B AEEMETEILIBARTELRS
X8 #9515,000,00078 7T (RN HEE &
FA492,175,0008 ) 2EH ([ ZF—A

F{E5]) ° Br#95,000,0005% T A& & 58
ZEHFEIHYER=_T—+FLAE
BN —E—AFEFEI% 2 FHE
RN T +AE=F ==
FHZAZHRREIE - AEEHFRE
BEFETHRBESEEMFE  BE
FEB AL -

%

RNEBE-_T—tF=A=+—HLEHF
g - $‘ilﬁ7aF§%j§‘§f§*ﬁ%@$
% %8 #) /274,500,0005 7T (R0 48
9% FH #4948,663,0008 7T) 2 &% ([ —
T—XEEH]) ° BR4153,500,0007
TAEZBHEIHIDEEN =T
—NEBEHEENF5.5%E8% 2 FFIX
ARETER T _EFNAE-_ZT NN
FNAZHEREE - REBEBRIEH
BEHBHTHAHBREFFRETFEMNT
g HEZEIHEAAILL -

ol

REBEE=ZFE—NF=A=+—HLHF
B AEBERETBLIEERTELS
FA #9 /3430,900,0005%8 7T (K 40 & 48 78
B #75,047,0008 L) 2BEH (=
— &5 o BT 42,000 000;‘%357_3
AeEZBEBHBIHBITER=_Z—HLFR
AEEI :%—tiﬁﬁhﬁ%z&
MEFBENVER T _TFMNAE=T
“—HENAZHEAREE - AEEBR
AESF TR RS L FREFEMN
B BEIHBEAIL -
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26. BOND PAYABLES (continued) 26. Y ES (&) @ !
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group NEE-_T—AE=A=+—HitE =
issued bonds (the “2018 Bonds”) with an aggregate E AEERETHELEBEITAR ﬁ
principal amount of approximately HK$160,200,000, & B4 /160,200,0008 7T CRAKE g

before related expenses of approximately
HK$27,238,000, to certain independent entities and
individuals. The 2018 Bonds bear interest at rates
ranging from 6% to 7% per annum and will mature in
the period from April 2021 to May 2026. The interest

B & A 4927,238,0008 7T) 2 &% ([ =
T-NEFEE])  —E-N\FEHK
NF6%ZET% 2 FHEFEAFHRZF
——FNAER—Z-_AFRAZHBERA
FE o REBEGRIBBAESZEITEEE

will be repayable by the Group semi-annually or BYFABFENANE  BEZXINHBE AR
annually from the issue dates of the respective bonds k-

and up to the maturity date.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group REZE_Z-_FTF=—H=1T—HBLHF
issued bonds (the “2019 Bonds”) with an aggregate E AEBEMETHELERETELS

principal amount of approximately HK$53,700,000,
before related expenses of approximately
HK$8,649,000, to certain independent individuals. The
2019 Bonds bear interest at rates ranging from 6%
to 7% per annum and will mature in the period from
November 2021 to November 2022. The interest will
be repayable by the Group semi-annually or annually
from the issue dates of the respective bonds and up to

the maturity date.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
renewed certain 2016 Bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of approximately HK$55,000,000 with
certain individuals. The renewed bonds bear interest at

8% per annum and will mature in March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
renewed the above bonds (the “Renewed Bonds”)
with an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$330,700,000 with certain individuals. The Renewed
Bonds bear interest at 8.0% — 8.5% per annum and will
mature in the period from July 2021 to March 2023.
Apart from the extension of maturity date and change in
contractual interest rate, all terms of the Renewed Bonds

remain unchanged from the original terms.

5049 /553,700,000% 7T (KR0KHE &
Fi#78,649,000/8 L) 2f&H ([=ZE— A,
FEH] - ZT—NFBFENT6%

7%Z¢5W—'—E‘1‘E']I?HB’\_§: F
T AEZE_—_F+—-AZHER
FE o REBEBRIBMESZITEEE
BY¥FHEFEMNE  BEEIHBA
ﬂ:o

=

HEZ TF=R=+—HIEF
RN S lﬁ%ﬂFAiEiﬂiﬁéﬁﬁiﬁ
#%55,000,0008 2B T T —R"FE
%o MBEBEHILES%Z FF KB
BRI —F=FREH-

REBEE_E=-—F=A=+—HLHF
CAEERETALTEBEBASTELY
#$330,700,0008 L2 LitESH (K&
BEF]) - KKEBEEHR8.0% - 8.5%
ZEMNEFRABR_TE=Z—FLAZE
—E-=F=-AREHS - -BRERERDEAE
REBMEREEI  KEEEHF A
R REIEFTABLL R T -

S
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206.

27.

28.

29.

BOND PAYABLES (continued)

The extension of maturity date and change in
contractual interest rate were considered to be a
substantial modification of terms of the bonds as the
discounted present value of the cash flows of the
Renewed Bonds was more than 10% different from
the discounted present value of the cash flows of
the bonds prior to the extension of maturity date. As
such, the bonds were derecognised and the Renewed
Bonds were recognised. The fair value of the Renewed
Bonds as at the date of renewal was approximately
HK$294,603,000. The gain arising from modification
of bonds of approximately HK$36,097,000 was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2021.

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The related company represents
a company in which Mr. Leung, a substantial
shareholder, has equity interests and directorships and
over which Mr. Leung is able to exercise control.

DEFERRED TAX

The following is the analysis of the Group’s net
position of deferred tax, after set off certain deferred
tax assets against deferred tax liabilities of the same
taxable entity, for financial reporting purposes:

26.

27.

28.

29.

B ES (&)
BHREEEBESFNRERELMRIAE
HBHALERAESRRES R EMERIE
REMZBB10% AR HE &
EMERFEESERSEEFEROER
PR At ZEBEHFEKRILER - M
KEEFEHBTURER - KEEBEHFR
EEABMNAREERA294,603,000
BT EAHREEFMELENKELD
36,097,000 TEREE=_T = —F=
A=T—HIEFEAEERER -

ENESNIE
ZERBEEER REREERE

JE {5 B Bk X B FRIE
ZREREER RERARERE
B -BAYARREIERRRLLEHRE
R HEEENRF - MARLLEER
HEITEIZHIE -

iR SE B 1E

REF B REREZARBEELR AL
FRF (AETREREEERHR—H
BERZEERARGER) 2OMAT

2021 2020

—E- —EoEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FET

Deferred tax assets EETIBE E - 4,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE (5.000) (5,000)
(5,000) (1,000)
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 29. IEERIE (&) @
The movements in the Group's net position of deferred REFRREMBEZ FKERBEEE
tax during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 T—FRZEZTF=A=+—HIEF 1
are as follows: ERAZE8MT : Pt

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EXEMIBEE, (BE)

Withholding Unrealised

taxes on gain on
Allowance  undistributed financial
for doubtful profits of assets at
Tax losses debt subsidiaries FVTPL Total
RERE
AREE

WELR SRz &R
R EFE BEZA

HEFSE RERE ZBENH ERWE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TR THET THT TR

As at 1 April 2019 R-B-NFMA-A 21,128 - (5,000) (17,128) (1,000

Offsetting i 4,298 - = (4,298) =
Asat 31 March 2020and R-E-EF=AH

1 April 2020 =+-BR-Z-ZTF

mMA—A 25,426 = (5,000) (21,426) (1,000)

Offsetting e 665 47,864 - (48,529) -

Charged to profit or loss ~ REFHBR (4,000) - - - (4,000)

Exchange realignments ERAE 1,763 2,664 - (4,427) -
As at 31 March 2021 R-_E-_—%=H

== 23,854 50,528 (5,000) (74,382) (5,000)
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29. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) (continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong
Kong of approximately HK$192,189,000 (2020:
approximately HK$153,056,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also has estimated tax losses arising in
the PRC of approximately HK$223,073,000 (2020:
approximately HK$226,736,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$192,189,000 (2020:
approximately HK$128,814,000) and the PRC of
approximately HK$134,708,000 (2020: approximately
HK$141,032,000) have not been recognised as they
have arisen in certain subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the

tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in the
PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5% or 10%. The Group is therefore liable for
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of

earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its

shareholders.

29. IEFER IR (&)

BEEMIBEE (BE) (B)

AEBEEBREEZHAREER
#49192,189,0008 T (ZZEZZF : &
153,056,0007% 7T ) A #& R 83 A8 1K 85
EXEBBIZRARZRKRERBFE -
AEEBNEEREES ZBERIES
8 #223,073,0008 T (Z T =& F :
#49226,736,0008 ) RN —E A F A
FE - ZEBEEREI B AE
BeEEBBEBZ D RHRKER
MABE - BARZEEBNDRBEZED
E—BERzETHEARAR  BTR
RAETREERBFEARNEHHIE
BE B AREEBEE 2 HEE
#H#9192,189,0008 T (ZE_FF : 4
128,814,000/ 7T) RAEF B E £ 2 Hi 1A
E518#9134,708,0008 T (ZE T F :
#9141,032,000/8 7T ) HERELTIEE E °

BEBECEMERZE  RBBEKZZINE
TEMRIMEEESM2REABK
10%2BMNBE - REREE _ZZEN
F-A—HRER BRAR-ZTTtHF
TZA=T—HUERELEZRBF - KR
BlERAERIMNEEEMB R AR 2 M
FIAERBHE - RISk AT RBURFENHE X
B RAKEME - BABERS%K
10% ° At - REBEARNF KL 2
MBARR-_ZTENGF—A—BUEE
&2 BFFT 9K 2 IR S AR TE T -

AARBERFRERS - LM HE
ISRz ER
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30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. IRAR
2021 2020
—E=-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET
Authorised: ERE
100,000,000,000 (2020: 100,000,000,000/%
100,000,000,000) ordinary shares —EoFTF
of HK$0.1 each 100,000,000,000/% )
BREE0.1EITH
AR 10,000,000 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
2,260,097,946 (2020: 2,260,097,946/%
2,260,097,946) ordinary shares —E-FTF
of HK$0.1 each 2,260,097,946/% )
BRMEE0.1EITH
B 226,010 226,010
None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or ARAMBARIREEZE T —F K=
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during E-EF=A=+— FEABERE
the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. 8 HERBEE T Al EMEF e

B 5%

REEEZEZRERLD A
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31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operated a share option scheme (the
“2009 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the 2009 Share
Option Scheme include the Company’'s directors,
including executive directors, non-executive directors,
independent non-executive directors, a substantial
shareholder of the Company and other employees of
the Group. The 2009 Share Option Scheme became
effective on 20 February 2009 and expired on 19
February 2019. On 23 August 2019, the shareholders
of the Company approved a new share option scheme
(the 2019 Share Option Scheme”).

The maximum number of shares that may be issued
upon exercise of all share options under the 2019
Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed
the number of shares as shall represent 10% of the
total number of shares in issue on 23 August 2019.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding share options granted
and yet to be exercised under the 2019 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time. Unless approved by shareholders
of the Company in general meetings, no share option
shall be granted, if the acceptance of those share
option(s) would result in the total number of shares
already issued and to be issued to such grantee on
exercise of such grantee’s share option(s) during any
12-month period exceeding 1% of the total shares

then in issue.

31.

BEIRESTE

RABIRBERESE (ST NEFH
ARHIEST S 1) DA SR B) Ko B i 39 N 62 B 258
ZHBIERERMEERREE - —F
ZhEBREAESINGERZEERE
RAREEZ(BEHITES  FERTE
= BUFNTES) ARAETER
REAEEHMES - —TTNFER
BAER-_TETAF_A-+ARBRERK
YER—_ZE—NAE_A+hBER- K
ZE-AFNAZ+=A " ARERE
B —EFERESE ([T - NFB
PerEET &) o

“E-NFERESERARRMEME
AR EET BB T 2 2 A B ARE R AT
MARER T2 RmRMNE B G5 TEE
BERENR_ZE-NFNRZ+=BBE%
TR BEI10% 2 IRHDEAB - ARE=
T NFERET S RAR B E A EHAD
BREEERD M ARITEZ 2R
TEEREETEMAIEERT 2RSSR
NEETSHBAERRRTEE ZEITRMND
230% ° FRIFEF AR RIREERER
e HibE - BRISABRABZAEHEER
RS BRI 1218 A BRI R A AR
ABEITHRA S 2 BRER E BEITRE
BTz RNBHEBERDBITRNG
Z1% * AINEE L E AEBARE -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time and with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a

general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 5 business days from the date of offer, upon
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total
by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors of
the Company, and commences after a certain vesting

period.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the directors of the Company, but may not be
less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the
Company's shares; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the
share options; and (iii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the 5

business days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

1. BRERE (&)

RARRFRESE KRTBRABHTR
BRRIBENEMBEALETER
B WAREEBSEYIFRITESNM
JE o BEAN - PMER + @ A B A
ARRABNEERRIBILIFATES K
RENEMBEALRTHOBERE &
RARBREAERNE BT ESR
0.1%RBARARMEELEBHE
Rt ENREBRASES BT AIAR
BRERAE L= RBBERAE -

REOBRENZENAT RN EHZENE A
REEEEBANT AR MAKAR
XNRBIBTERRBANRE - R
MEBERENTEMNHARRESETE -
TRETHEBHBREFAN -

BRENTEERAARBESEE -
AEHEROARFRODOEE : ()RR
AR D B AR M) B 40 B ERAE B R AT Y
W (B R(iDARBIRMNREEZLOA
H B A (2 5 BB R AT R0 SF K (B
(AEmERE) °

RN T TEREE ABRBEHR
BERKRE EIRERER -

T- 55 R

REEEZRER QA
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 3

The following share options were outstanding under

the Scheme during the reporting period:

1. BRERE ()
SR o AR IR R 1T 0B BB AR
mF :

2021 2020
—E-—5F —ETF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
nAE g e INHEF 15 BB A
TREE ®E TEE A
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
per share per share
BRET TR BRETT TR
At the beginning of the R EREHA)
reporting period 0.69 194,600 0.67 220,800
Lapsed (Note) BER (A1) 0.68 (12,150) 0.54 (26,200)
At the end of the reporting R4 HIK
period 0.69

Note: Upon the resignation of the Group’s employees, options
of 12,150,000 shares granted to them to subscribe the
Company’s ordinary shares at exercise price of HK$0.64
and HK$0.73 were lapsed during the year ended 31
March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had outstanding
168,360,000 (2020: 139,970,000) share options to be

exercised at any time.

182,450 0.69 194,600

HiiF - RASERBETER  REREAR
1T{EE0.64B T R0.73 B TREA LD
B E @A 212,150,000 BERE D R
HE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE
NS

S = = — 4= SR = 9=— s A Flg
AR AT IR FE1 7T 488 2. 168,360,0004% (=
T =T :139,970,0008%) M ART1TEHE
PR RE -
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. BRRERE (&) @
The exercise prices and exercisable periods of the R - —F=A=+—HHEHKRTERE
share options outstanding as at 31 March 2021 are as RIEMITEERITERANT - ”
follows: P
Number of
options  Exercise price
BREHE R Exercisable period T
‘000 HKS per share
TR BRET
25,200 0.73 22 April 2016 to 21 April 2021 CE-AFEA-+ZHE-ZE--FMA=-t—H
25,200 0.73 22 April 2017 to 21 April 2021 Z—+ENA-+-AZ_F=_—FWNA=+—H
25,200 0.73 22 April 2018 to 21 April 2021 ZE-\EEAZ+ZHE-E--FNA=T—H
25,200 0.73 22 April 2019 to 21 April 2021 “NEBAZTZAEZZ-—§WA=T—H
25,200 0.73 22 April 2020 to 21 April 2021 CECEENACF-RAE-E-—EWA-+-A
8,490 0.64 28 September 2017 to 27 September 2022 ZEtENAZTNAEZEZFAA-TLH
8,490 0.64 28 September 2018 to 27 September 2022 - \EARZTNREZZE-__#AA-1tH
8,490 0.64 28 September 2019 to 27 September 2022 “E-NENAZTN\BEZE-_—FANA=FLH
8,490 0.64 28 September 2020 to 27 September 2022 CECEFAACHNBEZZEZFAACTLH
8,490 0.64 28 September 2021 to 27 September 2022 —E_-FARAZ+N\BEZE-__FAA=-1+tH
2,800 0.52 6 July 2018 to 5 July 2023 —E-N\EtAARE-ZE-=F+ARAH
2,800 0.52 6 July 2019 to 5 July 2023 “E-NFtAA BEZZ-=FtATH
2,800 0.52 6 July 2020 to 5 July 2023 - EFtANBEZS-_ZFtATH
2,800 0.52 6 July 2021 to 5 July 2023 Bt A HEZZ-=FtAAH
2,800 0.52 6 July 2022 to 5 July 2023 B -FtAA BEZZ-=FtATH
182,450
No share option was granted during the years ended RBE_ZTE-—FR_ZF-_FTF=H
31 March 2021 and 2020. The Group recognised share = t+—HIEFEATERTBRE - K
option expenses of approximately HK$560,000 (2020: EEREE_E-_—F=A=+—H1t
approximately HK$2,286,000) during the year ended FECHREREE M 4560,000/8 7T

31 March 2021. (ZZ= T F : #2,286,0008 L) °
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32. RESERVES

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserves are

as set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

i)

Share premium
The balance represents the premium arising from
the issue of the Company’s shares at a price in

excess of their par valuer per share.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the differences
between the nominal value of the shares issued
by the Company and the aggregate of the share
capital of the subsidiaries acquired upon the
group reorganisation prior to the listing of the

Company’s shares.

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve represents the
amount by which the Company’s issued share
capital has been diminished on the cancellation of
the shares purchased. Under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands, the capital redemption
reserve may be applied by the Company in
paying up its unissued shares to be allocated to
shareholders of the Company as fully-paid bonus

shares.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value
of share-based payment transactions and is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies
as set out in notes 31 and 2.3 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

32. f#1@

FEBHEORBFERNA GHERE
Bk

i)

R 1 45 {8
EHIEARRUBNEREED
BARBITIRD FTEE 0% B o

B AN (i
ERGEHEADRACRIBNE
B B8 AR 2 R RR 5 T A 9 4
48 14 AT U BB 1 Y B 2 R 0 B A
BENER -

RN L
BXABEOFEBREARADEITR
AREZHABROMBLHEHE -

RIEASEHERRE » ARAAE
REABLFEHREEBIET
AR A PR E R BT R
AR

BRI
BREFRESEUBRNERR S
BAREE - WRERE I B®RE
M EE31702.3 9 B 51 /) & 5F ISR
BRI o
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32. RESERVES (continued)

V)

Vi)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC
are required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory profit after tax (after offsetting any prior
years’' losses) to the statutory surplus reserve.
When the balance of the reserve fund reaches
50% of the entity’s registered capital, any further

appropriation is optional.

The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to
offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory surplus
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of

25% of registered capital after such usages.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign

operations.

2. & fE (&)

V)

Vi)

/jA_IE%ﬁ{TX ?Ei
RIBFBEARDE - ANRRRFEFE
0 & Bt B A B 45 2B A 10% 5F F A
ERBENE(CEHERBEFEN
Efﬁﬂiﬁ%%&)%ﬁéiiiéﬁﬁ%z
¢ ERBSABENETRNEM
§$Ww%%’$ﬁﬂﬂ%%¢
H AT RSN AT o

AEBBABS ] BEREBE
FENEBEIIZMERN - R - °£
ERHATEERELLRSZRER
%%\/,\{%HZ%T\QBA&H%,%$E’J
25% -

SNIE R B ¥ 1R
SMER BB R IBR BN ES
BBREMELNTHELES -

5

REEBEBZEZRERA
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33. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH

FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transaction

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

March

the Group made a deposit to a

During the year ended 31
2021,
supplier of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$59,160,000)
(2020: RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$54,725,000)) which was
funded by an other loan of RMB50,000,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$59,160,000) (2020: RMB50,000,000
(equivalent

HK$54,725,000)).
transferred from the lender directly to the

to approximately
The amount was then

supplier.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group entered into new arrangements in
respect of leasing of office premises, staff
quarters and warehouses. Right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$38,815,000 (2020:
HK$23,610,000) were recognised at the

date of commencement of the leases.

approximately

During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Group early terminated one (2020:
two) lease agreements for an office
The
Group derecognised right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$6,019,000 (2020:
approximately HK$36,325,000),
liabilities of approximately HK$6,084,000
(2020: approximately HK$36,475,000) and
non-refundable deposit of approximately
HK$2,052,000,
loss of approximately HK$1,987,000 (2020:
gain of approximately HK$150,000).

(2020: an office and a warehouse).

lease

respectively, resulting in a

33. FERERENENER

(a)

TEHRAERS

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

REE-_ZT=-—F=A
=+—HLEFE FEEM
—EHERINEREAR
#50,000,0007T (A8 & K 4
59,160,000/ 70) (ZE =&
& : AR¥50,000,0007T (8
B N #954,725,00058 T) ¢
Ji A —% A R #50,000,000
7T (F & 7 4959,160,000/5
TI(ZZEZZF: ARK
50,000,0007T (#8 & R 4
54,725,000/ 7)) < M E
HEN - ZESBEERERZH
ERAEEESHERY -

REE-_ZT - —F=A7
=+—HLEFE ~X&EEH
WMAEHEM BIBRERAE
BE2HETLHETH -4
38,815,000 L (=T =F
4 1 4923,610,000/87T) 2 fF
AEEERHEABEDZRHA
BRI HBRER -

REZE-_ZFE=-—F=A
== Elﬁif REBER
AR IEBERE—EARAE (=
7_7$ — @ AER—
BegE) - B(ZEZZE
FoMB)BERE A&
BRI EREAEEED
6,019,000 L (ZF =%
£ : #936,325,00058 7T)
Tl & & & 496,084,000/ 7T
(ZZ=ZF % : 4936,475,000
BIL) RAAREERS L
2,052,000 7T * E £ KB
#91,987,0008 L (ZE =%
F Y2 49150,00087T) °

//
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33. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH B.EEReFEMNENERY &
FLOWS (continued) (%) &
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from by MEEHELEZABBENYHEER ﬁ
financing activities P
Interest- Amount
bearing bank Amount due to
and other Bond Lease due to a related
borrowings payables liabilities a director company
FERTR EMRE AR
HitfEE EfE% HEER EAESHE ME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FAT TAER THL THL
As at 1 April 2019 RZZ-NE
mA—A 646,962 809,389 121,126 1 -
Net cash flows as financing BRENETREY
cash flows REREFE (594,857) (108,557) (20,755) 91,839 -
Finance costs RENK 11,115 93,295 5,581 = =
Interest paid classified as PEREERS
operating cash flows MELBRFE (11,115) (59,452) (5,581) = =
Non-cash changes FH 2% -
New other loan borrowed BAZHEMER 54,725 = = = =
Effect of foreign exchange rate  SMEEREH Y £
changes (22,553) - (5,862) - -
Accrued bond arrangement fee  JEFHERZTHE - (6,599) - - =
Early termination of lease RAZILBEAR
contracts - - (36,475) - -
New lease arrangements MHELH - - 23,610 - =
As at 31 March 2020 and W-E-F&
1 April 2020 SEE=lER
—TCTF
mA—A 84,277 728,076 81,644 91,840 -
Net cash flows as financing BRETEREL
cash flows RemeRH 162,227 (122,800) (24,693) 39,813 6,800
Finance costs BER A 7,359 140,071 6,008 = =
Interest paid classified as PERBEREREL
operating cash flows BFE (7,359) (75,949) (6,008) 3 =
Non-cash changes HEZEY
Effect of foreign exchange rate  SMEERZHFE
changes 6,919 - 4,007 - -
Accrued bond arrangement fee  [EztfEs L HE = (18,707) - T o~
Modification of bond payables  FHEEf E % - (36,097) = - -
Early termination of lease RAKRLIHEAR
contracts - - (6,084) - -
New lease arrangements HHETH -~ - 38,815 = <
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-Z—%
== 253,423 614,594 93,689 131,653 6,800
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34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for securing
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
banking facilities during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020 are included in notes 21, 22 and 25 to

the consolidated financial statements.

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at

the end of the reporting period:

34. EEEKH

25 ¢

35. EAREIE

=5

158

rEERBE_ZT_—FR_ZF_FTF
“A=t+—HLFEHE
HitnfEEARRITHEMEREENT
BERNAE B RRMT21 - 22K

tERITR

AREERBFEHRENANTEAREE :

2021 2020
—E--F —F_FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: DRI B RBE

Capital contribution payable to the ENFREREEYEE

PRC entities 2,219 2,053
Acquisition of property, plant and BEWE BWEK

equipment B 167 154
2,386 2,207
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions
with a related party during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020:

36. BEE AR Z
(@) BRAFHBERREME D PR
RPN ARBRBE_T_—F
FE—FE_FHF=RA=+—HL*F
E BT BEITUTEARS

2021 2020
—E- -
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mot FET FATT
SBH: RE(KH) :
Lease payments HERRK (i) 9,000 9,000
Notes: Bt

()

The lease payments of staff quarter were
charged by SBH based on mutually agreed
terms at an effective monthly amount of
HK$750,000 (2020: HK$750,000) with total
payment of approximately HK$9,000,000 (2020:
approximately HK$9,000,000) during the year
ended 31 March 2021. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the lease payments
were determined by reference to the prevailing
market rental of comparable premises and
the appraisal report by an independent valuer
on rental payable in respect of comparable
properties in Hong Kong. The transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions

under the Listing Rules.

() EBIFEEMESHRIRERE
REAGT BRE (KE) &
T AEK $ F750,000% T (=
T =T 750,000 7T ) YRER
HE-Z-_—4F=A=+—AH1t
FE NG HE 499,000,000/
7T (ZZ =4 : 9,000,000
L) c RRFREERR HER
R2ER LB ERNE RIT S
AR — BB EEMB AR
BAEZALEEMENEMEST
EHRFFEREMEBEE - B
SR ET R TR ERER
5] °

E-_-FFH

REEEZRER QA
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

During the year ended 31 March 2012,
the Group formed 17 limited liability
partnerships established in the PRC (the
“Partnerships”) with certain its employees
(the “Employees”) via a trust arrangement.
On 1 November 2011, the Company, Silver
Base Trading and Development (Shenzhen)
Co. Limited (“SBTS"),
subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Liang

a wholly-owned

Guosheng, the brother of Mr. Liang,
an executive director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and also
the director of two subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into a trust agreement
(the “Trust Agreement”) regarding the
investments in the Partnerships. Pursuant to
the Trust Agreement, Mr. Liang Guosheng
held 2% equity interest in each of the
Partnerships on behalf of SBTS as at 31
March 2020 and 2021. Further details of
the Trust Agreement are set out in note 40

to the consolidated financial statements.

36. FAEE

(b)

R (58)

B T E MR 5

—~

MAEREEEKEZE(TEK
TE]) RZT——F+—
A—B ARQn REEZEH
R ORY) BRAR] ([RE
BHERORINL - HAXR
REIZZEWBAR kR
BB o & (IR R AR RI#AT
EERTERRIREEDR
- W B EEAR R E W E
BRARMNES) MRENA
Kb MmAT 55t (115
izl c RIBEEH =
RZZ_TER_T_—F
—RA=+—8" REBLE
REBREEZEFGER RV #
BEE KD FER2%MR AN #E
meEraNE—THEB
HNE O B K M40 -
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36. EEEL R Z (&) g
(continued) i
() Commitments with a related party: () EERFEE TRy EIE 1
&
As disclosed in note 36(a) to the consolidated A& OF B 7 2 % M 51 36(a) P B
financial statements, the Group has rental = AEBERERATFEREH
commitments with SBH under non-cancellable BRI iHE EHEmERE (£
operating leases falling due as follows: E) B AT & FE -
2021 2020
—EZ—F —T-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Within one year —&FR 9,000 -
(d) Outstanding balances with related parties: (d)y HEEFHREENER

rEBZRBEEBEEN

—~
=

(i)  The amount due to a director and the

amount due to a related company included EEFRIEREMNARA RN
in the Group’s current liabilities are B ZERBEAEEA 2
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on BEREREERER-
demand.

(i)  Details of the Group’s rental deposit placed (il ANEERHEHRTFRIBE
with SBH at the end of the reporting period (EB)WHEERSNFBER
are disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated B OB R M sE 208 5% -

financial statements.
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(e)

Compensation of key management personnel, (e)

including directors of the Group:

36. BB L RF (&)

FAEEXZEBAB(BRESR)

HM

2021 2020
—E=-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Salaries, allowances and e R REMN R
other benefits 25,213 30,449

Contribution to defined FE TR KR T

contribution retirement plans FTEI R 289 447
Equity-settled share option expenses IAREZ4EE v BIEE A 235 1,030
25,737 31,926

The above amount includes emoluments of Ms.
Luo Li, the spouse of Mr. Liang, of approximately
HK$3,015,000 (2020: approximately
HK$3,384,000). Further details of directors’
emoluments are included in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

tieBEaERMNZ:T (BARL
A R BC B 7 % B £93,015,0007%8
T (ZZE T : 43,384,000%
) c BEEMERE—LSHBERN
B Ot SRR S -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

SR M BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-_—f=FA=+—HLFE

37. @I A

Categories of financial instruments (a)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

SR T E/ER
SER ST ARNREHRDE
HEDT :

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL: RE[DBAABEIIERZ
CREE:
Unlisted equity investment fund ELrTRAEEES 323,834 112,012
Principal unguaranteed funds ERAES 37,194 =
361,028 112,012
Financial assets at amortised REBERFABRZEHEE
costs:
Trade and bills receivables FEWE 5 I8 & EWERE 16,889 93,387
Financial assets included in FTAEMIZe REAM
other deposits and R IEN S A E
other receivables 32,628 37,584
Pledged deposits [EE N 235,537 -
Restricted bank balances PR HI R 1T 4 £ 20,223 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR MRS 614,382 698,525
919,659 829,496

E-_-FFH

REEEZRER QA




1LZ0Z 310day |enuuy

d3LINIT SONIATOH dNOYD 3SVa H3ATIS

7 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CREE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 —E-—F=fA=+—HLFE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €mt T B (&)
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) @M T AE/MER (&)

(continued)

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE_EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAET
Financial liabilities measured REEREFTEZ
at amortised cost: SRIBE:
Trade and bills payables ENEZHRBRENEE 463,515 3,783
Financial liabilities included in SFAE M B FRIE K
other payables and accruals BB ENESR ARG 42,581 25,323
Lease liabilities HEAE 93,689 81,644
Interest-bearing bank and other SFTRBETREMEE
borrowings 253,423 84,277
Bond payables e A 614,594 728,076
Amount due to a director B EERIAE 131,653 91,840
Amount due to a related company &~ B A B ZUE 6,800 =

1,606,255 1,014,943
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, bond payables, amount due to a
director, amount due to a related company,
pledged deposits, restricted and balances and
bank balances and cash. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to finance the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as financial
assets at FVTPL, other investments, trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, trade
and bills payables, other payables and accruals,
lease liabilities, which arise directly from its

operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, equity
price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.

37. ®m I B (&)

(b)

Bt % R B B3R B AR R

AEENTIESRIABEAR
RITREMEER - BNYES - BN
EE3E  BNBEBARFE B
IR ZRFBIRITAEERIA SR
TRERRE - ZFERTANE
ZRRERAKRENZESRRSR
T AKEERBEMBEREER
BfE - WEERERAREBEIKZ
TREE HMiRE - BRESHHK
AREBRRE - 2E REMBEKK
B BNEZFEARENER  H
RN RBEREFREAREE
BfE DEERREZEXRTEL -

HASENeRIAELENEE
R AINERBR - BABARER
EERRERBECRR EFS
EHLBEEREEZTARKN
BR - FBSam T -

5

REEBEBZEZRERA
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases
by operating units in currencies other than the
units’ functional currencies. For Hong Kong
operations, all sales and purchases transactions
are settled in HK$ or US$. Meanwhile, most of
the sales and purchase transactions in the PRC
operations are settled in RMB. Accordingly, the
transactional currency exposures of the Group are
not significant. The Group has not entered into
any hedging transaction to reduce the Group's

exposure to foreign currency risk in this regard.

A reasonably possible appreciation of 5% (2020:
5%) of the exchange rate of the HK$ against
RMB would have no significant effect on the loss
before tax of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2021 (2020: no significant effect on the

loss before tax of the Group).

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its Investment Fund and Principal Unguaranteed
Funds. The management of the Group regularly
reviews and monitors the Group’s investment

portfolio so as to limit the risk exposure.

37. €I B (&)

(b)

VxR REREBEEBER
(&)

s | B

REBARER ZHEEBRER
ERBRREEEBNAEEE
AN EMEFTEITH S E S
B REBEBME  FIEEEXR
SYLABTHETLEE - Ak - K
BOFEEBNEERFHHUA
REEHE - Bt - REBFTAER
REUHEMERBRIT TEKX - NEE
I & HE AT E R 2 5 PAR A AR
SEEEFHEMAEHNINERR

°
=

BTHARBEXSEAIGE L
5% (ZT_FF :5%) HAEH
HE_Z_-F=A=+—HILt
FENOKRMAEELES A
B(ZZ_TF : HASERBA
BEITEEAVE) -

REEERR
AEBRAKREES RIEREAES
mE SRR ERRR - AREER
EEHEAMERAEENKRE
AE - URGIES 2 EkRE -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been

determined based on the exposure to equity price

risk at the end of the reporting period.

If the price of the Investment Fund and Principal
Unguaranteed Funds had been 5% (2020:
5%) higher/lower, pre-tax loss for the year
ended 31 March 2021 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$18,051,000 (2020:
approximately HK$5,601,000) as a result of the
changes in fair values of Investment Fund and

Principal Unguaranteed Funds.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from
trade and bills receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other

receivables, pledged deposits, restricted bank
balances and bank balances and cash. The
carrying amounts of these balances represent
our Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in

relation to financial assets.

37. ®m I B (&)

(b)

M RREREBZREE
(%)

B A (B 4% L B ()
IR B 5T

AT B8 5 T 0 AR 5 4R 45 H R
BYHBREERRREE -

MEREESRIRAESH
BERLEATHS% (ZE=F
F:5%) BE_T-_—F=H
=+ —HEFENRBAEEKE
KREES RFRAESHNAAEE
ZFmE L, 1 IN418,051,000
BT (ZZ=F4F : 495,601,000/

Jo) °

FERE
RZZEZ—F=A=+—H  BEH
FARBATEIMSAEER T
VBN EREERRIIRA

HPBRAKRMINEER SR E
EXBNREEMR -

AEENEERREIERBERE
W& 5 3A M EREE - 5T AR

A e REMERFRN SR
BE BEEWER  ZRBIRTE
BRIARRITREAR MR SPTEK
Z\*ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%zﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
EREHNRAEER

A AA
ZE

A

REEEZRER QA
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to

recover overdue debts.

For trade and bills receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The
Group estimates the ECL based on historical
credit loss experience and forward looking
information, including the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the
Group has assessed whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL rather than
12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.

37. €I B (&)

(b)

M RRERE BT MBE
(#&)

FERR (&)
AEBREEERR  AEEER
BEZR—MABREHETEH
REE - EEIERAMEERST -
DA (R 8 SR IR BR 3 17 B) e 1 380 4
&% o

FLEWE SRR MERERME
AEERB BRI RE LR FEIR
R TEAGFEZHIERE
EBRNERRE - AKEREE
SEEEREREAMNELEER (2
REBAREMETENREL
BAR) AT FRMERER - Bt
mE - ARBEFRA - AEEW
EERBRBIAKRBREE -

SLELMIEE B E M FAM F -
AEBEFEABEREREREE
[E\Be A AIRIEN - MIEERRA
PRI O - A KB AR R 2 B TR
EEBEE(MFENREABBEES
BIFFEERRE -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. The credit
rating information is supplied by the management
of the Group uses the Group’s own days past due
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of
its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is

spread amongst approved counterparties.

37. ®m I B (&)

(b)

M RREREB T MBX
(#&)

FERR (&)
KEEEE A E AR
RRERERR  AEERER—
SEREREE EERAREE
Bl - FETREN DB AEEE
BEEAAEENAEREAK
HEFTERS REMEB AL
TR - AEENERRARSHT
7 MO BT AR W R - 398
M SN @Es BEE ik
MR ZHFT -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
(continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework

comprises the following categories:

37. €I B (&)
MERREEBEERERE

(b)
(%)

FERE (&)

A& [ E £ e 15 B R (B)

A& E B AT E R R R ARIER

BREATER

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
85 it ERRHCEFANEE
Trade and bills Other financial
receivables assets
EWE S HER
L HitnemEE

Performing  For financial assets where there has low risk of Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
default or has not been a significant increase in (simplified approach)
credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B4 RENRBRREX B NI RBREERR PHRYBEEBR NEARBEESR
YABEZE ARV ECERENSREE (B %)

(HREIER)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
significant increase in credit risk since initial - not credit impaired - not credit
recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer impaired
to as Stage 2)

N RENSERREERREE LA SHRBEEER FHRBEEER
TEEERENSRMEE (BREER) -~V EEERE - VEEERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
when one or more events that have a detrimental - credit impaired — credit impaired
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

g4 ERLGHEREEMFARATREENK THRBEEER FHRBEEER
M EN-ALLREN - BIEH —(EERE —-FERE
CREERTAEREERE (HRERER)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off  Amount is written
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no off
realistic prospect of recovery

55 FRBRTERABURENKEE & R SR

MAKEY EREREORERN S
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk
(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentration of credit risk as
approximately 26% (2020: approximately 87%)
of the trade and bills receivables as at 31 March
2021 represented receivables from the Group's
top five debtors and approximately 13% (2020:
approximately 67%) of the trade and bills
receivables as at 31 March 2021 represented
receivables from the Group’s largest debtor. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit

enhancement over its trade and bills receivables.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and bills receivables are disclosed in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

For pledged deposits, restricted bank balances
and bank balances, the Group considers the
credit risk is minimal because the counter-parties
are authorised financial institutions with high

credit ratings.

37. ®m I B (&)

(b)

MERREREBEFERBE
(%&)

FERR (8)

A& [ E # e 15 B AR ()

RIBEBRR BR_T=—F=
A=+—HB2ZRERKE SRIEKE
WZEESR - #926% (ZZT =T F -
#87%) ERWALEE R BER
ABRE MR _TE=—F=A
=St—BzRKESREREK
ZER N3 (ZT_TF 4
67%) WA E B HKER AR
TIE - A AEEEE —EREN
CERRERBER - REBEHRE
WESGKRBAREREBELRFHFE
EAEFR o H e S E i -

AEERERE S HREBEREKE
BEMES EERRNE—LE
L8R - TR & OB B K BT 5
19 B8 o

PEEAER  ZRHRITERR
RITHBM S - ARERRARR
SHFHREERERNR I ER
RoREE  REERREE -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, bond payables and trade
finance facilities. The Group's financing activities
are managed centrally by maintaining an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
finance the Group’s operations. The Group also
ensures the availability of bank credit facilities to
address any short-term funding requirements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period,
based on contractual undiscounted payments, is
as follows:

37. €I B (&)

(b)

M E R EE B FRER
(&)

AEEN B EREBERTBIRT
REMEER  BNESIEZBE
EERFESHFEMERELE 2]
HF o AEEEREERE LD
FEBRFBRAWKTINER S KA
EEEVRAAEENEERHEE
T - ARETTERRITEETLAN
AN EMERESEKR

RNEGEEHAREBNREET
e B ERSRE RN H
BRI

As at 31 March 2021

R=B=-%=f=t-H
Over Over
On demand 1 year 2 years Total Total
orwithin  but within  but within Over undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
EZR —EHE MERL AERRS
-£R BRER BREER BEHRL hELH BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TER TER TER TER
Trade and bills payables ~ [EfE 53E Rk
EREE 463,515 - - - 463,515 463,515
Financial liabilities included  5f A £ fto JE A 2B
in other payables and REBEN
accruals ¢RAR 42,581 - - - 42,581 42,581
Lease liabilities HEEE 40,928 19,229 35,666 14,122 109,945 93,689
Interest-bearing bank and BB/
other borrowings EthiaE 261,130 - - - 261,130 253,423
Bond payables Efi ez 394,646 284,743 63,037 2,013 744,439 614,594
Amount due to a director  EREHFUE 131,653 - - - 131,653 131,653
Amount due to a related R BEEA RIZE
company 6,800 - - - 6,800 6,800
1,341,253 303,972 98,703 16,135 1,760,063 1,606,255
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. &® I A (&) g
(b) Financial risk management objectives by MBEREREBFEREKE
and policies (continued) (#8) it
Liquidity risk (continued) REBES R (&) ®
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial REEZREGARERN RSB
liabilities at the end of the reporting period, FHemAaERNREHRNEH
based on contractual undiscounted payments, is BRET - (&)

as follows: (continued)

As at 31 March 2020
W-_ZE-ZF=ZRA=1—H

Over Over
On demand 1 year 2 years Total Total
or within ~ but within but within Over undiscounted  carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
EEks® —F0E MEML AERRE

—%" EmFA BRFR  AFNE RELE BKEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ThT  TArT  TAxT  FTEAxT  TET  TER

Trade and bills payables  EREZFER
IS 3,783 - - - 3,783 3,783
Financial liabilities included &t A Kt fE 15 5008
in other payables and RIEGTBER

accruals RAR 25,323 4 = — 25,323 25,323
Lease liabilities MEBE 29,837 18,408 37,725 13,121 99,091 81,644
Interest-bearing bank and i B HTR

other borrowings Hinfs & 87,439 = L = 87,439 84,277
Bond payables &S 571,484 217,333 23,986 24972 837,775 728,076
Amount due to a director ENEZESHE 91,840 - 3 - 91,840 91,840

809,706 235,741 61,711 38,093 1,145251 1,014,943
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis of
financial instruments that are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period for
recurring and non-recurring measurement,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in
accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.
The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

37. €@t T B (&)

(b)

VxR REREBEEBER
(&)
REHUMBRRRERAZAA
EEE

TRHEINESRERRAREE
AEvEmIERREEEERIE
Z‘«M’LEE SR - HERBEAR
BB ERZARBEZUE
?ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁ%]n)\%1i3§&°$A
AEERANE MY B RERILE
HKAIE e MEERSRE
BeEmMEHEAQNAEEMRS

As at 31 March 2021

R=-ZB=-—%=A=+-—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
=R P E21R T #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FTET THET TET FHET
Financial assets at FVTPL REZEAAEE
IRz EeMEE
Unlisted equity investment fund 3F F iR RI&E
HE - - 323,834 323,834
Other investments at FVTPL LEZERAAEE
JRzHMIRE
Principal unguaranteed funds  JERZAE S - 37,194 - 37,194
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurement recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position (continued)

37. ®m I B (&)

(b)

MERREREBEFERBE
(#)
REFBBRRRERZAN

BEEE (&)

As at 31 March 2020

R-E-_ETF=-A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1R E21R 38R HBEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET AT FAET
Financial assets at FVTPL BREREANEE
JIfRzeMEE
Unlisted equity EETMRAKRE
investment fund He - - 112,012 112,012

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
fair value measurements, and no transfers into

and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Description of the valuation techniques
and inputs used in Level 2 fair value

measurement

The Group reviews estimation of fair values of the
other investments in Funds which are categorised
into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Reports
with estimation of the fair values are prepared
by the banks on a monthly basis. The details of
the measurement basis and movements of the
other investments are set out in note 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RBE_T-_—F=H=+—H
LFE FIREF2RRAEE
FAEZHYEEER - BE3RLR
BEAEYEEANED -

F2RAA B EFTEFEHA
118 7702 Tl B A B 15 19 57 B

AEBERESAEMIEENA
REEMG  ZEREBAAARE
BERBHE2R - ROTTARED
R EEMFTRE - mMEMKRER
EEEREHFBHANREHTB
HMEMIFE18 o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Quantitative information of the
significant unobservable inputs and
description of valuation techniques used

(b)
(&

N

in Level 3 fair value measurement

The quantitative information of the significant
unobservable input and description of
valuation techniques used in Level 3 fair value
measurement, including the description of BA R
the relationship of key inputs and significant
unobservable inputs to the fair value for recurring

Level 3 fair value measurements, are as follows:

FEIMDA

37. €I B (&)
MEEEEEEREE

FIMARBESEMERAN
EXATUBERGAREBNEL
BB ik B 5 1l B9 Bt B

BEFEFERNERKR
THBRGABENELERK
HEXMNHE  BREEEESS
BEAENEIEZDAZRE
REARTABREASER
BENBEERIADT

ANVIN

Relationship
of key inputs

Fair values as at Significant  and significant
unobservable unobservahle
Fair value 31 March 31 March Valuation technique input/ inputs to fair
Financial instruments hierarchy 2021 2020 and key inputs Percentage value
TERABER
RUTEHZAARE EXRT  EAFAEE
=8=-& <C3=%f REZHE BEBA BAHER
IR AREEESR =A=t-B =B=t-8 IZRAME  HE/EOM  DAEEZBE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERL
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
BEERAAEEIIEL
tHEE
Unlisted equity investment fund Level 3 323,834 112,012 Valuation technique:  Volatility/45% The higher the
FrnRAREES £36 Market approach - (2020:  volatility, the lower
Quoted bid pricesinan  Volatility/42%)  of the fair value.
active market, discount for KR/ 45% KiEds - A
lack of marketability using  (“E-F#: AL BEHE-
AAP option pricing model  ¥4,42%)
a5 -
miGE-
HERRTETHNRE
fEFRAAPEE E B IR A5t
heEEREL TR
Key inputs:

Quoted market prices,
time to maturity and
volatility used in
calculation of discount for
lack of marketability
FERAIR:
MERE - 38 KR
NWRFEHZ BEH
NEMA KR

AN
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

37. €@t T B (&)

Financial risk management objectives by MBEREREBFEREKE
and policies (continued) (#8)
Quantitative information of the FIMAREBEFTEMEAN
significant unobservable inputs and EXTABEGABBNEL
description of valuation techniques ERREERMAHA (&)
used in Level 3 fair value measurement
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements REEHEELEUNEIRA N BER
of financial assets on recurring basis are as EoRMEENK:
follows:
Unlisted
investment
fund
FLEMBEES
HK$'000
FAET
As at 1 April 2019 =—NFWMA—H 94,820
Unrealised fair value gain credited DJr)\TE S ARER
to profit or loss N EE R 17,192
As at 31 March 2020 R-EB_ZEF=A=t—HBRK
and 1 April 2020 —E-TFMHA—H 112,012
Unrealised fair value gain credited FFABRZARER
to profit or loss NAEERE 194,115
Exchange realignments E H 17,707
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZEBE-_—F=ZH=+-—H 323,834
Assets and liabilities with fair value (0 EEAARBEBEREILIER
disclosure, but not measured at fair AnBEFENEERER

value
All other financial assets and financial liabilities
are carried at amounts not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2021 and
2020.

ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂéﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi\ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ_

HIREER fCFTEHEK%EE’J
TRARK-

T- 55 R
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain
healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise the shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2021 and 2020.

37. €I B (&)

(d)

NS
AEENEAEENEERR =
RERNEEFELENE N IR
FREMEARL R - AIRHER
KR REEZRAL -

AEEERHEEAGBRARRL
AR B AR R Y A B
AR - RRFBAABRELR
1B AEE R R ERRRIRN 2B
B RABRREEEALBEITHK
e AEERBE_T_—FR=
E_TF-_A=+t—HLEFEY
BEHEEEANBE  BORIERE
fEH &8 -
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A

—TE-—FFR

37. @I B (&)
d) BAREIRE(E)
ANEE RIS REEEA - B
BB EFHER ARERNEL B -
ERFEOET S RTREMRE
¥ ENESRERENEZE H
thRE B R E Al  AEEE
RIEMHES - BN EERERERN
BB A R ZUAMAET - HRITAE
RBEHE - @EREAAT LR
R AEIEIES - RIBEH

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,

REEEZRER QA

which is net debt divided by the total capital plus
net debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, lease liabilities, bond
payables, amount due to a director and amount
due to a related company less bank balances and
cash. Total capital represents equity attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the Company. The

gearing ratios at the end of the reporting periods RZIEREEMT
were as follows:
2021 2020
B —F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Trade and bills payables FEIE 5 5B KA R & 463,515 3,783
Other payables and accruals HMENFKERESBE 225,140 182,890
Lease liabilities HEAE 93,689 81,644
Bond payables FE & 55 614,594 728,076
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMEE
other borrowings 253,423 84,277
Amount due to a director ENESEHE 131,653 91,840
Amount due to a related company AN NGIE ] 6,800 —
Less: Bank balances and cash W RITESRRS (870,142) (698,525)
Net debt B ERR 918,672 473,985
Equity attributable to ordinary equity AAFEBEERFTE A
holders of the Company FE(G = 386,978 296,787
Capital and net debt BARREBFE 1,305,650 770,772
Gearing ratio EREE 70% 61%
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38. LITIGATION

(a)

In December 2013, one distributor of the Group
(the “Plaintiff”) filed a claim to a District People’s
Court in the PRC (the “PRC District People’s Court”)
against one of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
in relation to the Group’s obligation to buy back
certain inventories from the Plaintiff (the “Claim”).
The Plaintiff demanded the purchase consideration
and related compensation from the Group of
approximately RMB20,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,782,000) in total.

According to a judgement dated 25 August 2015
issued by the PRC District People’s Court, the
Group was liable to buy back certain inventories
from the Plaintiff with a total consideration
of approximately RMB18,900,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$22,362,000). The Group
has filed an appeal for such judgement to the
PRC District People’s Court in September 2015.
According to a judgement dated 7 January 2016
issued by the PRC District People’s Court, the
appeal from the Group was dismissed and the
original judgement dated 25 August 2015 was
sustained.

At the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has not bought
back any inventories from the Plaintiff. The
Group has filed an application for enforcement
opposition dated 9 June 2020 to the PRC District
People’s Court to close the case due to the fact
that the Plaintiff was found to have no more
assets in its books and therefore the Group was
unable to buy back any inventories from the
Plaintiff.

38.

BN

(a)

ANZE—=F+=R8 ~EEB—%
i ([READRAEERR
EAMBETFEENREETEREH
i@ ARER ([REME A RE
DB AEBMARTREANES—FH
MEBARREBER((ZEBER]) -
REABZRKAEBINHEHD
AR #20,100,0007t (8E R4
23,782,000/ 7T) M B B (B &8

FARE(E -

B A B A R K BT B 2R
BfAE-_ZT—AFENA=-TH
BEHR AEEBERARE A
EEETHFE BREHAA
R #18,900,0007T (& % 4
22,362,000 70) - REBER =
T—AFNARZHARAF E i
EARZERREL EF - BIEBEPEH
wEARZEZRMBERREH AT
—RNE-ALAEMNHR  AEER
HE EREREYHIEE A
E-RAFENA-TRENEH -

REGTERRELMEBDR - A&
EEARmREABREMEFE - &
SEERFEEARERRE D
AHA—ZT-_ZTFNANLAZKR
R b HITH R FALRILER - R
ARREAFEZEREFEEREE
FAEE Bt ASEEERRS
ABEERTFE -
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38. LITIGATION (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that adequate provision in the sum
of approximately RMB9,958,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$11,783,000) has been
recognised in “Other payables and accruals” as
set out in note 23 in the consolidated financial
statements to cover any potential liabilities arising

from the Claim.

In March 2020, the Group’s certain previous
business partners (the “Plaintiffs”) filed a
claim against the Group for compensation of
profits arising from certain previous business
relationships in the sum of approximately
RMB25,300,000. As of the date of approval of
the consolidated financial statements, the claim is
still in the early stage of legal proceedings. Based
on the legal opinions obtained by the directors of
the Company and in view of all the current facts
and circumstances, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the outflow of economic

benefits arising from the claim is not probable.

38. :F&A (&)

(a)

(#&)
RARABEERREREHIME
¥ 7% MY 5E23F7 60 [ H fib FE 1 5K
EREGFEBEIFRZBEARE
EENTERNEEEGERRAE
4 A R #9,958,0007T (18 & R 4
11,783,000/ 7T ) B & S 4 -

RZZE-ZF=F AEBEAETR
RZEBEEANTREAD RS
FUAXBHE 2BNRAARERER
B 49 A R #25,300,0007T - & =
A mARERR - ZRED
BRI ERRER - RARES
BREBEANEHNZEEZERARER
FIEEREERER  RRZRE
TR ARAIREE BB =ML o

A
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

39. AN &) B9 B A AR OR 3R

BRARBARNREAROMBARER A

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as ERT
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZFF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FA&ET
NON-CURRENT ASSET IRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RKIEE 40 1,125,061 1,093,604
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables H fib e W 3B 2 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 458 2,021
Total current assets B EELE 460 2,021
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals JEstEE 17,910 7,713
Amount due to a director JEtE EFIE 131,561 91,463
Bond payables JEAS E 5 26 323,863 518,128
Total current liabilities mE B EERE 473,334 617,304
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (472,874) (615,283)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT WEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 652,187 478,321
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kFBEE
Bond payables FE{S & 5 26 290,731 209,948
NET ASSETS EEFE 361,456 268,373
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITR A 30 226,010 226,010
Reserves (Note) s (M) 135,446 42,363
TOTAL EQUITY BB 361,456 268,373

HBRARKERZZZ_—FRAZTAN
AEEEaMERKETIE  YHIAT

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

June 2021 and signed on its behalf by EERKREE
Director Director
3 EE
Liang Guoxing Chen Xiaoxu
RE R PR B2 1
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  39. KA GBI AR &K (&) &
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: Hfat - 1
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABIFHERREZLT =
Capital
Share Capital  redemption  Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B4 &E X EXREERE BRERE RitEE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TARL TARL TAL TAL TAL TAL

As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NEEA-H 594,226 229,208 2,825 51,562 (601,178) 276,643
Loss and total comprehensve ~ ERERR2E

expense for the year BHBE = = = = (236,566) (236,566)
Equity-settled share option NEREE

arrangements BREZSE = - = 2,286 = 2,286
Share options lapsed and BREXSRESE

cancelled - - - (1,983) 1,983 -
As at 31 March 2020 and RZZZFE=A= + =

1 April 2020 R=ZE-ZFMA 594,226 229,208 2,825 51,865 (835,761) 42,363
Profit and total comprehensive ~ ERFERZE

income for the year Nt - - - - 92,523 92,523
Equity-settled share option IREHEEZ

arrangements BhERHk - - - 560 - 560
Share options lapsed and BRERH R

cancelled - - - (2,426) 2,426 -

As at 31 March 2021 WZB--%=A=1-H 594,226 229,208 2,825 49,999 (740,812) 135,446
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

40. TEM B AR E

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are ARREBHMBRARINFERBOT
as follows:
Proportion of voting
Place of Proportion of ownership power held by the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary interestheld by the Company Company
registration and sharelregistered KOTEERERRELH FARRRZ
operations paid-up capital B idi]
Name AL/ BRfTERR/ Directly Indirectly 31 March Principal activities
i HRREERY BERMRER Ef [} Zh=t-A TERH
M 2020 pinA| 2020 0 200
Z%--F “ECFF CE--F “EC%E CEC-F 0%
% % % % % %
Fast Boom Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ US§1 (2020: US$1) - = 100 100 100 100 Investment holding
ARERERAT Hong Kong 1% RERR
KBERREE/ER (23-2%:
1%70)
Richmind International Limited British Virgin Islands/ USST (2020: US§1) 100 100 - - 100 100 Investment holding
ERARERA Hong Kong £ RERR
AEEBREE/ /AR (23-%k:
1%70)
Silver Base Investment Hong Kong HK$1 (2020: HKS1) - = 100 100 100 100 Trading of red wine
Development Limited Bk 187 HEES
PERERRERAT (z5-%%:
170)
Silver Base International Hong Kong HK$2 (2020: HKS2) - = 100 100 100 100 International distribution
Development Co. Limited B JEEy of liguor and cigarette
BERRERERAT (-3-%k: products
2%7) BRI RERED
SBTS (note (i) The PRC/The PRC US§115,350,000 (2020: - - 100 100 100 100 Distribution of liquor
RE2RER(V) GV US§115,350,000) producs n the PRC
() 115,350 000 ¢ market
(Z322%: ReEm5REEEn
15,350,000%7)
Silver Base Wine & Spirt Limited ~ Hong Kong HK§10,000 (2020: - - 100 100 100 100 Distribution of Dimple
BERERRAT B HK$10,000) Scotch Whisky
10,0004 7 BAFEEARALE
(222§

10,0004 7)
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. TEMB QRIS (&) &
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Proportion of voting -
Place of Proportion of ownership power held by the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary inerest held by the Company Company
registration and sharelregistered KATEE B RN KRREL
operations paid-up capital REELA
Name HhAL/ BRAEER/ Directly Indirectly 31 March Principal activities
#h HRRSELY DR ER E# 1 Zh=1-A ITER
021 2020 202 2020 2021 2020
Z%C-F CRC%F C¥C-F CT0%F CRD-F D33
% % % % % %
Silver Base Wine & Spirit The PRC/The PRC HK$463,600,000 (2020: - - 100 100 100 100 Distribution of liquor
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. (ote ()~ 0 E/E HK$463,600,000) products in the PRC
RAFE(R 463,600, 0007870 market
BRRA W) (Z52%%: ReAmAIEEER
463,600,000 7T)
Silver Base Healthcare Products Hong Kong HK$ (2020: HKS1) - = 100 100 100 100 Trading of healthcare
Investment Company Limited 78 14T products and food
BERRORERRAA (-3-%%: RERRARES
1#70)
Shenzhen Silver Base Wine Kingdom  The PRC/The PRC RMB3,000,000 (2020: - - 100 100 100 100 Distribution of liquor
Sales Management hE /e RB3,000,000) products and daly
Co. Ltd (“SBWK") (note (i) ARE3,000,0007 necessities in the PRC
MIFEREST (Z3-3%: market
HERRERLT ARE3,0000007) R ETEEERERR
((FERESE) ARm
Wiy
Shenzhen Yinshengqu Asset The PRC/The PRC RMB3,400,000 (2020: - - 100 100 100 100 Provision of internet services
Management Company Limited &l /5 RMB2,600,000) RETRARE
("Yinshenggu") (note (i) ARE3.4000007
MIREAREERARAT (Z32%%:
(TR Heti) ARE2,600,0007)
Notes: Htaz -
(i) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under ()  WREBEPEAREZIMOINEBEEDRE -
the PRC Company Law.
(i)  Registered as a private company with limited liability (iy WEBEHFERANEFMO—HLATR

under the PRC Company Law.

A
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes. (continued)

(iii)

Yinshenggu is a limited liability company established
under the PRC Company Law and under the legal
ownership of two individuals (the “PRC Equity
Owners”). Under certain agreements (the “VIE
Agreements”) entered into among the PRC Equity
Owners, Yinshenggu, SBWK and spouse of each of
the PRC Equity Owners, SBWK controls Yinshenggu by
way of having the voting rights to govern the financial
and operating policies, having the power to appoint
or remove the majority of the directors of Yinshenggu,
obtaining all the returns of Yinshenggu through service
income and provision of working capital to Yinshenggu
through loan arrangements. Accordingly, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Yinshenggu,
receives variable returns from its involvement in
Yinshenggu, and has the ability to affect the returns
from Yinshenggu through its power over Yinshenggu.
The Company’s directors confirmed that, based on
the advice from the Company’s PRC legal adviser, the
VIE Agreements are legally binding and enforceable
against each party in accordance with their terms and
provisions under the PRC Company Law.

Further details of the contractual arrangements are
disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 5
February 2018.

As disclosed in note 36(b) to the consolidated financial

statements, the Group has formed the Partnerships

with the Employees under the Trust Agreement.

Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, Mr. Liang Guosheng

held the 2% contributions and all of his rights to and

interests in each of the Partnerships as a trustee of

the Group, and solely followed the instruction of the

Company to exercise all powers and authorities as

the sole general and executive partner of each of the

Partnerships.

40. EEZMB R AINFE (&)

Bt - (&)

(iii)

A BREHBE R REKLIL BB
AAT(HBEBREEE A EREE
FIEENEREERRA - RIEFBEK
BEAAN RELS REREZTRR
REREES ASBMEBMAE LA
ETHaE (TVIEG#HD  RERES
SREGIIRE A - T REER RIREIN
REBNREHE  FREDIE
RBBANARZHES  URBBR
U ABUS R A A K FT A B R I055 58
ERREMRBARRLEEES -
b AEEEREREATERESD
WE2ERFAESAEEDE A F
BEEBEHRRANEATZERE
REANER - ARREFHER R
BARRFEEREENER  1RIE
FEIRBEAMM IR AR - VIER S
BN EBBERNRI R AR EIIT -

BRZPERE—FHBERARF A
RZTE-N\F-_ARBENBHFRE -

AN A GF I 75 R M FE36(b)FT I EE - AN
SERBEEHEEZZREKIANK
X - REBETHE  REBLEEUAR
SEXEANTDRHEHEARNEERN
2% HEBENRBERERKEENAAE

| Rt ns

MRBEBEERSEKRAR

AIMIERIAS A KB ERME—E RN
TARKANT DITEMBESD RIRE -
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
The principal terms of each of the 17 partnership
agreements (the “Partnership Agreements”) entered
into amongst Mr. Liang Guosheng and the Employees

are:

(1) Each of the Partnerships is contributed by Mr.
Liang Guosheng as to 2% and the Employees as

to 98%;

(2) Mr. Liang Guosheng would act as the sole
general and executive partner of the Partnerships,
while the Employees would act as the limited

partners thereof;

(3) As the sole general and executive partner of
each of the Partnerships, the decision-making
power and financial and operating policies of
each of the Partnerships are controlled by Mr.
Liang Guosheng, who has the sole and absolute
control over the management and operation of

the Partnerships; and

(4) The residual assets and liabilities of each of the
Partnerships are entitled by the Employees in
proportion to their contributions in each of the
Partnerships, and are limited to the amount of
their investment contributions. The remaining
residual assets and liabilities of each of the

Partnerships are entitled by Mr. Liang Guosheng.

40. TEM B AR WS (8)

Bl M ERIRRR -

BERKEENLELLAISRE B
STEE2%MZEREHI8Y

REBEELERESIKEENKE
—EBEBITAKA  ZFEEA
EEAKEENBEREKA

EREEKEENE—EBRH
TRIKA » BAIKEERRRERE
K5 R AR E R B RE B E
Z6H] - MREBEEFEFTERR
LB IR A M — R 4B 8 2
R

BERNREENHBREERAEMH
ZERERZANRSANKEEN
HEMER » AARFHNREHLE
BRE - BERKERNBRTRIRE
ENBERARBEBEEEE -

T- 55 R

REEEZRER QA
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

41.

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

As a result of the effects of the Trust Agreement
and the Partnership Agreements, the Partnerships
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company for
accounting purposes. The directors of the Company
confirmed that, based on the advice from the
Company’s PRC legal adviser, the Trust Agreement
and the Partnership Agreements are legally valid and

enforceable under the PRC Company Law.

Up to 31 March 2021, 17 of the Partnerships have
been dissolved (2020: 16).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to 31 March 2021 and up to the date
of approving the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has renewed certain bond payables with
an aggregate principal amount of approximately
HK$47,200,000 and secured a new interest-bearing
bank borrowings of approximately HK$16,500,000
with maturity date on 23 April 2022.

40. EEZMB R AINFE (&)

41.

HREREBRELREREEREOZE -
BEETEMNME - AIKEEAARRRMH
BARINTAAR - AAREEHR
REARBFEEZRERZER @ 55
W R A K EHHESE AR BAKLA
RIBH B R RDEBAT ©

E-_T-_—F=A=t+—H 1784
TPREKEH(ZT_ZTF : 16/) -

> m

ERFAIINARBMNBAREESERR
IZFEINFEXREIBNARBEE
FENEEZRNE ARAEERR
RUEMMBARNFEBEESIRRE
BRITE °

HE R E1E

R-TE-—F=A=+—A%KEZH
HEHMBHRENBY  AEECEE
BN £ F84947,200,00078 0 2 & T EA
EH W BERE —EMN B RITEED
16,500,000 7T - HE AR T _—
FEPA=-+=H-
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